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July 10, 2013 
 
Luis Aviles 
Purchasing Department 
12479 Research Parkway 
Orlando, FL 32826-3248 
 
Dear Luis: 
 
Tidal Basin Government Consulting (“TBGC”), along with our teaming partners, the Louis Berger Group 
(LBG) and Soundside Consulting (Soundside), is pleased to provide this proposal to the University of 
Florida on behalf of the Florida State University System (SUS) in response to your Invitation to Negotiate 
(ITN) Number 1228LCSA to provide Disaster Recovery Operations Services.  The TBGC Team is proposing 
to support two of the Statement of Work (SOW) task areas:  Disaster Management Consulting Services 
(identified at Appendix V of the ITN) and Debris Monitoring (identified at Appendix VII of ITN).  
 
TBGC is a full service disaster management firm with extensive experience in the disaster recovery 
programs of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the other Federal departments 
and State agencies involved in disaster relief.  Our Team has the resources and personnel available to 
help the SUS institutions solve any disaster-related issues you may confront. Our goal is to provide the 
necessary resources, expertise, and capabilities to enable you to effectively recover from the impact of 
disasters and their aftermath and to be your advocate as you seek reimbursement for your disaster-
related costs. In order to achieve our goal, we will work closely with your institutions to explain FEMA’s 
policies and procedures, to understand your goals and to present options available to you through the 
various Federal recovery programs. I also believe it is necessary for my staff to work cooperatively with 
involved organizations at the State and Federal level in order resolve issues as quickly as possible and, 
through this collaboration, hasten the reimbursement process. 
 
As the President of TBGC, I have full authority to negotiate and contractually bind TBGC to an offer. You 
may also contact me directly during the period of proposal evaluation. Thank you for taking the time to 
evaluate our proposal. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Daniel A. Craig 
President 
Office telephone: (703) 683-8551 
Mobile telephone: (202) 812-9763 
Facsimile: (703) 683-8555 
Email address: dcraig@tidaLBGasin-gc.com 

 

mailto:dcraig@tidalbasin-gc.com


Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
ii 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
iii 

 

Proposal to Provide SUS Disaster Recovery 
Services in Response to ITN 1228LCSA 
Submitted by:   Tidal Basin Government Consulting 
Submitted to:  University of Central Florida  
Submitted on: July 10, 2013 

Table of Contents 
Section Title Page 

Cover Letter I 

Introduction 
  Overview 
  Proposal Organization 
  Introducing the TBGC Team  
  Why Select the TBGC Team? 
 

1 
2 
3 
5 

Section A. TBGC Team Experience 
A.1-2  Examples of TBGC Team’s Contracts and Performance 
A.3      TBGC Accounts and/or Contracts with Scopes of Work (SOW) or Scopes of 

Services (SOS) Similar to the RFP SOW Areas 
A.4      Listing of All Client Accounts or Contracts Which Have Been Cancelled or 

Lost Through Early Termination within the Last Ten (10) Years 

7 

Section B. TBGC Team Qualifications  
B.1      TBGC Team Pertinent Licenses 
B.2      TBGC Team Applicable Certifications 
B.3      Evidence of TBGC Team Insurability With the Requirements of the ITN 

(referenced her and documented at Attachment A) 

15 

Section C. Staffing Matrix and Office Locations 
C.1      TBGC Team Organization 
C.2      Staffing Matrix and Experience 
C.3      Locations of TBGC Team’s Headquarters and Offices 

19 

Section D. Financial Status of Proposer  
 D.1-2   TBGC Dun and Bradstreet (D&B) Supplier Qualifier Report and D&B 

Supplier Qualifier Reports for CY 2010-2012 
(Referenced here for compliance, provided at Attachment C of this submission) 

31 

Section E Technical Qualifications of Proposer 
E.1        Technical Qualification and Management to Provide Disaster 

Management Consulting Services 
E.2         Technical Qualifications and Approach to Provide Debris Monitoring 

Services 

33 

Section F Pricing for Applicable Labor 
F.1        Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Regular Labor Hours 
F.2        Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Overtime Labor Hours 

51 



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
iv 

 

Section Title Page 

F.3        Items and Services to be Billed on Volumetric Quantity Basis 

Section G Pricing for Applicable Equipment 
G.1        Pricing Table for All Applicable Equipment Needed to Response to 

Disasters 
G.2        Quantities of Each Applicable Piece of Applicable Equipment that is 

Available 

55 

Section H Equipment Availability 
H.1         Owned and/or Pre-existing Leased Equipment/Contracts in Place 
H.2         Supplemental or Additional Equipment Inventory   
H.3          Estimate Mobilization Time 

57 

Appendix A:  Required Forms 
Defined forms in ITN 
Evidence of TBGC Team Insurability 

A-1 

Appendix B:  Resumes of Key Staff B-1 

Appendix C:  Dunn and Bradstreet and Acceptable Financial Reports  C-3 

 

 

 

 

 



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
1 

 

Introduction 
Overview 
Tidal Basin Government Consulting and our Teaming 
Partners (the TBGC Team) is pleased to present this proposal 
in response to the University of Central Florida/ State of 
Florida’s State University System (hereafter referred to as 
SUS) to provide disaster support services (reference 
Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) NO:  1228LCSA, issued on May 
23, 2013).  Our proposal is designed to be completely 
compliant with ITN instructions and to demonstrate our 
ability to successfully deliver preparedness, response, 
recovery and mitigation services necessary to address any 
natural or manmade disaster or emergency situation as 
required by any of the Universities.  

Founded by Dan Craig, former FEMA Region I Administrator 
and former Director of FEMA Recovery Programs, TBGC has 
been delivering operations and management, logistical 
support, construction and technical assistance before, 
during, or after any potential or actual disaster situations 
including, tornados, hurricanes, severe weather events, or 
any other natural or manmade disaster or emergency since 
our founding in 2007.  Mr. Craig, as being responsible for 
effectively managing government preparedness, response, 
and recovery operations for the Federal Government, has 
seen first-hand and the quality and capabilities of the 
various firms in this market.  From this experience, we have 
identified three exceptionally qualified partner firms to support this effort:  Louis Berger (LBG); Price 
Waterhouse Coopers (PWC), and Soundside Consulting (Soundside) as our teaming partners.  We 
selected these firms because they provide the precise blend of capacity and capability that will ensure 
that all of SUS’ needs are met, whether the focus is on a single or multiple institutions across the State.  
And that we can offer these capabilities and capacities in a cost-effective manner than ensures quality, 
performance, and responsiveness to specific and nuanced customer needs and ensure that each 
University will be able to open for normal business as soon as possible, with the least amount of 
interference after a natural weather event or possible manmade disaster. As will be shown in our 
proposal, we offer personnel and staffing levels of sufficient size and with demonstrated knowledge, 
skills and abilities (KSAs), garnered through years of direct, applicable experience and the acquisition of 
licensing or certifications in the appropriate area of their function. 

The TBGC Team is proposing to support two (2) of the five (5) different Scopes of Work (SOW) areas:  
Disaster Management Consultant Services (reference Appendix V in ITN) and Debris Monitoring 
(reference Appendix VII in ITN).  Later in this proposal we demonstrate our abilities to perform the 
services specified in these SOW areas by providing proven approaches and past performance summaries 
that validate our methods, customer-focused management principles, and ability to adapt to the unique 
characteristics of a particular disaster or incident.  While we maintain written plans and procedures for 
implementing disaster consulting and debris monitoring events, as we have learned first-hand from 

TBGC Team Key Features Table 

 As a Prime, TBGC has supported 
university disaster management 
programs since our inception in 
2006; 

 Currently, we support five 
universities, understanding the 
unique disaster issues for 
education, research and medical 
campuses  

 Currently supporting universities 
and private not for profits affected 
by Sandy in maximizing recovery 
and related grant opportunities 

 Office centrally located in Orlando 
to support all FL SUS campuses 

 Deep bench of deployable 
professionals ensures ability to 
handle large scale efforts to single 
event and/or support multiple 
institutions simultaneously 

 Corporate commitment established 
through our President serving as 
Principal in Charge of this effort 
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supporting a significant majority of presidential disaster declarations going as far back as Hurricane 
Andrew, and up to including on-going support to the recovery of Hurricane Sandy for universities and 
other clients in New York and New Jersey, each disaster is different, and requires adaptation, creativity, 
and flexibility.  Our success is largely based on this blend of having frameworks in place to immediately 
engage while having the experience and creativity to address the particulars of each situation and 
maximize: the effectiveness of response/recovery opportunities; reimbursement and funding 
opportunities; and the ability of assist clients in overcoming disasters in a timely and effective manner.   

The remainder of this proposal presents documentation in sufficient detail to fully present our 
capabilities and experience for delivering in the two SOW areas noted above.  

Proposal Organization 
The TBGC Team proposal is structured to be compliant with proposal instructions and is provided as 
follows: 
 

 SECTION A:  EXPERIENCE OF PROPOSER.  This section provides examples of our Team’s contracts 
and performance; a list of client accounts or contracts, which are located in hurricane/severe 
weather prone areas of the United States; Past Performance summaries of client 
accounts/contracts that we currently maintain or have concluded within the past five years that 
are comparable to the SOWs we are proposing under; and a list of all client accounts or 
contracts which have been cancelled or lost through early termination within the last ten (10) 
years (none). 

 SECTION B: QUALIFICATIONS OF PROPOSER.  This section provides a listing of pertinent licenses 
for the services for which we are submitting; a listing of all applicable certifications; and 
evidence of our insurability in accordance with the requirements of this proposal.  

 SECTION C: STAFFING MATRIX AND OFFICE LOCATIONS.  This section presents a chart of TBGC’s 
organization and a description of the company structure and chain of ownership.  We also list 
the total number of employees, including job titles and experience of individuals who will be 
part of the SOS for this contract.   This list includes incorporates numbers from both the Team’s 
prime and subcontractors.  We also present information on the location of corporate/company 
main office or headquarters for all teaming partners and a list of all locations which will be 
servicing this level of effort and responding to a disaster at any of the SUS locations.  

 SECTION D: FINANCIAL STATUS OF PROPOSER. In this section, we present Dun and Bradstreet 
(D&B) Supplier Qualifier Reports for the current calendar of business that covers their 
operations from January 1, 2012 through a date within 30 days of the submission for all teaming 
partners; and we include D&B Supplier Qualifier Reports for the calendar years 2010, 2011 and 
2012.  

 SECTION E: TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS OF PROPOSER. In this section, we present our Technical 
Specifications and Approaches for address the specific items in the Disaster Management 
Consulting Services and Debris Monitoring SOWs for which we are proposing.   

 SECTION F: PRICING FOR APPLICABLE LABOR. This section furnishes documentation with an 
itemized sheet of all applicable labor categories and rates for regular labor hours. Associated 
with the two SOW areas we are proposing to support.  We include itemized sheet of all 
applicable labor categories and rates for overtime labor hours.  For Consulting and Debris 
monitoring, we do not envision pricing requirements for volumetric or a quantity basis.  Our 
pricing is all inclusive, accounting for labor, overhead and profit, as well as any consumables.  
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 SECTION G: PRICING FOR APPLICABLE EQUIPMENT.   This section presents pricing tables for all 
applicable equipment that would be needed to respond to the disaster; and, as applicable, the 
quantities of each applicable piece of applicable equipment that is within the available required 
delivery time.  

 SECTION H: EQUIPMENT AVAILABILITY.  This section identifies equipment we own or for which 
we have pre-existing lease contracts already in place associated with the applicable SOWs which 
it owns or has pre-existing leasing contracts already in place; a listing of supplemental or 
additional inventory equipment which would need to be secured upon issuance of a work 
authorization; and the estimated time to mobilize and deliver any needed equipment.  

 

Also included in our response are attachments that provide the required forms and certifications 

identified in the ITN (Attachment A); Resumes (Attachment B); and requested Dunn and Bradstreet 

(D&B) reports (Attachment C). 
 

Introducing the TBGC Team 
The TBGC Team includes TBGC, serving as the prime, and Louis Berger, and PWC serving as 

subcontractors.  We present brief introductions for each Teaming partner below. 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting  
Tidal Basin Government Consulting (TBGC) is a limited liability 

corporation (LLC) established in the District of Columbia.  

Founded in 2006, Tidal Basin provides expertise in all phases of 

emergency and disaster management with specialty skills in 

disaster recovery, mitigation, risk identification, continuity 

planning and emergency management for both natural and 

man-made (e.g., accident/terrorism) hazards.  Tidal Basin and 

our employees have supported planning and preparedness-

related work for a variety of entities including New York 

University Langone Medical Center, State of New York 

Department of Homeland Security and Emergency 

Management, Town of Olive, NY, Florida Turnpike Authority, 

Virginia Department of Emergency Management, the University 

of Miami including UMH, Mount Sinai Medical Center in Miami 

Beach, Tulane University including Tulane Medical Center, the 

Northern Virginia Hospital Alliance (NVHA)/Northern Virginia 

Emergency Response System (SUS), and the State of New 

Jersey, as examples.  Tidal Basin provides overall recovery 

program management, facilitation, and meeting support in the 

plan development effort. 

TBCG was formed by a group of professionals with a deep 

history of engagement associated with FEMA’s Public Assistance (PA), Mitigation and Individual 

Assistance (IA) Programs with the primary focus, gained from these experiences, in helping State and 

local government maximize opportunities under these programs.  For example, our team leader, Daniel 

Craig, served as FEMA’s Recovery Director where he was responsible for implementing FEMA’s PA 

 

Key Features of TBGC’s Background 

and Experience  

 Formed in 2006 with a mission to 

provide unparalleled expertise to State 

and Local Governments in Address 

Recovery and related needs  

 Personnel have been involved in all 

hazards life-cycle (planning, 

preparedness, response, recovery, and 

mitigation) going back to the late 1980s  

 Provided direct technical assistance to 

more than 100 Presidentially-declared 

disasters helping state and local 

governments obtain more than $950 

million in reimbursements, grant, and 

related funding. 
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program in over 100 federally declared disasters nationwide. From our collective experiences, we are 

intimately familiar with the culture of FEMA and how decisions are made at each level of the agency.  As 

a result, TBCG has an unparalleled knowledge of the intricacies of the PA program.  The mission of TBCG 

is to apply this knowledge, understanding, and expertise to assist State and local governments maximize 

benefits from their engagement with recovery programs.   

The TBCG team has also worked extensively in several catastrophic disaster situations, including the 

multiple hurricanes between 2004-2007 throughout the Gulf States and, currently is supporting more 

than six clients in NY and NJ in the recovery to Superstorm Sandy.  The TBCG team brings experience in 

each area which affects the PA and Mitigation programs and your recovery, including close out 

processes, grant management, grant writing, staff support, regulatory, policy (including disaster specific 

guidance), legislative/congressional, engineering, and program and project management.   

Louis Berger  
The Louis Berger Group, Inc., is a globally recognized 
consulting firm providing disaster response and recovery 
expertise, emergency management and program services, 
and hazard mitigation/remediation support.  As a closely held 
corporation of Berger Group Holdings, we are a devoted and 
trusted partner to federal, state, and local government 
agencies; multilateral institutions; and commercial industry; 
and with a worldwide resource base of more than 5,000 
people, as well as a local office in Miami, we will be able to 
respond to local conditions while providing the University 
with the technical resources and rapid-response capabilities 
of a leading global organization.   
 
Over the years, Louis Berger has responded to a variety of 
disasters with program and management support to local 
communities, state agencies, and private organizations and 
non-profits institutions. To all our projects, be they 
hurricanes, earthquakes, inland flooding or coastal erosion or 
some other event, Louis Berger brings strategic vision and an entrepreneurial spirit. This allows us to 
develop creative solutions to the most challenging of situations, including the Hurricane Sandy response 
and recovery effort on the Jersey Shore; response and recovery at the site of the 9/11 terrorist attacks on 
the World Trade Center, and numerous rapid-response projects for U.S. Postal Service under Berger’s 
nationwide Emergency Planning, Response and Recovery Services contract. 

 

Soundside Consulting, LLC.  
Soundside Consulting is a disaster recovery and infrastructure consulting firm dedicated to helping 

public and private sector organizations operate efficiently and in compliance with government policies 

and procedures.  Soundside Consulting is led by Mr. Chuck McLendon who has assisted Santa Rosa 

County with Hurricane Dennis and the Deepwater Horizon Oil as well as solid waste management issues 

in the past.  Areas of expertise include public works and utilities, debris management, disaster grant 

Key Features of LB’s Background and 

Experience  

 Experience overseeing large-scale 
debris removal operations in 
diverse locations 

 Established history in providing 
public assistance grant program 
management including Super 
Storm Sandy, Katrina and the 2004 
hurricanes in Florida. 

 Comprehensive hazard mitigation 
planning capabilities 
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management, solid and hazardous waste management, and 

accounting and audit support.  Soundside Consulting 

provides a unique combination of technical expertise with 

infrastructure related projects and a strong understanding 

of accounting and audit related protocols.  The firm is built 

upon a philosophy of providing uncompromised, 

straightforward guidance to our clientele.  For more than 22 

years, the principals of Soundside Consulting have assisted 

hundreds of state, local, and private sector clients in 

planning and implementing financially sound programs.  

Why Select the TBGC Team? 
The TBGC Team has the capacity, capability, experience, and 

skills needed by SUS to successfully deliver services under 

the two defined SOW area under which we are proposing.  

Exhibit 1 below highlights are abilities to meet and exceed the ITN-defined evaluation criteria 

established to demonstrate this capability (refer to Evaluation Criteria Table A in the ITN).  The 

remainder of the proposal is framed to reinforce and validate the capabilities highlighted in the exhibit.  

Exhibit 1:  Ability to Meet Florida SUS Universities’ Needs 

RFP Defined Evaluation 
Criteria 

TBGC Team’s Capabilities against Criteria 

1. Experience by company 

for providing disaster 

recovery equipment and 

services in a logistics 

capacity for other clients. 

 TBGC has providing disaster recovery services to more than XX clients over 
the past 10 years 

 Support has included assistance at every level of government and for 
academic and other institutions 

 Currently serving 4 clients in addressing their recovery and debris 
monitoring services associated with the aftermath to hurricane Sandy; Team 
member (Louis Berger) currently holds a national contract for the provision 
of disaster recovery equipment and services utilized to support responses to 
events such as Hurricane Ike and Super Storm Sandy 

2. Qualifications of 

proposer including 

applicable certifications 

and licenses for the SOW 

being proposed. 

 Team has reach back to more than 2,000 qualified employees 

 Combined with our partners, we offer professionals with more than XX 
different and applicable licenses and more than XX applicable certifications 

 Louis Berger has the ability to provide large numbers of qualified engineers, 
estimators, Industrial Hygienists, CADD technicians, construction managers, 
and more, to rapidly address a wide variety of needs 

3. Staffing matrix and 

office/facility locations that 

will be utilized to perform 

the services described in 

each applicable SOW.  

 Technical experts with in-depth knowledge of all disaster recovery grant 
programs and the capacity to integrate funding sources in order to produce 
the highest possible reimbursements or grants 

 Team has the ability to support disaster recovery operations from offices 
located in Ft. Lauderdale, Jacksonville, Lakeland, Miami, Orlando, and 
Tampa 

4. Financial status of the 

proposer based on 

 We provide D&B data as requested in Section D of this Submission.  

 

Key Features of LB’s Background and 
Experience  
 Excpetional history in supporting 

response and recovery/debris 
monitoring in Florida  

 Principal provides more than 22 
years of experience in State 
supporting efforts of comparable 
scope 

 Recently supported Deepwater 
response/recovery efforts.  
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Exhibit 1:  Ability to Meet Florida SUS Universities’ Needs 

RFP Defined Evaluation 
Criteria 

TBGC Team’s Capabilities against Criteria 

submission of Dunn & 

Bradstreet Supplier Qualifier 

Reports. 

 All Teaming partners have strong histories of growth and sound financial 
management 

 All firms are federal contractors and have accounting systems designed to 
comply with DCAA and FAR standards and associated requirements to affirm 
financial integrity. 

5.  Technical Qualifications 

and understanding of SOW 

based on submission.   

 TBGC was formed in 2006 to specifically help State and local government 
and private sector/related entities  

 Work has included delivering work comparable to ITN SOWs for several 
universities, including universities in Florida. 

 We have assisted our clients in appropriately obtaining hundreds of millions 
of dollars in public assistance grants and reimbursements 

 We have an established history providing public assistance and debris 
monitoring services in AL, FL, IN, LA, NJ, NY, TX, and VA 

6.   Pricing for applicable 

labor 

 We offer cost-competitive rates and use economies of scale and staff 
locations to ensure maximum value for the SUS universities 

7.  Pricing for applicable 

Equipment 

 Equipment pricing is directly passed through with no mark up and minimal 
G&A/handling fee 

 We have strong relationships with equipment vendors enabling us to procure 
much equipment using volume or other related discounts, which we pass on 
directly to our customers  

8. Equipment availability of 

items to perform the required 

activities pursuant to the 

SOW will be stated.  

 Because a majority of our staff lives in FL, we are able to support any activation 
within hours. All debris management equipment is located within the State of 
FL and as such can support operations as early as the “push” phases following 
the impact of an event 

9. Acceptance of all terms 

and conditions without 

deviation. 

 Proposal is designed to be compliant with all ITN instructions 

 Appendix X provides our signed “Supplemental Offer Sheet Terms and 
Conditions Acceptance form” (Appendix II of the ITN) 

10. Complete proposal 

submitted with all required 

attachments included. 

 As noted in the “Proposal Organization” of this Introduction, we provide all 
required documentation and attachments identified in the ITN within this 
response. 
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A. TBGC TEAM EXPERIENCE 
 

In this section, we present our Team’s experience in performing work comparable to the SOW areas 

defined in the ITN for which we are submitting this response.  Section A.1-2 presents listing of 

clients/contracts, including those in areas prone to hurricanes and Section A.3 presents past 

performance summaries, which include contact information for projects specifically focused on the SOW 

areas. 

 

A.1-2 Examples of TBGC Team’s Contracts and Performance 
Exhibit 2 presents examples of the TBGC Team’s Contracts that are comparable to the SOWs defined in 

the ITN (instructional requirement A.1). We also identify contracts that are within areas that are prone 

to hurricanes (instructional requirement A.2). 

Exhibit 2:  Examples of Contracts and Summary of Performance 

Client Project Name Summary of Performance 
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University of 
Miami, Risk 
Management 
Division 
Miami, FL 

Disaster 
Management 
and Related 
Services 

Since 2006, TBGC has been supporting UM in 
designing and implementing disaster recovery 
programs.  This work has includes provide 
guidance across the university on the eligibility 
standards, procedures and processes used by 
FEMA in the Public Assistance and Mitigation 
programs; assisted with planning and in 2008, 
providing personnel to UM for Hurricane Fay to 
support PA and related reimbursement 
opportunities 

X  X 

Dillard University, 
New Orleans, LA 

Disaster 
Recovery and 
Related Services 

Currently, providing disaster consulting services to 
support preparedness, response, recovery and 
mitigation initiatives for the University. 

X  X 

Tulane University 
New Orleans, LA 

Disaster 
Management 
Related Services 

Currently, providing disaster consulting services to 
support preparedness, response, recovery and 
mitigation initiatives for the University. 

X  X 

New York 
University 
NY, NY 

Disaster 
Recovery 
Services 

Currently assisting NYU in managing their 
recovery to Hurricane Sandy, coordinating grant 
programs and ensuring that they maximize 
opportunities for reimbursements and obtaining 
funding associated with mitigation programs. 

X  X 

State of New York 
NY, NY 

Post-Hurricane 
Sandy Recovery 
Support 

Currently assisting State in working with FEMA to 
address Public Assistance and related grant 
programs to ensure maximum reimbursement of 
response and mitigation funds. 

X  X 
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Exhibit 2:  Examples of Contracts and Summary of Performance 

Client Project Name Summary of Performance 
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Florida Turnpike 
Authority 
Ocoee, FL 

Post-Hurricane 
Recovery 
Support 

Provided senior level advice and professional 
services to the Florida Turnpike Authority’s 
Emergency management on maximizing 
reimbursements from the Hurricanes of 2004 and 
2005, including facility damage and loss of 
revenue. 

X  X 

New Jersey Office 
of Homeland 
Security 
Programs, 
Hamilton, NJ 

Disaster 
Resiliency and 
Related Support 

Under several contracts, supporting OHSP in all 
phases of the EM cycle including planning, 
operations, recovery (after action assessment and 
reporting) to hurricane Sandy and mitigation 
efforts.   

X  X 

Mount Sinai 
Medical Center 
Miami Beach, FL 

Disaster 
Recovery 
Support 

Assisted MSMC in maximizing recovery/PA 
program funding by providing disaster 
management consulting services, documentation, 
and advocacy in working with Federal entities. 

X  X 

Clark County, IN Disaster 
Recovery 
Services 

Served as principal in charge of the Tidal Basin 
contract providing disaster recovery program 
management for Clark County, Indiana after the 
Spring Tornadoes of 2012. 

X X  

Town of Olive 
Olive, NY 

Disaster 
Recovery 
Services 

Provide SME, documentation, and related support 
to Olive to maximize recovery and PA program 
reimbursements associated with Hurricane Irene. 

X X X 

VA Department 
of Emergency 
Management 
(VDEM) 
Richmond, VA 

Emergency and 
Continuity 
Planning Support 

Under a broad scope contract, currently providing 
disaster and continuity planning support for VA.  
Work includes the review of more than 150 plans 
from State and local entities, including VA 
universities 

X  X 

Texas General 
Land Office (GLO) 
Austin, TX  
 
 

Disaster 
Recovery/PA 
Support Services 

TBCG provided PA staff to the GLO to administer 
help FEMA’s recovery program in hurricane 
Ike.  The GLO had responsibility for the beaches, 
marine debris, abandoned oil rigs and adjacent 
structures, debris on GLO land and damage to 
GLO structures.  Total reimbursement from FEMA 
was approximately $45 million.  

X X X 

Alabama 
Emergency 
Management 
Agency 
Birmingham, AL 

Disaster 
Recovery/PA 
Support Services 

TBGC provided a team of experts to support PA 
program for the tornadoes that struck the State in 
the spring of 2011.  Our personnel worked closely 
with their FEMA counterparts to inspect sites to 
document the damage and write up a scope of 
work for each project.   

X  X 

Virginia 
Department of 
Emergency 

Debris 
Monitoring & 
Removal Services 

After Hurricane Irene, VDEM’s emergency standby 
contract was used by local municipalities and 
state agencies to acquire debris monitoring and 

X X X 
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Exhibit 2:  Examples of Contracts and Summary of Performance 

Client Project Name Summary of Performance 
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Management 
(VDEM) 

for Emergency 
Situations  
 

FEMA program services from LBGG. Work 
included preparation of project worksheets for 
FEMA reimbursement under the Public Assistance 
(PA) program; hazard mitigation planning, and 
preparation of closeout-ready project files.   

New Jersey Office 
of Emergency 
Management (NJ 
OEM) 

Catastrophic 
Planning & On-
Call Logistics 
Services  

LBGG is currently providing recovery services for 
municipalities throughout New Jersey that were 
impacted by Super Storm Sandy.  Projects include 
private property debris removal/ demolition 
(PPDR) work; right-of-way debris removal; and 
Public Assistance program support. Our staff is 
working hand-in-hand with local officials to 
facilitate the maximum allowable reimbursement 
and ensure compliance all relevant regulations. 
Simultaneously, Louis Berger is working NJ OEM 
to create a comprehensive, statewide emergency 
management plan consisting of (1) a Logistics 
Plan; (2) a Pre-Event Shelter & Post-Event Housing 
Plan; (3) a Debris Management Plan; and (4) an 
External Affairs Plan.  

X X X 

Galveston Park 
Board of Trustees 
(GPB); Galveston 
Historic 
Foundation 
(GHF); Texas 
Office of 
Community & 
Rural Assistance 
(TOCRA); Texas 
General Land 
Office (GLO) 

Hurricane Ike 
Disaster 
Recovery 
Services 

In June of 2013, Louis Berger concluded a five 
year project working within the City of Galveston, 
Texas.  Work included:  

 Grant management and FEMA PA services for 
the Galveston Historic Foundation;  

 Hazard Mitigation Disaster Loan Program 
services for all of the beaches, parks and other 
facilities controlled by the Galveston Park 
Board;  

 Review of PWs and development of local 
government training and process guides for the 
Texas Office of Community & Rural Assistance; 
and  

 PA services related to coastal damage for the 
Texas General Land Office.   

To date, Louis Berger has been able to recovery 
$7.5 million dollars in grant funding. 

X X X 

Maryland 
Judiciary 

COOP/COG Plan 
Reviews and 
Assessments 

Louis Berger performed an independent 
assessment on the Judiciary’s continuity of 
operations program and each of its court facilities, 
starting with an assessment tool-kit tailored to 
address the Judiciary’s specific challenges. 
Ultimately, our planning experts wrote 50 COOP 

X  X 
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Exhibit 2:  Examples of Contracts and Summary of Performance 

Client Project Name Summary of Performance 
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plans that identified strengths/ weakness of the 
program and proposed implementation strategies 
for the future.  Each final report also included 
information on best practices and resources, 
including where to obtain COOP training and 
participate in state, local and federal government 
exercises. 

Alabama 
Emergency 
Management 
Agency  

Disaster 
Response & 
Recovery  

Louis Berger provided technical assistance 
support the State of Alabama’s recovery effort to 
include PA, HMGP, and debris management 
services.   Louis Berger actually wrote project 
worksheets for FEMA until their staff were 
deployed to the disaster area. 

X X X 

United States 
Postal Service 

Emergency 
Planning, 
Response, 
Recovery 
Services  

Louis Berger’s unlimited ID/IQ contract with the 
USPS Office of National Preparedness is a good 
example of Berger’s ability to simultaneously 
provide emergency services across a diverse 
geographical area.  Under this contract, LBGG 
provides numerous USPS locations with 
emergency-response services, including 
comprehensive logistical support. 

X  X 

 

A.3 TBGC Accounts and/or Contracts with Scopes of Work (SOW) or Scopes of Service 
(SOS) Similar to the RFP’s SOW Areas  

Below, we present contracts which are currently active or have been completed within the last five (5) 

years that are comparable to the SOW/SOS of the RFP.  For each contract we provide the total contract 

value, the organization, contact name and telephone number, and the length of the service at each 

client. 

Example 1:  Disaster Management Consulting Services  

Client Organization: University of Miami, Risk 
Management Division 

Client POC Name: Andrea Orange  

Contract Value:  Telephone Number: (305) 284-5734 

Length of Service: 2006-Present Email Address: aorange@miami.edu 

Brief Summary of Work Performed: Tidal Basin personnel have worked since 2006 with the 
University of Miami (UM) on preparedness and the FEMA programs.  UM has instituted an aggressive 
preparedness program across five campuses and all colleges, including medical, research, marine and 
main student campus.  Tidal Basin works in conjunction with UM's Risk Management Division to 
provide guidance across the university on the eligibility standards, procedures and processes used by 
FEMA in the Public Assistance and Mitigation programs.  Tidal Basin has also assisted UM with 
planning and future proposed developments at the university to understand potential implications in 
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the event of a major disaster on one of the campuses.  In 2008, Tidal Basin provided personnel to UM 
for Hurricane Fay to gather and evaluated the university's claim for FEMA reimbursement.  Most of 
the costs related to emergency protective measures and overtime for emergency personnel.  Tidal 
Basin prepared the university's documentation and worked directly with FEMA field personnel to 
secure the reimbursement.  

 

Example 2:  Disaster Management Support Services  

Client Organization: Mount Sinai Medical 
Center (MSMC)  

Client POC Name: Stacy Kilroy 

Contract Value:  Telephone Number: (305) 674-2209 

Length of Service: 2006-present Email Address: skilroy@msmc.com 

Brief Summary of Work Performed: In 2006, Tidal Basin leadership was retained by MSMC following 
the 2004 and 2005 hurricanes in Florida in order to guide the hospital through the FEMA PA process 
and MSMC ensure its campus was properly reimbursed by FEMA following the disasters.  MSMC was 
originally seeking only $800,000 in FEMA grants; with our assistance, MSMC has received over $20 
million in FEMA grants.  The additional grant funding was for PA damage not previously included, 
missing administrative fees and a large amount of mitigation projects to protect MSMC’s campus 
against damage in future disasters.  

TBGC reviewed the PWs drafted by FEMA to ensure a complete and proper scope of work and to 
identify all possible mitigation opportunities.  We engaged FEMA to include the newly found damage 
in the scopes of work and reimbursements.  We also targeted 406 (PA) mitigation opportunities for all 
damaged facilities and worked with the hospital leadership and engineering staff in order to craft 
mitigation proposals to FEMA.  

In several steps along the FEMA process, it was necessary for us to engage FEMA both in the Florida 

Long-Term Recovery Office in Lake Mary, Florida, and at FEMA headquarters in order to obtain 
clarifications on national policy for insurance adjudications and the application of specific 406 
mitigation policies to MSMC’s unique situation.  

 

Example 3:  Superstorm Sandy Recovery Program Assistance Support 

Client Organization: New York University 
Langone Medical Center 

Client POC Name: Robin Stevens 

Contract Value: $450,000 (to date, 
continuous) 

Telephone Number: (212) 263-4907 

Length of Service: 2/13-Present Email Address: Robin.stevens@nyumc.org 

Brief Summary of Work Performed: In March of 2013, Tidal Basin was contracted to support Langone 
Medical Center on their recovery from water intrusion from the effects of Superstorm Sandy.  Tidal 
Basin staff have worked on site to support the Real Estate, Development and Facilities (RED+F), 
Research and Information Technology (IT) departments of the medical center to develop recovery 
strategies related to FEMA public assistance (PA) and mitigation program funding including issues 
related to the National Flood Insurance Program.  With loses in the hundreds of millions of dollars, 
Tidal Basin is working with the medical center staff and engineering consultants to maximize funding 
for recovery and ongoing projects, including mitigation funding to protect vital assets from damage in 
future events. 

 

mailto:Robin.stevens@nyumc.org
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Example 4:  Super Storm Sandy Response & Recovery 

Client Organization: Ocean County, NJ Client POC Name: Mr. Carl W. Block 

Contract Value: $10 Million USD Telephone Number: (732) 929-2147 

Length of Service: Nov. 2012 – Present Email Address: cblock@co.ocean.nj.us 

Brief Summary of Work Performed:  Right now, Louis Berger has a team of technical experts 
performing disaster recovery services for counties, townships, and cities throughout the State of New 
Jersey that were impacted by Super Storm Sandy. Our pre-positioned contract with the state allowed 
us to move quickly after the storm, which ensured that our clients continue to be provided with 
comprehensive response and recovery services. The initial response involved establishing a large-scale 
debris monitoring operation while simultaneously implementing a complex project management 
structure that could facilitate the transition from immediate response to long-term recovery.   
 
Trained debris monitors/ supervisors were deployed to make sure that every step of the debris removal 
process was conducted efficiently, and in accordance with all applicable contracts, regulations, and 
FEMA policies.  A total of 1.6 million cubic yards of debris have been hauled thus far.   
 
Eventually, Louis Berger placed dedicated FEMA Public Assistance (PA) experts with each of its clients 
so that they could work hand-in-hand with local officials to maximize FEMA reimbursement while 
making sure all activity is compliant with federal grant criteria and federal/state regulations. 
 
Another aspect of this diverse project included a task order for complex private property debris removal 
project (PPDR) / demolition project in the Township of Toms River. At start-up, Berger worked with the 
Township to obtain rights-of-entry and all property documentation in compliance with FEMA Public 
Assistance requirements.  Project Specialists performed pre-work inspections with FEMA inspectors to 
create comprehensive project files on all properties participating in the programs– all data was tracked 
using an online database, which provided Louis Berger and the client with instant online access to all 
information and documents relating to each applicant.   
 
In addition to monitoring, we provided Construction Management services during the demolition phase 
of the project. Louis Berger coordinated with the client and the contractor to ensure compliance with 
the contract, all Federal, State, and Local regulations, as well as all new guidance provided in the 
aftermath of Super Storm Sandy.  Berger personnel coordinated the schedule, compliance, and closeout 
for the Demolition and Debris Removal on over 200 properties.   

 

 

Example 5:  Hurricane Irene - Debris Monitoring & Removal Services for Emergency Situations  

Client Organization: Virginia Department of 
Emergency Management 

Client POC Name: Mr. ALBGert E. Sharp 

Contract Value: $6.6 Million USD Telephone Number: (804) 225-3157 

Length of Service: August 2011 – July 2012 Email Address: Earl.Sharp@VDOT.Virginia.
gov 

Brief Summary of Work Performed:   
VDEM activated its pre-positioned contract with LBGG as soon as it became apparent that Hurricane 
Irene would severely impact the Commonwealth of Virginia, and Louis Berger was able to get key 
personnel on the ground and performing emergency protective measures in advance of the storm.  
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Example 6:  Response to Hurricane Ike - Galveston Park Board   

Client Organization: Galveston Park Board Client POC Name: Kelly de Schaun 

Contract Value: $1.9 Million USD Telephone Number: (409) 797-5000 

Length of Service: 2008 – Present  Email Address: kdeschaun@ 
galvestonparkboard.org 

Brief Summary of Work Performed:  
In the aftermath of Hurricane Ike, Louis Berger supported the Galveston Park Board (GPB) by providing 
disaster recovery support, debris management, project development, coastal/civil engineering, project 
controls, and FEMA Public Assistance program services.  Early on, efforts focused on debris removal 
and management for the GPB’s beaches and parks, but our success in those areas eventually led to an 
expanded scope of work that included coastal engineering, beach re-nourishment, and hazard 
mitigation plans.  It also expanded our client local client base, after local non-profit organizations such 
as the Galveston Historical Foundation and Galveston Arts Center accessed our services through the 
same contract.   
Throughout the project, we worked closely with GPB personnel to gather data, assess impacts, tabulate 
information, prioritize efforts and coordinate with FEMA to advance multiple project worksheets (PW). 
Our primary objective was to develop comprehensive plans touching all projects so that we could 
advance priority PWs; and to that end we provided engineering specialists and technical experts to 
evaluate damaged to facilities and infrastructure across all of the GPB’s property holdings and leases. 
The recovery and reconstruction effort moved forward quickly and successfully. We demonstrated our 
ability to maintain project records, budgets and accountability in such a way that federal (FEMA) 
funding is expedited to our clients (as of now they have received more than $7.5 million in funding and 
reimbursement); and our electronic file protocols are compatible with FEMA’s, so the final, post-
closeout information exchange is expected to be seamless. 

 

After landfall, Berger deployed debris monitors and supervisors to work with local officials and debris 
contractors to carry out a rapid, ordered, and efficient debris removal process. 
 
In short order, temporary debris sites were identified, equipment was certified, rights-of-entry 
obtained, and preliminary damage assessments were underway. At the same time, a data management 
center was established and procedures were put in place designed to maximize recovery by strict 
adherence to state/federal law and FEMA rules/regulations: 

 Monitors at loading sites and temporary debris sites created individual load tickets to document 
every cubic yard of debris brought in/out;  

 Daily monitoring logs were kept to record performance, document the productivity, and ensure 
eligibility;   

 Exhaustive digital photography records were kept of debris sites and equipment, as well as each 
debris load hauled;  

 Data management information was compiled daily and reconciled each evening, creating a 
situation in which close-out process has proceeded quickly and efficiently.  

All data was reconciled daily, and LBGG was able to deliver closeout ready files at the end of the project. 
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A.4 Listing Of All Client Accounts or Contracts Which Have Been Cancelled or Lost 

Through Early Termination within the Last Ten (10) Years.  
TBGC has never had an account or contract cancelled or lost through early termination since our founding 

in 2006.   No member of our Team has had a client account or contract cancelled or lost through 

early termination within the last 10 years. 
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B.  QUALIFICATIONS OF PROPOSER 
 

In this section we summarize the TBGC Team’s qualifications to deliver work within the defined 

SOW areas by presenting knowledge, skills, abilities (KSAs), experience, and education of the key 

and core staff that are available to support this effort.  The TBGC Team, when combining 

resources, has more than 6,000 professionals available to support SUS.  We have access to 

professional in virtually every accredited academic field, business sector, and emergency function.  

In addition to the professionals listed here, we also maintain professionals with “support skills” 

such as graphic artists and designers, facilitators, communications/media relation specialists, 

mediators, lawyers, and IT specialists, as examples, which can be accessed to provide support 

associated with the primary functions and needs associated with the two SOWs for which we are 

responding.   In section B, we summarize the qualifications in the aggregate. Section C provides 

the links to these qualifications to the individuals we have designated as our primary key and core 

staff. 

 

B.1 TBGC Team Pertinent Licenses 
The TBGC Team maintains a deep and diverse bench of professionals that may be called upon to support 

efforts under the two SOWs for which we are proposing to support.  Exhibit 3 lists the pertinent licenses 

and related information associated with our Team. 

Exhibit 3:  Summary of Team Licenses and Resources 

TBGC Partner TBGC Team Resources  

# of Eligible/ Available Employees 1,427 

Degrees AA (1) 

BA/BS (1,371) 

MA/MS (416) 

MBA/JD (68) 

PhD  (27) 

Applicable Licenses and Professions Archeologists  

Architect 

CADD Technician 

Civil Engineer 

Construction Inspector 

Construction Manager 

Cost Engineer/Estimator 

Economist 

Electrical Engineer 

Environmental Engineer 

Environmental Specialist 

Geologist 

Industrial Hygienist 
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Exhibit 3:  Summary of Team Licenses and Resources 

TBGC Partner TBGC Team Resources  

Mechanical Engineer 

Planner (Urban/Regional) 

Professional Engineer 

Project Manager 

Structural Engineer 

Technician/Analyst 

Transportation Engineer 

Water Resources Engineer 

 

B.2 TBGC Team Applicable Certifications  
Below, we present a listing of the certifications obtained by the professionals that are available to 

support this effort.  In addition, members of our team have certifications applicable but not directly 

associated with the two SOW areas we are proposing under, such as Project Management Professional 

(PMP), professional facilitation (PF), and Instructional System Design (ISD), as examples.   

 Certified Emergency Manager (CEM) Certification  
 Homeland Security Exercise & Evaluation Program (HSEEP) (MEP) Certification  
 Certification FEMA Emergency Management Institute - National Incident Management Training 

(NIMS) IS-100, IS-200, ICS-300, ICS-400, IS-700, IS-800  
 FEMA Emergency Management Institute - Professional Development Series: IS-139, IS-230, IS-

235, IS-240, IS-241, IS-242, IS-244  
 FEMA E036 Public Assistance Operations I & II  
 FEMA IS-21.11 Civil Rights and FEMA Disaster Assistance  
 FEMA IS-100.F Introduction to Incident Command System 
 FEMA IS-120.a An Introduction to Exercises  
 FEMA IS-130 Exercise Evaluation and Improvement Planning   
 FEMA IS-200.b ICS for Single Resources and Initial Action Incidents  
 FEMA IS-393 Hazard Mitigation  
 FEMA IS-403 Introduction to Individual Assistance  
 FEMA IS-546.12 Continuity of Operations Awareness Course   
 FEMA IS-630 Introduction to the Public Assistance Process  
 FEMA IS-631 Public Assistance Operations   
 FEMA IS-632 Introduction to Debris Operations  
 FEMA IS-700 National Incident Management System   
 FEMA IS-800 National Response Plan  
 FEMA IS-814 ESF 14 – Long-Term Community Recovery  
 FEMA IS-100 Introduction to Incident Command System  
 FEMA IS-200 ICS for Single Resources and Initial Action Incident  
 FEMA IS-700 National Incident Management System (NIMS), An Introduction  
 FEMA IS-800 National Response Plan (NRP), An Introduction  
 FEMA Elevation Certificate training  
 FEMA Flood Maps training  
 US Army Engineer Basic Officer Leader Course, Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri  
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 Louisiana Emergency Manager (LEM)  

  

 

B.3 Evidence of TBGC Team Insurability In Accordance With the Requirements of the 

ITN  
The TBGC Team provides evidence of Team insurability at the conclusion of Attachment A of this 

submission. 
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C. STAFFING MATRIX AND OFFICE LOCATIONS 
 

This section presents the TBGC Team’s organizational structure, office locations and staffing matrices for 

supporting SUS under two SOW areas defined in the ITN.  We present the organizational structure for 

any resulting contract to enable SUS to understand our approach for managing this effort.  This chart is 

followed by the organizational structure for our prime contractor (TBGC). 

C.1 TBGC Team Organization  
TBGC will manage work under this contract using the following organizational framework defined in 

Exhibit 4.  The chart presents how our teaming partners will engage in this effort and defined the lines of 

authority and communications for service delivery.  We discuss these lines of communications, and 

authority in our management approach following the exhibit. 

 

Management Approach    
The organization chart frame’s our team responsible for the management of work under any resulting 
award.  The TBGC Team’s approach to managing the implementation of wok under the various tasks 

Exhibit 4:  TBGC Team SUS Organization Chart 
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identified in the ITN SOW areas is based on Program Management Institute (PMI) principles and 
portfolio, program, and project practices and components, as appropriate. The PMI Book of Knowledge 
(PMBOK) framework ensures effective communication between TBGC and SUS/active SUS institutions 
and establishes the foundation for our plans to manage, control, and supervise the contract to ensure 
satisfactory contract completion.  PMBOK establishes consistency and effective mutual understanding of 
roles, responsibilities, expectations, and requirements, as well as establishes the foundations for 
identifying issues before they become problems.  Our management plans focus on the following 
components: 
 Charter/Scope (Work Plan) 
 Deliverable/Performance 
 Time/Schedule 
 Quality 
 Risk 
 Communication 
 Staffing/Human Resources 

Each of these components will become integrated into TBGC’s tailored PMI-driven model for overall 
lifecycle engaged and focus on continuous improvement and high-quality delivery to SUS, as depicted in 
Exhibit 5 below. 

Our management approach for this project is to effectively provide the fullest extent of our Team’s 
capabilities in a seamless and uncomplicated manner.  We want to ensure that the State can 
immediately access any of the resources provided by the TBGC Team without any administrative 
entanglements.  As such, we are using a Management Team approach in which the prime contractor, 
the subcontractors, and the consultants are all directly involved in the management of the project.  In 
this section, we describe this management structure, the responsibilities of the members of the 
Management Team, and the process through which we implement our management approach. 

Our proposed organizational structure is presented below at Exhibit 6.  The structure reflects our 

proposed project management team composed of the Principal in Charge and Program Manager.   

Exhibit 5:  TBGC Team Applies PMI PMBOK Driven Management Process 
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PMP Team SME and Task Leads will support various aspects for SOW area Task order service delivery.  

The SMEs and task leads will be responsible for the day-to-day design, development of products, the 

implementation of logistics and administrative needs, and related tasks associated with this effort.   

Each member of our Management Team is assigned specific responsibilities to ensure that we meet the 

objectives of this project, as shown below as summarized in Exhibit 6 below. 

Exhibit 6:  Staff Positions and Roles/Responsibilities 
POSITION AND 
DESIGNATED TEAM 
MEMBER(S) 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Principal in Charge 
Program Director 
Dan Craig 

Holds overall authority to ensure corporate resources and serves as an 
executive resource to the team; serves as our project director; provides overall 
corporate and team leadership in ensuring projects are staffed, maintained, 
and delivered on time and within available resources. Assumes ultimate 
responsibility for conduct and delivery of work; coordinates QA reviews to 
ensure final QA/QC of products for delivery; coordinates technical activities 
with OHSP’s; advises on strategic direction of the project and ensures project 
consistency; meets with New Jersey customers to ensure customer satisfaction; 
reviews work plan, budget, and financial reports; reviews all final contract 
deliverables; and ensures financial administration of the project. 

Program Manager (PM) 
Jim Schumann 

Provides ongoing assistance to support the contract. Responsible for day-to-day 
client coordination and communication and management of teams, resources, 
budgets, and schedules. Coordinates and TOMs and project work/function 
teams and activities; ensures compliance with all contract and other legal, 
statutory, and regulatory stipulations and requirements across all activities; 
develops work plan, budget, and financial reports; oversees rapid-response 
activities; ensures timely submission of contract deliverables and ensures 
financial administration of the project; assists in the performance of work 
under the contract and on all phases of activities.   .  Supports the development 
and coordination of staffing plans, assists in drafting routine and ad-hoc 
contract reports; and serves as the primary liaison between New Jersey and the 
team for technical delivery.  Works with TOMs to develop task order specific 
quality assurance standards and metrics and supports technical delivery under 
the contract. 

SOW Area Program Leads 
Anne Compson (Disaster 
Consulting) 
Steven Glenn 
(Debris Monitoring) 

Responsible for overall coordination of support within specific SOW areas.  
Coordinates with client to define requirements, scope, duration, LOE, and 
related matters per task orders issued under a SOW area.  Responsible for 
assigning Task Order Managers (TOMs) and SMEs to support the management 
and implementation of specific tasks; responsible for establishing and 
maintaining quality assurance and quality control policies, plans, and protocols 
within SOW area.  Coordinates with PIC and PM on overall contract 
management and staff matrixing.  

TOMs and Technical Staff  

Includes SME as well as project teams associated with disaster consulting and 
debris monitoring including planners; technical, functional, and subject experts; 
logistics and administrative specialists, monitors, data entry, and related 
professionals. Responsible for the implementation of work under the direction 
Task Leads and TOMs.    May work independently or concurrently with other 
teams to ensure TO milestones, schedules, and requirements are met.  Develop 
products, design events, support scheduling and arrangement of facilities, 
equipment, and resources, and support other efforts to ensure timely, cost 
effective delivery of program and task order objectives.  
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Communication Protocols for Effective Management  
TBGC has the systems and tools in place to manage the work being performed by this project. The 
Project Manager will work closely with our project team to ensure delivery of products based on the 
requirements established by SUS. Our PM will be responsible for managing the implementation of the 
overall contract.   The PM will work closely with our Contracts Administrator to monitor financial and 
cost data and can provide information to SUS CO and PM on a quick-turnaround basis, as needed. The 
PM will ensure effective, timely, and cost-effective support to SUS throughout the period of 
performance of this project. Specifically, in accordance with the PMBOK framework discussed above the 
PM, TLs, and TOMs will ensure effective management of the resources and deliverables required by the 
State. The tools and processes for our continuous communications with the State are presented in 
Exhibit 7. 

Exhibit 7: Successful Communication Protocols And Tools For NJ HSEEP Project 
Tools Purpose 
Kick-off Meeting with 
PMP and Client (SUS) 

As a first step, the TBGC Team members will meet with SUS management to discuss 
details of scope, level of effort, schedule, and potential issues as well as to gather 
information on specific aspects associated with this work (i.e., POC for SUS 
institutions).  Kick-of meetings will also be held between TLs/TOMs for each Task 
Order issued under any awarded contract. 

Project Charter/Work 
Plan 

At the outset of the project and after consulting with SUS, the PM develops the 
Project Work Plan. The workplan documents the agreements reached at the kick-off 
meeting relating to scope, staff assignments, in-depth project schedule, 
administrative procedures, client contacts, reference documents, and QA/QC.  

Regularly Scheduled 
Project Meetings 

The PM and staff interact on a daily basis and meet formally not less than weekly to 
discuss progress, plan and coordinate activities/next steps, raise any potential 
problems/issues, and discuss potential solutions.  

Quality Assurance Central to the QA/QC program is continual involvement by the PM to ensure quality 
work and adherence to the intent of the Charter/work plan. Confirmation of the 
process is assured by periodic independent auditing of the work at key milestones.  
We tailor our QA/QC plans for each project.  Mutually agreed to QA/QC objectives for 
this project established at the kick-off meeting will be documented in our project 
work plan, as noted above. 

Issue Management All staff are trained to report issues to project management.  Initial issue evaluation is 
conducted by the PM.  If the issue cannot initially be resolved the PM will coordinate 
with the PD and QAM, as needed to apply the resources to address.  We believe that 
open and honest communication is critical with the client and will raise the issues 
when discovered, so OHSP and Using agencies understand our approach for resolving 
and/contributing to the resolution. 

Regular Updates to 
SUS/CMC Management 
and Staff  

The PM will maintain close contact with the State on a regular basis to report status 
on scheduled technical assistance sessions, share information, and to learn of any 
new developments. These informal exchanges are held routinely, on an agreed-upon 
frequency, to receive feedback and discuss any issues.  

Monthly Progress Reports  Technical progress and financial status will be formally communicated to the client in 
monthly progress reports that describe activities accomplished; status of completion 
of the various project activities, indicating whether due dates will be met. All activities 
are summarized monthly in the form of written monthly progress reports that 
accompany the monthly invoice. 
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Exhibit 7: Successful Communication Protocols And Tools For NJ HSEEP Project 
Tools Purpose 

Deliverables   Copies of all deliverables as part of project activities, will be submitted to SUS at key 
points in their development and as they are finalized.  

 

TBGC Prime Contractor Organization Structure 
Per ITN request, we present the TBGC organization structure below in Exhibit 8.  

 

C.2 Staffing Matrix and Experience 
In Section B, we presented in the aggregate, the licenses, degrees, and certifications contained within 

our Team.  Below, we present a staffing matrix that links specific key (denoted with * and for whom 

resumes are provided at Attachment B of this response) and core personnel to qualifications necessary 

and beneficial to supporting the work associated with the two SOWs for which we are submitting this 

proposal. 

Exhibit 8:  TBGC Organizational Structure and Lines of Authority 

 

 

Tidal Basin  GC, LLC

(Dan Craig, President)

Disaster Programs

(Jim Schumann, Division 
President)

South Central Division

(Anne Compson, Director)

Sarah Kopec

Consultants - Mark Holland, 
Joretta Simmons, Rob 

Bowlin, Carlos Sosa, Ranko 
Pudar, Steve Pardue

Paratus Management 
Partners, LLC

(Ron Davison, Division 
President)

Emergency 
Management/Transportation

(Steve Kral, Director)

Preparedness

(Paul Sension, Leslie 
Lampton)

Planning

(Michael Roberts, Stephen 
Ramsey)

Training and Exercises

(Open)

Finance

(Pat Moylan, CFO)

Sonya Shaw, Finance 
Specialist

Administration

(Garon King, Director of 
Special Projects)

HR, IT, Compliance, Payroll, 
Insurance

Office Assistant

(Ebony Greene)

Sales, Business Development

(Open)

Marketing (Open)
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Exhibit 9:  Staffing Matrix and Experience 

Name, Job 
Title, and 
Organization 

Education, licenses,  
certification, merit 

Experience  

Dan Craig* 
President 
TBGC 

MBA, 
ARC, National Board of 
Governors, Governor 
Representative, 
Boston University Board of 
Advisors, Emergency 
Management Program  
  

 18 years’ applicable experience 

 Former FEMA Region 1 Administrator and Former Director 
of FEMA Recovery Programs 

 Involved in more than 17 Presidential Disaster Declarations 
as Federal and Private Sector Executive 

 Has provided disaster recovery services at every level of 
government and for private sector, academic and other 
institutions 

 Examples include University of Miami, Tulane University, 
Dillard University, and New York University (current work 
in support of Hurricane Sandy recovery) 

Jim Shuman* 
Vice President 
TBGC 

JD 
 

 11 years’ applicable experience 

 Former FEMA Director, Legislative Affairs 

 Currently managing team providing NYU Recovery Support 
to Hurricane Sandy  

 Senior advisor in supporting Miami University and MSMC 
recovery efforts 

 Expertise in understanding and advising on regulatory 
requirements associated with FEMA PA, IA, and mitigation 
programs 

Ronald 
Davison 
Vice President 
TBGC 

MA 
ISD Instructor 
Professional Facilitation 
 

 25 years professional experience 

 Provide response and evaluation support associated with 
more than 18 presidentially declared disasters going back 
to Exxon Valdez Oil Spill 

 Managed team of more than 27 deployed to LA, TX, and 
MS in support of Katrina Response and Recovery 

 Designed and produced risk management tools and 
guidance for University programs ( DC University 
Consortium 

 Supported preparedness and continuity planning, and 
exercises for Universities in VA, WVA, and NC 

 Led University of Washington regional risk and evacuation 
workshop   

Anne 
Compson* 
Senior 
Consultant 
TBGC 

JD, 
Louisiana State Hazardous 
Waste Management,  
Tennessee and Virginia Bar 
Association (Inactive)  
FEMA IS-700, FEMA IS-800, 
FEMA IS-631, FEMA IS-814, 
FEMA IS-860, 860a 

 23 years’ applicable experience 

 Currently leads disaster management consulting services 
contract in support of Tulane University and serving as 
senior SME for Dillard University 

 Extensive experience providing management consulting, 
planning, emergency management consulting, and 
planning 

 Former Senior Project Manager for New Orleans where she 
provided post-Hurricane Katrina FEMA Public Assistance 
Program consulting and application of FEMA policy and 
disaster-specific memoranda for disasters involving 
flooding and inundation of roads and related infrastructure 

issued over the last 15 years.   
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Exhibit 9:  Staffing Matrix and Experience 

Name, Job 
Title, and 
Organization 

Education, licenses,  
certification, merit 

Experience  

Mark Holland* 
Senior 
Consultant 
TBGC 

AA, Architectural Engineering,  
Licensed Architect,  
Mitigation Specialist 

 30+ years professional experience, 8 years’ Applicable 
Experience 

 Project Manager – State of Texas Office of Rural 
Community Affairs (ORCA).  Responsible review of over 
1500 grant applications prepared by FEMA for Hurricane 
Ike as well as support for Hurricanes Claudette and Rita.   

 Project Officer for 37 month deployment for Hurricane 
Katrina Response and Recovery stationed at Baton Rouge 
TRO.  Wrote over $134,000,000 in recovery grants.    

 Sr. Project Specialist responsible for review of capital 
recovery projects proposed by the City to determine 
compliance with Stafford Act  

Michael 
Roberts* 
Senior 
Consultant 
TBGC 

MS, 
Certified Emergency Manager 
(CEM)  
Louisiana Emergency Manager 
(LEM)  
(HSEEP) Certification FEMA 
EMI NIMS: IS-100, IS-200, ICS-
300, ICS-400, IS-700, IS-800  
FEMA EMI Professional 
Development Series  IS-139, 
IS-230, IS-235, IS-240, IS-241, 
IS-242, IS-244  

 10 years professional experience, serving as both local 
government EM professional and as a consultant 

 Project Manager – New York Team supporting Sandy 
Recovery, supporting State PWSs and maximizing grant 
reimbursement opportunities 

 Previously served as an Emergency Management Specialist 
and Director of the Training and Exercise Division for the 
City-Parish of East Baton Rouge in Louisiana 

 Extensive experience in supporting communications, 
outreach, training, and policy initiatives related to 
emergency management and homeland security programs 

Sarah Kopec* 
Senior 
Consultant 
TBGC 
 

MPA, 
HSEEP Certification  
FEMA Elevation Certificate, 
FEMA Flood Maps, FEMA IS-
21.11; FEMA IS-100.F FEMA 
IS-120, FEMA IS-130, FEMA IS-
139 FEMA IS-200.b FEMA IS-
403, FEMA IS-546.12, FEMA 
IS-630, FEMA IS-631, FEMA IS-
632, FEMA IS-700, FEMA IS-
800, FEMA IS-814 

 8 years professional experience, serving as both local 
government EM professional and as a consultant 

 Project Manager – Dillard University Disaster Management 
Services Support contract  

 Provided grant administration, recovery program 
management, project management, and related services to 
multiple clients for 10 different presidentially declared 
disasters 

 As an employee of the Louisiana Recovery Authority, Ms. 
Kopec developed guidelines for the State, in compliance 
with PA guidelines, for debris removal.  

 As a financial analyst for FEMA’s Community Disaster Loan 
Program, she worked with Federal, State, and Local officials, 
associated with Community Disaster Loans (CDL) for 
multiple jurisdictions in Iowa, Kansas, Pennsylvania, and 
Texas. 

Lois Copeland* 
PA Specialist 
TBGC 
 

BS., 
FEMA Public Assistance 
Operations, Project 
Worksheet Development, and 
Hazard Mitigation 
Workshops  Web Based 

 15 years’ professional experience 

 Public Assistance Policy Specialist with a primary focus and 
expertise in Public Assistance Grants Management, as well 
as Accounting and Audit Support  

 Project Manager – Dillard University Disaster Management 
Services Support contract 
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Exhibit 9:  Staffing Matrix and Experience 

Name, Job 
Title, and 
Organization 

Education, licenses,  
certification, merit 

Experience  

Training Development and 
Technical Writing 
Certification, LA Tech 
University, Ruston, LA 
Candidate, Certified Public 
Accountant Exam (CPA), 
November 2013  

 Served in the City of New Orleans’ Chief Administrative 
Office managing and administering FEMA Public Assistance 
Program funding under Hurricanes Katrina, Gustav, and 
Isaac  

 Prior to her work at CNO, served as a FEMA Public Assistance 
Coordinator in both Louisiana and Texas, where she assisted 
applicants with project formulation,  eligibility 
determinations, and recommendations based on FEMA 
Public Assistance policy, federal and state regulations, and 
disaster specific guidance 

Steven Kral 
Director 
TBGC 

M.A. (2013), Homeland 
Security,  

 20 years applicable experience 

 Currently oversees TBGC preparedness programs 

 Formerly served as Homeland Security Government 
Relations Officer for the Washington Metropolitan Area 
Transit Authority (WMATA) 

 Formerly served as Senior Policy Advisor for Homeland 
Security Emergency Management Agency (HSEMA) in the 
District of Columbia and served as a key member of the 
Mayor’s homeland security advisory staff managing the 
National Capital Region HS grant programs, including 
coordinating inter-jurisdictional needs and recovery efforts 
as well as internal DC programs and reimbursements. 

Steven Glenn  

 

Vice President 

of Emergency 

Management 

 

Louis Berger 

BA, Criminology, University of 

North Carolina- Pembroke 

State Public Assistance 

Management (Emergency 

Management Institute, 2001) 

Debris Operations (EMI, 2000) 

Public Assistance Operations II 

(EMI, 2000) 

Public Assistance Operations I 

(EMI, 1999) 

Debris Management (EMI, 

1997) 

ICS-100,200,700 & 800 

 24 Years of Applicable Experience 

 Former FEMA Region IV Infrastructure Branch Chief and 

Director for Recovery for North Carolina. 

 Implemented a $7.6 billion dollar FEMA Public Assistance 

(PA) Program, spanning eight states  

 Worked on disaster response and recovery efforts at every 

level of government 

 Implemented the nation’s first quality assurance program 

for the FEMA PA Program 

 Managed multi-million dollar practice designed to provide 

comprehensive disaster management services 

 Ran Mississippi’s Alternative Housing Program after 

Hurricane Katrina 

Teresa Carter* 

Technical 

Director for 

Recovery 

Operations, 

Louis Berger  

IS-100: Intro to ICS 

IS-600: Special Considerations 

for FEMA PA Projects 

IS-632: Introduction to Debris 

Ops in FEMA's PA Program 

IS-700.a: NIMS: An 

Introduction 

 Over 26 years of relevant experience  

 Former Deputy State Public Assistance Officer for the State 

of North Carolina 

 Debris Operations subject matter expert – led the FEMA 

Debris Operations and Debris Management courses piloted 

in February 2001 
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Exhibit 9:  Staffing Matrix and Experience 

Name, Job 
Title, and 
Organization 

Education, licenses,  
certification, merit 

Experience  

IS-800.b: NRF: An Introduction 

FEMA PA Ops I & II 

FEMA Environmental 

Considerations 

State Coordinating Officers 

Course 

 Routinely trains emergency management personnel in 

FEMA Public Assistance policies and procedures  and 

demolition operations, as well as debris monitoring/ 

management 

Caroline 

Cunningham* 

Senior Planner 

Louis Berger 

Master of City & Regional 

Planning,  

BS, Environmental & Natural 

Resource Mgm’t, Magna Cum 

Laude, Certified Floodplain 

Manager, Association of State 

Floodplain Managers, North 

Carolina (NC-12-0448) 

Associate Business Continuity 

Professional, DRII 

Hazus-MH Practitioner, FEMA 

 Expert Hazard Mitigation Planner 

 Broad understanding of disaster grant programs and 

environmental/ natural resource management 

 Conducted a G-318: Mitigation Planning Workshop for 

Preparing and Reviewing Local Plans in states throughout 

FEMA Region 1 

 Developed a new service line of business continuity 

planning to foster private sector resiliency opportunities 

Kathleen 

Cure* 

Disaster 

Recovery 

Coordinator, 

Louis Berger 

J.D., cum laude,  

BA, Political Science, Licensed 

by the Virginia State Bar 

(2010) 

Debris Management Planning 

for State, Tribal & Local 

Offices (FEMA-EMI)  

Public Assistance Eligibility & 

Initial Damage Assessments 

(FEMA-EMI) 

American Bar Association, 

Business Law Division 

 Civil attorney providing regulatory guidance and program 

support to Louis Berger’s Disaster Management unit 

 Business unit lead in contracting and procurement 

 Contract administrator for Louis Berger’s response and 

recovery to Super Storm Sandy in the State of new Jersey, 

handling all procurement requirements, negotiating 

subcontracting agreements and managing the issuance and 

tracking of many differing task orders. 

Virginia 

Westervelt* 

Civil Engineer 

Lois Berger 

Bachelor of Engineering,  

Unified Hazard Mitigation 

Assistance (HMA) Project 

Implementation & 

Programmatic Closeout 

Course (EMI) 

American Society of Civil 

Engineers & the Society of 

Military Engineers 

Antiterrorism Level I 

Awareness Training  

 

 Civil/ structural engineer with experience that includes 

embassy work for the U.S. Department of State, 

rehabilitation and restoration for the National Park Service, 

and new military facilities for the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers 

 Served as debris specialist for Louis Berger’s debris 

monitoring operations in New Jersey, following Super 

Storm Sandy 

 Currently managing a large private property debris removal 

(PPDR)/ demolition operation, also related to recovery 

from Super Storm Sandy 
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Exhibit 9:  Staffing Matrix and Experience 

Name, Job 
Title, and 
Organization 

Education, licenses,  
certification, merit 

Experience  

Chuck 
McClendon* 
SME  
Southside 

B.S. Florida State University 
 
DRCA and SWANA 
membership (inactive) 

 22 years professional experience  

 Expertise in solid waste, disaster recovery, grant 
management, and utility / public works consulting services 
to local governments in Florida 

 Managed recovery efforts for many of the state’s largest 
disaster events including Hurricane Charley, Frances, and 
Jeanne (2004), Hurricane Ivan (2004), Hurricane Dennis 
(2005), Hurricane Wilma (2005), and the Deepwater 
Horizon Oil Spill that impacted the Florida Panhandle 

 

In addition to the names staff provided in the Exhibit, the TBGC Team has access to more than 1,500 
employees and consultants that present expertise in more than 40 academic disciplines and fields of 
expertise applicable to the scope of these efforts.  Each member of our team has a strong history of 
“ramping up” staffing resources to support emergency and disaster surges. 
 

C.3 Locations of TBGC Team’s Headquarters and Offices 
Exhibit 10 presented headquarters and “primary service” offices for TBGC and are teaming partners.  
Following the Exhibit, we presents the locations of other offices where we are planning to use as base 
offices for supporting various SUS institutions. 
 

Exhibit 10:  Headquarters and Primary Service Officers for TBGC Team 

 Prime:  TBGC Partner:  LBG Partner:  Soundside 
Corporate 
Headquarters Location 

300 North Washington 
Street, Suite 505 
Alexandria Virginia 

412 Mount Kemble Ave. 
Morristown, NJ 07960 

419 Timberwalk Lane  
Lake Mary 
32746 

Primary Office 
Providing Service 

7380 Sand Lake Road, 
Suite 500  
Orlando, Florida, 32819 
.  
 

Airport Executive Tower 1, 
1150 NW 72nd Ave, Suite 
350 
Miami, FL 33126 

419 Timberwalk Lane  
Lake Mary 
32746 

 
An additional feature of our Team is we also maintain office locations near the State of Florida.  If, 
because of disaster conditions, our local office is inaccessible, we would be able to manage our support 
from Office’s near the State.  Below, Exhibit 11 identifies the locations of these regional offices. 
 
 

 

http://visulate.com/rental/visulate_search.php?PROP_ID=942230
http://visulate.com/rental/visulate_search.php?PROP_ID=942230
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Exhibit 11:  Locations of TBGC Team’s Regional Offices 
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D. FINANCIAL STATUS OF PROPOSER 
 

D.1-2 TBGC Dun and Bradstreet (D&B) Supplier Qualifier Report and D&B Supplier 

Qualifier Reports for CY 2010-2012 
 

D&B reports and comparable and acceptable (based on ITN Q&As) financial statements are provided at 

Attachment C of this submission. 
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E.  TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS OF PROPOSER 

Overview 
In this section, TBGC Team provides our approaches for delivering services under two of the designated 

SOW areas:  disaster management consulting services (E.1) and debris monitoring E.2).   

 

E.1 Technical Qualifications and Approach 

to Provide Disaster Management 

Consultant Services 
The TBGC team has worked extensively in several 

catastrophic disaster situations, including the multiple 

hurricanes that impacted the United States between 

2004 and 2007, Hurricane Ike in 2008, the Alabama 

tornados, Hurricane Irene, and most recently with 

Hurricane Sandy.  We also have extensive experience 

working with clients on insurance and claims 

management both at the policy level and in the field, 

throughout the Gulf States and, in particular, Hurricane 

Katrina, which tested the boundaries of the PA program. 

The TBGC team brings experience in each area which 

affects the PA program and your recovery, including 

close out processes, grant management, grant writing, 

insurance adjusting services, staff support, regulatory, 

policy (including disaster specific guidance), 

legislative/congressional, engineering, and program and 

project management.  This depth of experience gained 

from working inside FEMA and working with clients in 

the field acquired by the TBGC team will ensure that 

Chatham County is provided with a comprehensive view 

of the PA program and given every opportunity to 

achieve a successful and prompt recovery.    

 

Our goal is to work side-by-side with your partners, your 

elected and government officials, and other involved 

parties to ensure we can maximize the opportunities to 

collect reimbursements in a responsible and well 

documented manner.   

 

No other team can combine our experience and working relationships with proven program 

management and local client success.  Our professionals embody our mission of “determined success” 

TBGC Team Provides an Effective Approach 

Based on Proven History to Deliver the 

Identified SOW Requirements: 

• Provide technical advisory services related to the 

recovery from disaster 

• Develop and implement strategies designed to 

maximize federal and state assistance 

• Provide expert programmatic and policy advice on 

federal disaster relief programs 

• Provide support for strategic planning and 

coordination of all recovery efforts 

• Work with FEMA, other federal agencies and all 

State agencies to obtain appropriate assistance 

• Prepare correspondence to federal and state 

agencies as required  

• Review contracts and purchasing documentation 

to ensure cost recovery 

• Review documentation prepared by departments 

• Assist in capturing and summarizing eligible costs 

for departments 

• Assist in the compilation and presentation of costs 

for presentation to FEMA and the State including 

all backup documentation necessary to process 

project worksheets 

• Assist in the compilation and presentation of costs 

for filing insurance claims including through the 

State Risk Management Trust Fund Program 

• Attend meetings on behalf of the SUS institutions 

to negotiate individual project worksheets 

• Provide assistance and oversight to departments 

having difficulty with claims 

• Work with officials to resolve disputes with FEMA 

and/or the State including the preparation of 

appeals to FEMA 

• Work to maximize cost recovery from all available 

sources 
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which we will bring to Chatham County in order to be the strong advocate and resource Chatham 

County needs to ensure the recovery of your community and your citizens. 

 

While many consultants can offer basic knowledge of the programs, only the TBGC team’s staff and 

leadership can provide the local knowledge, experience and relationships necessary to help Chatham 

County through difficult and sometimes daunting challenges associated with effective close out.  Our 

professionals have worked at FEMA headquarters, at FEMA regional offices and in the field.  We have a 

comprehensive view of how FEMA implements the PA and IA programs in a disaster and how FEMA’s 

regional office and headquarters interact with their field staff and how they interpret program policies.  

The bottom line is our singular focus will be to develop recovery funding strategies that ensure that 

Chatham County will be able to claim the maximum eligible, legitimate funding associated with the Project 

Worksheets (PWs) for which we will support closeout.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE EXPLANATION OF POTENTIAL IMPACTS FOR RECOVERY  

Per the requirements of Section 4.1 (Technical Specification) of the RFP, we outline FEMA’s Public 

Assistance (PA) program and the insurance considerations that will influence a PA grant.   

 

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE GRANT APPLICATION PROCESS 

After a natural or man-made event that causes extensive damage, FEMA coordinates with the State to 

implement the Public Assistance (PA) 

Grant Program.  The mission of the PA 

Grant Program is to provide assistance 

to State, Tribal and local governments, 

and certain types of Private Nonprofit 

organizations so that communities can 

quickly respond to and recover from 

major disasters or emergencies 

declared by the President.  

Through the PA Program, FEMA 

provides supplemental Federal disaster 

grant assistance for debris removal, 

emergency protective measures, and 

the repair, replacement, or restoration 

of disaster-damaged, publicly owned facilities and the facilities of certain Private Non-Profit (PNP) 

organizations. The PA Program also encourages protection of these damaged facilities from future 

events by providing assistance for hazard mitigation measures during the recovery process. 

The Federal share of assistance is not less than 75% of the eligible cost for emergency measures and 
permanent restoration. The grantee (usually the State) determines how the non-Federal share (up to 
25%) is split with the sub grantees (eligible applicants).  These percentages can be waived in certain 
circumstances. 
 

http://www.fema.gov/site-page/grantee
http://www.fema.gov/site-page/subgrantee
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A key provision in the Robert T. Stafford Relief and Emergency Assistance Act that guide insurance 
policies and procedures that directly impact recovery provisions is that disaster assistance provided by 
FEMA is intended to supplement financial assistance from other sources.  Disaster assistance will not be 
provided for damage or losses covered by insurance.  Insurance coverage must be subtracted from all 
applicable PA grants in order to avoid duplication of financial assistance.  If PA funds are obligated for 
work that is subsequently determined to be covered by insurance, FEMA must de-obligate the funds. 

 

ELIGIBILITY 

The PA Program is based on statutes, regulations and policies. The 

Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act 

(Stafford Act) is the underlying document that authorizes the 

program. Regulations published in Title 44 of the Code of Federal 

Regulations (44 CFR) Part 206 implement the statute. Policies are 

written to apply the statute and regulations to specific situations 

and provide clarification on a range of issues. These authorities 

govern the eligibility criteria through which FEMA provides funds 

for public assistance. These criteria have the following four 

components: (1) Applicant, (2) Facility, (3) Work, and (4) Cost. 

Using guidelines, FEMA determines if the various components are 

eligible for disaster assistance. The applicant is the basis for 

eligibility. The applicant must be eligible for the facility to be 

eligible. The facility must be eligible for the work to be eligible. The 

work must be eligible for the cost to be eligible.  

 

1. Eligible Applicant - There are four types of eligible applicants for public assistance. If an entity 

meets the requirements of one of the types, the Applicant may be eligible to receive Federal 

disaster assistance.  The four are: 

 
 State Government Agencies 
 Local Governments and Special Districts 
 Private Non-Profit Organizations 
 Federally recognized Native American Indian Tribes, Alaskan Native Tribal 

Governments, Alaskan Native village organizations or authorized tribal organizations 
and Alaskan Native village organizations. This does not include Alaska Native 
Corporations, which are owned by private individuals. 

 
2. Eligible Facility - An eligible facility is any building, works, system, or equipment that is built 

or manufactured, or any improved and maintained natural feature that is owned by an 
eligible public or private nonprofit (PNP) applicant with certain exceptions.  To be eligible a 
facility must: 
 

 Be the responsibility of an eligible applicant. 

 Be located in a designated disaster area. 

 Not be under the specific authority of another Federal agency. 

 Be in active use at the time of the disaster. 
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Another key provision in the Robert T. Stafford Relief and Emergency Assistance Act that guide 

insurance policies and procedures that directly impact recovery provisions is that the Applicant must 

obtain insurance on damaged insurable facilities (buildings, equipment, contents, and vehicles) as a 

condition of receiving PA grant funding.  In addition, the Applicant must maintain insurance on those 

facilities in order to be eligible for PA funding in future disasters. 

3. Eligible Work - To be eligible for funding, disaster recovery work performed on an eligible facility 
must: 

 Be required as the result of a major disaster event, 

 Be located within a designated disaster area, and 

 Be the legal responsibility of an eligible applicant. 

FEMA will not provide assistance when another Federal agency has specific authority to restore 

or repair facilities damaged by a major disaster.  No assistance will be provided to an applicant 

for damages caused by its own negligence through failure to take reasonable protective 

measures. If negligence by another party results in damages, assistance may be provided on the 

condition that the applicant agrees to cooperate with FEMA in all efforts to recover the cost of 

such assistance from the negligent party. 

 

Necessary assurances shall be provided to document compliance with special requirements 

including, but not limited to, floodplain management, environmental assessments, hazard 

mitigation, protection of wetlands, and insurance. 

 Category A: Debris Removal  

Clearance of trees and woody debris; certain building wreckage; damaged/ destroyed 

building contents; sand, mud, silt, and gravel; vehicles; and other disaster-related 

material deposited on public and, in very limited cases, private property. 

 Category B: Emergency Protective Measures  

Measures taken before, during, and after a disaster to eliminate/reduce an immediate 

threat to life, public health, or safety, or to eliminate/reduce an immediate threat of 

significant damage to improved public and private property through cost-effective 

measures. 

 Category C: Roads and Bridges  

Repair of roads, bridges, and associated features, such as shoulders, ditches, culverts, 

lighting, and signs. 

 Category D: Water Control Facilities  

Repair of drainage channels, pumping facilities, and some irrigation facilities. Repair of 

levees, dams, and flood control channels fall under Category D, but the eligibility of 

these facilities is restricted. 

 Category E: Buildings and Equipment  

Repair or replacement of buildings, including their contents and systems; heavy 

equipment; and vehicles. 

 Category F: Utilities  

Repair of water treatment and delivery systems; power generation facilities and 

distribution facilities; sewage collection and treatment facilities; and communications. 



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
37 

 

 Category G: Parks, Recreational Facilities, and Other Facilities  

Repair and restoration of parks, playgrounds, pools, cemeteries, mass transit facilities, 

and beaches. This category also is used for any work or facility that cannot be 

characterized adequately by Categories A-F. 
 

A third key provision in the Robert T. Stafford Relief and Emergency Assistance Act that guide insurance 

policies and procedures that directly impact recovery provisions is that FEMA will reduce the amount of 

eligible PA funding for flood losses in the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).  If an eligible insurable 

facility damaged by flooding is located in a SFHA that has been identified for more than one year by the 

Administrator, and the facility is not covered by flood insurance (or is underinsured) on the date of such 

flooding, FEMA will reduce PA funding by the maximum amount of insurance proceeds that would have 

been received had the buildings and contents been fully covered under a National Flood Insurance 

Program standard flood insurance policy. 

4. Eligible Cost - Generally, costs that can be directly tied to the performance of eligible work are 

eligible. Such costs must be: 

 

 Reasonable and necessary to accomplish the work; 

 Compliant with Federal, State, and local requirements for procurement; and 

 Reduced by all applicable credits, such as insurance proceeds and salvage values. 

 

A cost is reasonable if, in its nature and amount, it does not exceed that which would be 

incurred by a prudent person under the circumstances prevailing at the time the decision was 

made to incur the cost. In other words, a reasonable cost is a cost that is both fair and equitable 

for the type of work being performed. Determining reasonableness is particularly important 

when Federal funds are involved. Considerations should be given to whether the cost is of a 

type generally recognized as ordinary and necessary for the subject facility and type of work and 

whether the individuals concerned acted with prudence in conducting work. In addition, normal 

procedures must not be altered because of the potential for reimbursement from Federal funds.  

Reasonable costs can be established through: 

 

 The use of historical documentation for similar work; 

 Average costs for similar work in the area; 

 Published unit costs from national cost estimating databases; and 

 FEMA cost codes. 

 

In performing work, applicants must adhere to all Federal, State, and local procurement 

requirements. An applicant may not receive funding from two Federal sources to repair disaster 

damage this is considered a duplication of benefits. Such a duplication of benefits is prohibited 

by the Stafford Act. A State disaster assistance program is not considered a duplication of 

Federal funding. Insurance proceeds, donated grants from banks, private organizations, trust 

funds, and contingency funds must be evaluated individually to determine whether they 

constitute a duplication of benefits. The eligible cost criteria referenced above apply to all direct 
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costs, including labor, materials, equipment, and contracts awarded for the performance of 

eligible work. 
 

The Public Assistance (PA) Program is administered through a coordinated effort between the FEMA, the 

State (grantee), and the applicants (sub grantees).  While all three entities must work together to meet 

the overall objective of quick, efficient, effective program delivery, each has a different role.  FEMA's 

primary responsibilities are to determine the amount of funding, participate in educating the applicant 

on specific program issues and procedures, assist the applicant with the development of projects, and 

review the projects for compliance. 

 
 

E.2 Technical Qualifications and Approach to Provide Debris Monitoring Services  
Debris Monitoring will be managed by our partner Louis Berger. Disaster-based response projects come 

in all shapes and sizes. Hurricanes, wildfires, ice storms, and even terrorist attacks are all within the 

response capability of the Louis Berger Emergency Management’s (EM) Response and Recovery Team.  

Our dedicated disaster specialists—including emergency management professionals, engineers and 

planners, GIS specialists, software developers, and scientists—remain ready for immediate deployment 

and service. 

Many of our disaster response contracts require us to hire and mobilize large numbers of workers to 

manage clean-up activities or provide rapid damage assessments. Our clients expect us to have capable 

workers in place within a very short period of time, and Louis Berger has a cadre of consultants/ 

independent contractors ready to supplement our staff. 
 

E.2.1   Management & Oversight 
Debris removal costs (FEMA Category A) will likely account for the 

majority of an applicant’s recovery expenditures, however, the 

amount of documentation and oversight needed to manage debris 

operations can become very burdensome very quickly. Our goal is to 

make the recovery process as organized and efficient as possible, 

while ensuring that the full amount of possible reimbursement and 

grant funding is received. 

Management Structure 
 

Louis Berger EM has utilized the Incident Command System (ICS) to aid in incident management 

activities. ICS is the combination of facilities, equipment, personnel, procedures, and communications 

operating within a common organizational structure; and is usually organized around four major 

functional areas, or units: Operations, Planning, Logistics, and Finance/ Administration. 

Each unit plays an important role in ensuring project success, and all are run by one, central Project 

Manager, who will be responsible for coordination of the entire project team.  Once activated, he or she 

will work with the logistics unit to mobilize staff and equipment; establish a field office; and begin 

determining staffing requirements for field resources, management, planning and mapping (GIS). 
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Operations Unit 

The Operations Chief manages and coordinates all field operations.  Reporting directly to the PM, the 

Operations Chief will activate all necessary 

subcontractors, work closely with logistics to deploy an 

appropriately sized workforce, and will act on behalf of 

the PM, as directed.  

Planning Unit 

The Planning Unit is responsible for all planning and 

record keeping on debris monitoring projects. With 

notification from the PM, the unit lead will begin 

contacting key staff and working with human resources 

to rapidly assemble a strong workforce.  

He or she will also develop an Incident Action Plan based 

on the project manager’s daily objectives, and ensure 

that the action plan is followed by tracking all personnel, 

producing daily reports as defined by the client, and 

producing any required mapping need to support the 

project. 

Logistics & Information Unit 

The Logistics lead is responsible for all project support 

services.  This includes securing lodging and 

transportation for project staff; providing all required 

materials; managing/ tracking all equipment; and 

coordinating the procurement and subsequent 

management of all office and administrative space 

required support the debris monitoring operation.  

Finance & Administration Unit 

This unit consists of a designated lead, plus staff, who will: 

 Initiate project documentation 

 Track all costs and all payments 

 Procure any required assets or supplies 

 Coordinate all personnel and management activities 

 Produce all invoices 

 Provide contract burn rate reports  

They will also work with the Planning Unit to coordinate staff augmentation with HR and start writing 

task orders. 

 

  

Project Manager  

Roles & Responsibilities 

 Client Point of Contact  
 

 Advise Client on operations issues  
 

 Ensure that all contract scope 
requirements are met in a timely 
manner 

 
 Responsible for financial 

performance  
 

 Communicate with all sections on 
status of the project, project 
changes, issues and resource needs 

 
 Attend and/or conduct meetings 

 
 Daily meetings with Operations 

Team to update employees 

 
 Approving subcontractor invoices 

(can be delegated to the Operations 

Chief) 
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Exhibit 12: Debris Operations Structure 
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Debris Planning 

A successful response and recovery effort begins with preparation. By implementing a comprehensive 

Debris Management Action Plan, applicants create the ability to address issues quickly and safely. At the 

University’s request, Louis Berger will develop and implement of a debris management plan that, among 

other things, identifies pre-selected temporary debris sites and pre-negotiates contractors for debris 

removal services.   

Furthermore, Louis Berger will lead an annual table-top exercise/ planning meeting –at no expense to 

the University- to help familiarize the staff with debris management and identify any areas of the plan 

that may be improved or adapted to current conditions.  

Deployment & Debris Kickoff Meeting 

The response phase for Louis Berger begins as soon as a potential threat is identified. The designated 

Project Manager will immediately contact the University’s representative and put Louis Berger staff on 

deployment stand-by.  

The Louis Berger team can mobilize and be on-site within 8 hours to begin assisting with the damage 

assessment and recovery effort. The project manager will meet with the University’s representatives will 

hold an initial project meeting to discuss the overall timeline of events.  

The initial project meeting is designed to determine the best course of action to safely and efficiently 

manage the response phase and transition to the recovery phase.  

After the Notice to Proceed, Louis Berger’s operations manager will begin locally sourcing field monitors 

and supervisors. These individuals will receive intensive training in all aspects of FEMA debris eligibility 

as well as standard safety protocol.  This thorough training will ensure they are able to verify the eligibly 

of all debris collected.   

At Louis Berger, we firmly believe that local hires provide the most cost-effective measure to complete 

the contract requirements while positively impacting the local economy after an event.  

Field Offices  

Maintaining an operations field office is essential for conducting an efficient operation.  It will serve as a 

base of operations and a central location for daily meetings and document storage.  In some instances, 

one central office will suffice.  In other, more geographically diverse contract areas, multiple field offices 

will have to be established, usually by sector.   

During its yearly planning meeting with the University, Louis Berger will review options for possible field 

offices and create an implementation plan for possible use of that space. Procurement and/or location of 

a field office will be coordinated with the logistics staff. 

E.2.2      Documentation & Reimbursement  
Thorough documentation is required at every phase of the debris removal process.  From the equipment 

certification and initial collection phase, to the temporary debris storage or reduction (TDSR) site and 

the final disposal site – every load must be documented using a system of standard paperwork 

recognized by the industry and by FEMA.   
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This documentation is used by the University to apply for 

reimbursement from FEMA.  Without it, even reimbursement for 

removal of eligible debris can be at risk.  This makes debris 

monitoring an essential element of any response operation.  Louis 

Berger’s monitoring team, project management and data entry staff 

will work with the University, the debris removal contractor, and 

with FEMA in order to: 

 Ensure that all debris loaded into the truck is eligible. 
 

 Complete all truck and equipment certifications and 

associated paperwork. 
 

 Assist the trucking company with safe operation and the protection of life and property. 

(It is the trucking company’s responsibility to provide safe working conditions for its workers 

and to ensure the safety of the general public. If unsafe working conditions are observed, it 

may be necessary for the Debris Monitor to stop debris pick-up until safe working conditions 

are provided.)  
 

 Document all loads hauled for FEMA-reimbursement purposes through the use of load 

tickets. These will be used by the applicant to request reimbursement from FEMA and/or 

the state. 
 

 Ensure the accuracy of data. Debris monitors will be held personally responsible for the 

accuracy of all loading data on the ticket. Inaccurate or missing data will be cause for 

termination of the Debris Monitor. Accuracy of load tickets is critical! 
 

 Report illegal practices or other activities that could affect debris eligibility. 

 
 Track progress of the debris removal crew and report cleared roads to the field supervisor.  

 

On-Site Data Entry 

In order to satisfy contract and FEMA grant requirements, each TDSR site will be equipped for data entry 

and data management activities. A company-issued laptop computer loaded with the standard Louis 

Berger software will be provided, along with internet access, a printer, a scanner, and electricity. The 

TDSR data entry staff will enter load tickets into Louis Berger’s database throughout the course of the 

workday, in accordance with the process presented in Exhibit 13:  
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Quality Control will be staffed in an alternate location known as the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

The Planning Chief will retain access to the current database in order to produce client reports. 

Load Tickets 

The loading of storm-related debris into certified vehicles must be physically witnessed by a debris 

monitor and documented through the use of a load ticket. Load tickets are multi-part carbon tickets that 

contain various pieces of information about the load.   

Load tickets will be created at the initial loading site by the field monitor.  Depending upon the number of 

carbon copies supplied, the field/ load monitor may keep the bottom copy of the ticket once it has been 

completed.  He or she will then give the remaining copies to the truck driver when the driver leaves the 

loading site. (If there are four or less copies, the entire ticket may need to be handed to the driver. The 

employee should check with his/her field supervisor or PM to determine ticket-copy handling methods.) 

At the TDRS site, the tower monitor will document the truck’s arrival; provide one copy of the ticket to 

the truck driver; and return one remaining copy to the Louis Berger office. A minimum of one copy of each 

ticket must be delivered to the Louis Berger office on a daily basis. Generally, runners are provided during 

the day to retrieve tickets so those tickets can be reviewed for accuracy and input into Louis Berger’s 

database. 

All monitors will be trained on how to fill out a load ticket and daily reports. This will be an essential part 

of the monitor training, and each trainee will be given a sample of a completed load ticket and daily report, 

along with the employee handout packet. 

Exhibit 13:  Daily Data Work Flow 

 

Each ticket is scanned.  The resulting PDF file is named in accordance to the ticket’s ID number and all 
PDFs for that day are saved in a specified folder on the network drive.

Data from all load tickets will be entered into Louis Berger's database.

The tower monitor will routinely bring the accumulated load tickets to the TDSR site's data entry 
location.

Load ticket is collected by the tower monitor.
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Reporting 

Throughout the term of this contract award, and especially 

during an emergency event, Louis Berger will provide the 

University regular reports in the form of daily briefings, 

meetings, and written reports (or as frequently as is needed).  

The University will always be updated on the status of the 

subcontractor invoice review process and the amount of 

debris moving in and out of the temporary debris storage and 

reduction (TDSR) sites, as well as final reports on all activates 

at the end of the project.  

Equipment Certification 

Before a truck can be sent into the field to begin collecting 

debris, debris monitors must certify it and give it a unique 

number. It is extremely important that the truck number is 

not duplicated for multiple trucks! Retaining distinctive 

numbers for each truck is the only way that a load can be 

tracked to the individual truck certifications. The following 

steps are involved in the process for certifying trucks: 

 

 Equipment Certification Checklist - Checklist for each 
vehicle that includes driver’s license and insurance 
information and requires a brief safety check of the 
vehicle. Trucks that do not meet the requirements of 
the checklist will not be allowed to work until those 
trucks are brought into compliance. 

 Equipment Certification Form – Monitor will perform 
a a volume calculation using the formula: height X 
width X length, ensuring that any reductions (e.g., 
hydraulic cylinders, tapers, and sideboards) are 
included in that calculation. If unsure about a 
measurement, truck number, or volume calculation, he/she should ask their field supervisor. For 
this certification, the employee will include a photograph for documentation purposes.  

 Assign a Truck Number - A new and unique truck number will be assigned to each vehicle, based 
on the updated truck log. Improperly labeled trucks are a leading cause of confusion in the field 
and in the project office.  If a truck is re-certified, the employee will issue it a new, unique number 
based upon the latest certification log. The employee shall not change digits within existing truck 
numbers.  

 Truck Identification Placard - Using a permanent marker, the employee should write the truck 
number on a minimum of one blank placard (i.e., a large white sticker). The employee shall place 
the placard on the driver’s side of the trailer (not the truck itself). 

 Driver’s Documentation - The employee shall provide the truck driver with the pink copy of the 
completed certification sheet. The employee should keep the white and yellow copies of all 
certifications in a central and secure location. The certifications must be delivered to the project 
office with the load tickets each day. 

 

Required Information for 

All Load Tickets 

 

 

Loading Location: 
 
 Client/ Applicant Name 
 Trucking Company 
 Certified Capacity (generally in 

cubic yards) 
 Drivers full name 
 Loading date and time  
 Specific loading location 
 Sector/ zone (i.e., area on the 

map debris was collected) 
 Type of debris 
 Field monitor/ inspector name 

and signature  
 

Temporary Debris Storage & 
Reduction Site:  
 
 Percent Load Call – based on a 

judgment call from a trained 
tower monitor 

 Disposal Date and Time 
 Disposal Location 
 Tower Monitor’s Full  Name 
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Photo Documentation 

All field activities will be thoroughly photographed.  This many include, as discussed in the RFP, aerial 

photography necessary to capture the full extent of the damage.  All monitors will be provided with field 

cameras in order to carry out this task, and will catalogue all pictures (daily) in order to maintain accurate 

records of where each was taken.  These photographs are crucial to the University for reimbursement 

purposes.  Field monitors will also provide photographs of any special circumstances such as hazardous 

stumps, dangerously leaning trees and hanging limbs. 

E.2.3.   Field Collection Monitoring        

Eligible & Ineligible Debris  

The cost of a debris removal operation will only be reimbursed by FEMA if 

the operation is conducted in compliance with the client contract, and 

meets FEMA’s eligibility criteria. Louis Berger will ensure that all operations 

are compliant, and that compliance is properly documented. 

 Eligible debris is generally debris that was generated by a presidentially-

declared disaster; located within a designated disaster area; the legal 

responsibility of the applicant; and presents an immediate threat to life, 

improved property, or public safety.  (Eligibility is further outlined in the 

Code of Federal Regulations as well as the FEMA Public Assistance Guide 

(FEMA 322) and Debris Management Guide (FEMA 325)).   

An applicant can authorize debris removal to the extent it chooses, 

however, if ineligible debris is removed those operations will not be reimbursed. Moreover, if ineligible 

debris is removed, and it cannot be distinguished from eligible debris, funding for the eligible debris 

removal may be placed in jeopardy as well.   

Right-of-Way Monitoring 

The term "right-of-way" (ROW) refers to publicly-owned and/or -maintained property including 

roadways and along the edge of roadways. A general rule for determining the right-of-way available for 

debris stacking is 15 feet outside of the edge of pavement. Other ways to identify the edge of rights-of-

way include: back of sidewalk to back of sidewalk, or between publicly-owned fence lines. 

Debris should be separated by the homeowner at the curb prior to pick-up. This allows similar materials 

to be reduced at the temporary disposal site and recycled, burned, or disposed. Unless otherwise 

indicated by the field supervisor in charge, materials that have not been separated should not be picked 

up. (For example, vegetative debris should not be mixed with construction and demolition debris.) 

Monitors will be informed about when mixed or non-separated debris can be picked up. 
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Field Staff 

Applicants are responsible for monitoring all aspects of a 

debris removal operation and meticulously documenting that 

oversight to substantiate their grant claims. Louis Berger’s 

debris monitors/ supervisors will serve as the applicant’s 

representative in the field, ensuring that contracts are 

adhered to, and that operations are efficient and safe.   

Our goal is to hasten recovery and help the University achieve 

the full reimbursement requested, and the most fundamental 

way we have of maximizing reimbursement is providing a 

clean and efficient field operation. Monitors and supervisors 

will be able to begin monitoring within 24 hours of an event, 

and many of the positions listed below require working 

outside for the entire work day. Personnel are sometimes 

required to work 7 days a week and in excess of 12 hours 

each day. 

Field Supervisor 
 

The field supervisor is Louis Berger’s first line of management. These individuals are familiar with all 

phases of a debris management operation and the rules and regulations that govern eligibility.  Their 

primary function is to oversee and coordinate the daily activities of the debris monitors, but they will also: 

 

 Make unannounced visits to all loading/ disposal sites 

 Prepare a daily written report. 

 Resolving eligibility and safety issues (and any other conflicts in the field) 

 See that photo documentation of all activities is taking place 

 Collect daily logs from monitors 

 Tabulate truck load data, and  

 Stay in constant communication with the operations manager 

 

Loading Site/ Collection Monitors  

The primary function of the monitors is to supervise the debris removal contractor and verify that only 

eligible debris is being collected. To do this, monitors will be distributed throughout the contract area to 

monitor each and every debris removal crew and accurately document all activities by:  

 Initiating load tickets  

 Estimate of volume of each load 

 Certifying trucks and equipment 

 Photographing all activities 

 Drafting reports on safety issues or contractor non-compliance 

 

Core Functions for All Field Staff 
 

 Differentiating between debris 

types  

 Completing accurate load tickets 

 Understanding and implement 

safety procedures  

 Effectively communicating with one 

another and with management   

 Understanding of all phases of a 

debris operation  

 Accurately assessing debris 

quantities  

 Understanding the pertinent debris 

removal contract and acting 

accordingly. 
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As discussed above, monitors will be trained to verify eligibility based on FEMA regulations and contract 

requirements.  They will also be trained on all safety measures (responsible for shutting down 

operations if safety procedures are not being followed).  

 

 Citizen Drop-Off Site Monitors.  Certain personnel will be assigned to monitor activities at citizen drop-

off sites, and to accurately document the type of debris brought into the site, and information on the 

person(s) who brought it.   

 

Equipment.  Once trained, monitors will be equipped, as necessary with vehicles, cameras, computers, 

communication devices, and any other equipment necessary to perform their monitoring tasks.   

 

E.2.4   Temporary Debris Storage & Reduction Sites 
Once collected from a public right-of-way or other eligible location, 

debris is typically taken to temporary debris & storage reduction (TDSR) 

site, selected by the applicant, for reduction and eventual transport to a 

final disposal site. These sites are usually pre-selected by the applicant 

and located in close proximity to potential high-impact areas (in order to 

minimize the long-distance hauling of un-compacted debris and 

considerably reduce the cost to the applicant). 

 

Site Permits.  Louis Berger will work with the University to acquire the 

necessary permits for any TDSR site.  This can occur both before and 

after an event, but because the selection and placement of such sites can drastically affect overall project 

efficiency, Louis Berger recommends that the University do as much in advance as possible.   To that end, 

we can assist with site selection, and/or evaluate the effectiveness of pre-selected sites, and advise on 

how to procure the appropriate legal documentation. 

 

Furthermore, we will assist in collecting the required baseline data for each site, in order to expedite the 

timely closure following any debris operations, and if needed, provide environmental scientists to conduct 

soil sampling.  

 

Site Plans.  Louis Berger’s expert debris staff will develop site plans for each permitted site.  Such plans 

include:  

 Placement of monitoring towers 

 Ingress and egress routes 

 Buffer zones 

 Holding areas for hazardous wastes and ash 

 Areas for debris reduction 

 Security plan 

 



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
48 

 

Additionally, we will work on behalf of the University to preposition contracts for appropriate site work 

based on the approved site plan (could include site management or debris reduction services).  All plans 

will be created in conjunction with the University and will be subject to University approval. 

 

Debris Site/ Tower Monitors  

During an event, Louis Berger will assign tower monitors to each and every TDRS site.  These personnel 

will monitor site activities from an elevated position (e.g., scissor lift or debris tower).  From that vantage 

point, they will:  

 

 Estimate the volume of each truckload of debris 

 Record the time in/out 

 Verify calibration of scales 

 Document equipment details for each load 

 

They will also ensure that traffic disruption around the site is minimal, and help with logistics when 

necessary. 

 

Quality Assurance Tower Monitor. Each site will also have a quality control tower monitor to ensure 

compliance and provide additional oversight.  These individuals will be situated in towers to perform 

quality control checks on all loads passing in and out of a designated site.  Documentation of all load 

estimates will be recorded.   

 

Site Security.  Once identified, (ideally during the planning phase), Louis Berger will either verify existing 

security measures or establish access control and security at each TDSR site. If necessary, this will 

include providing security staff 

 

Prohibited Practices. Certain debris companies have, in the past, engaged in activities that could affect 

debris eligibility or that are illegal. This behavior not only jeopardizes FEMA reimbursement funding and 

other grant funds, it can be cause for legal action.  Examples of such behavior include: loading debris from 

locations beyond the contract area; writing unauthorized load tickets; failing to fully empty vehicle at the 

disposal location; stacking debris to convey the false appearance of a full load; or removing debris from 

private property without authorization.  Louis Berger’s monitors are well-trained to ensure that such 

practices are not tolerated. 

 

E.2.5   Other Related Services  
As discussed above, Louis Berger is capable of providing a wide variety of debris monitoring services, and 

our capabilities are scalable to meet the University’s needs, whatever they may be now or in the future.    

 

 Our disaster management team will work with the University on all aspects of the 

planning/preparation phase, including training of University personnel, and are ready to leap into 

action should a natural or manmade disaster impact any of its campuses.  
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 We have a large surge capacity that can be activated within 24-hours, and have established 

logistics protocols and procedures designed to expedite deployment. 

 

 In addition to standard right-of-way debris removal services, Louis Berger has procedures and 

protocols in place for efficient, cost-effective monitoring of debris removal from waterways. 

 

E.2.4   Contractor Personnel  
Louis Berger’s primary goal is to provide the highest quality services and products to our clients.  We are 

able to achieve this objective by carefully assigning the best-qualified personnel to each project. With 

this in mind, we have assembled an outstanding management team—one that we believe offers the 

University the best disaster recovery program support possible.   

As discussed above, our key staff positions will be filled by Louis Berger employees with years of 

experience working within the framework of the FEMA reimbursement program.  They are also 

intimately familiar with other state and federal agencies/departments, such as the Federal Highway 

Administration (FHWA), the Florida Department of Transpiration (FDOT), the Florida department of 

Environmental protection (FDEP), and others, due to their lengthy project histories and program 

experience. These individuals will be specifically identified in the annual operations report submitted to 

the University at the annual meeting, though will be drawn from the staff presented in Section C.   

In terms of field staff (also discussed above), Louis Berger will make every effort to locally source as 

much of the work as possible.  This serves two purposes.  First, such individuals are familiar with local, 

regional and statewide considerations that may influence the disaster recovery process.   Second, use of 

local labor dramatically reduces the cost to the applicant by cutting down on expenses. 
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F. PRICING FOR APPLICABLE LABOR 
 

F.1 Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Regular Labor Hours for Disaster 

Management Consulting Services 
Exhibit 14 presents the pricing table for the Disaster Management Consultant Services (Table B of 

Appendix V of the ITN).  We provide rates for the four identified labor categories from the Appendix.  In 

addition, we are offering additional options rates for SUS consideration to provide flexibility and to be 

able to address potential specific needs associated with recovery and related emergency management 

programs. 

Exhibit 14:  Table B.  Price Sheet For Consultant Services 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFCATON # Available Regular Hourly Rate** 

Principal 12 $220.00 

Project Supervisor >60 $160.00 

Project Coordinator >200 $105.00 

Administrative Support/Data Entry >500 $70.00 

Proposed Optional Labor Category and Rates  

Senior Damage Assessment Estimator >20 $125.00 

Damage Assessment Estimator >40 $115.00 

Senior Grant Management Specialist  >30 $120.00 

Grant Management Specialist >50 $110.00 

Senior Engineer/Planner/Analyst >300 $140.00 

Engineer/Planner/Analyst  >500 $120.00 
* - Regular hourly rates are inclusive of G&A, overhead, fringe and fee. No additional costs associated with Labor will be invoiced 

to SUS under any awarded contract.     

 

F.2 Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Overtime Labor Hours for Disaster 

Management Consulting Services 
Exempt employees will be paid straight time for all hours worked, based on terms and conditions of 

contract and State law.  Non-exempt employees will be paid time-and-a-half per Federal and/or State 

law and contract terms (Principals are exempt from this policy).  Exhibit 15 presents the labor category 

rates for overtime pay related to defined and optional labor categories.  

Exhibit 15:  Overtime Labor Category and Rates 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFCATON # Available Overtime Hourly Rate** 

Principal 12 $220.00 

Project Supervisor >90 $255.00 

Project Coordinator >200 $142.50 

Administrative Support/Data Entry >500 $105.00 

Proposed Optional Labor Category and Rates 

Senior Damage Assessment Estimator >20 $187.50 

Damage Assessment Estimator >40 $172.50 

Senior Grant Management Specialist  >30 $180.00 
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Exhibit 15:  Overtime Labor Category and Rates 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFCATON # Available Overtime Hourly Rate** 

Grant Management Specialist >50 $165.00 

Senior Engineer/Planner/Analyst >300 $210.00 

Engineer/Planner/Analyst  >500 $180.00 

 
F.3 Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Regular Labor Hours for Debris 

Monitoring (SOW at Attachment VIII) Services  
Exhibit 16 presents the pricing table for Debris Monitoring Services (Table D of Appendix VIII of the ITN).  

We provide rates for the four identified labor categories from the Appendix.   

Exhibit 16:  Table D.  Debris Monitoring Contractor Personnel Rates 

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION # Available Regular Hourly Rate* 

Project Manager 3 $87.00 

Field Supervisor >50 $47.00 

Field Monitor >500 $36.00 

TSDR Site Monitor >50 $36.00 

Debris Site Security >50 $55.00 

Data Entry >50 $36.00 
* - A $2.50 charge per labor hour would apply for the use of the Automated Debris Management System (ADMS) if and 
when requested by client. 

 

F.4 Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Overtime Labor Hours for Debris 
Monitoring (SOW at Attachment VIII) Services  

Exempt employees will be paid straight time for all hours worked, based on terms and conditions of 

contract and State law.  Non-exempt employees will be paid time-and-a-half per Federal and/or State 

law and contract terms [Principals (including Project Managers for this SOW area) are exempt from this 

policy].  Exhibit 17 presents the labor category rates for overtime pay related to defined and optional 

labor categories.  

Exhibit 17:  Table D.  Debris Monitoring Contractor Personnel Overtime Rates 

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION # Available Regular Hourly Rate* 

Project Manager** 3 $87.00 

Field Supervisor >50 $70.50 

Field Monitor >500 $54.00 

TSDR Site Monitor >50 $54.00 

Debris Site Security >50 $82.50 

Data Entry >50 $54.00 
* - A $2.50 charge per labor hour would apply for the use of the Automated Debris Management System (ADMS) if and 
when requested by client. 
**- PMs are exempt from overtime charging.  All PM hours will be billed straight time.   
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Cost Notes 
 
I. Overview 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting was formed in July, 2006.  The information provided here 
represents actual costs and build ups currently tracked by TBGC and represent an accurate model of 
true costs associated with the cost plan based on best available information.  TBGC maintains a full-
time accountant on staff and we apply industry standard DCAA-auditable accounting principles to build 
our cost models.  Fully loaded rates are based on actual review of previous year costs and are then 
modeled for future year based on actuals from previous year.  Adjustments are made on an annual 
basis, starting with the 2013 costs described in detail below. 

 
II. Direct Labor  

The rates used in the TBGC cost plan represent labor category rates built up from actual current payroll 
for all employees effective January 1, 2013.  Labor is based on actual labor costs of employees.  Hourly 
rates are rounded to the nearest cent. A raise factor or 2.5 percent of salaries has been included to 
cover the average salary increase.  TBGC fiscal year begins on January 1.  The current Period of 
Performance (PoP) for this work is contained within the given fiscal and calendar year.  Escalation for 
future years will be addressed in negotiations of the contract or at the time of new task orders or 
contract options being exercised.  

 
III. Indirect Labor:  Overhead (OH), General and Administrative (G&A) and Fringe 
Indirect Rates reflect the overhead and G&A costs based on TBGC accounting system in accordance with 
the FAR on total cost based on actual data prepared by our accounting department and audited by an 
outside accounting firm calculation.   Overhead is budgeted at 42 percent (.42) based upon provisional 
indirect cost rates. G&A costs are calculated at 18 percent (.18).  Fringe benefits are budgeted at 19 
percent of total labor costs (.19) in accordance with our cost accounting standards.   The OH and G&A 
discussed here focuses exclusively on TB/P full or part time “W2” employees.  We address consultant 
loads below. In addition, for debris monitoring SOW labor, a charge of $2.50 will be added when client 
requests use of the Automated Debris Management System (ADMS) to track debris monitoring. 
 
IV. Determining Labor Category Costs  

Labor category rates are based on a compilation and weighting of staff with criteria (knowledge, skills, 
abilities, experience and education, to include licenses and certifications, as appropriate).   Weightings 
are based on anticipated LOE of individuals within a given category.  In building labor category rates, all 
employees eligible within a category were used to establish a labor category baseline; however, once 
assigned to a labor category after award, any employee will be assigned a specific labor category with 
the exceptions of promotions additional education, etc., that would justify a move to a new, higher-
level labor category.   
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V. Fee 
An estimated nine percent (.09) fee is included in the buildup of all labor categories rates presented in 
this proposal.   
 
VI. Subcontractor and Consultants 
Subcontractor and consultants provided fully loaded direct labor costs to TBGC for the buildup for this 
cost estimate.  LBG is a registered federal contractor that has an extensive, audible history and 
maintains an established DCAA-auditable accounting standards and systems.   Soundside personnel are 
consumed through the LBG subcontract and associated rates are inclusive in LBGC inputs and category 
rate development. TBGC’s G&A (.03) and fee load (see above) are included in the fully loaded category 
rates.   
 
VII. Equipment  
Not applicable to these SOW areas.  Any incident- or institution-specific equipment needs will be 
defined at time of Task Order issuance and mutually agreed to, and associated costs or estimates will be 
provided at that time.    
 
VIII. Other Direct Costs  

ODCs are based on actual costs of supplies, resources, materials, etc. necessary for support of the 
scope of work. TBGC adds a ten percent G&A load on ODCs.   

 
IX. Travel 
TBGC maintains a policy to use commercially available coach passenger fares for all business travel and 

to apply government allowed per-diem to establish travel cost estimates as necessary.  We follow 

FEMA-issued waivers and guidance for addressing travel when in a disaster situation and when 

conditions warrant.  

 

F.3 Items and Services to be billed on a Volumetric or a Quantity Basis  
Not applicable for disaster management consulting or debris monitoring services. 
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G. PRICING FOR APPLICABLE EQUIPMENT     
 

G.1 Pricing Table for All Applicable Equipment Needed to Response to Disasters 
No equipment is anticipated as required for support for disaster management consulting and debris 

monitoring Services. 

 

G.2 Quantities of Each Applicable Piece of Applicable Equipment that is Available 

No equipment is anticipated as required for support for disaster management consulting and debris 

monitoring Services. 
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H. EQUIPMENT AVAILABILITY 

 

H.1 Owned and/or Pre-existing Leased Equipment/Contracts in Place  
The TBGC Team has all necessary equipment for supporting disaster management consulting services.  

Such equipment and supplies are standard professional resources such as cell phones, laptop 

computers, etc.  There are no charges to the client for such items under the consulting SOW area as any 

initial costs for standard equipment are incorporated into the G&A as part of the buildup for our rates. 

Non-routine equipment needs will be determined, as necessary, at time of task order 

development/issuance and specific or unique equipment needs will be defined and documented at that 

time for SUS approval.  

In regards to debris monitoring, standard deployment resources (e.g., personal protective clothes), are 

incorporated into G&A burden of our proposed rates.  As are the referenced standard equipment noted 

for disaster consulting services (e.g., laptops, cell phones, etc.).   

H.2 Supplemental or Additional Equipment Inventory   
For purposes of disaster management consulting services and debris monitoring, we do not anticipate 

the need for supplemental or additional equipment inventory.  On a case-by-case basis, we will work 

with SUS institutions to determine any other supplemental or additional equipment needs at time of 

task order issuance and seek approval for such equipment and associated costs. 

H.3 Estimate Mobilization Time  
Under both disaster management consulting services and debris monitoring, the TBGC Team can have 

initial core team deployments conducted within 24 hours of an activation or as requested or required by 

an SUS institution under an active task order.  The definition of “core team” will be agreed to at time of 

task order issuance; however, for planning purposes, we define this to mean the initial management and 

assessment teams to determine scope and requirements for a specific incident.  We anticipate being 

able to deploy a fully engaged team of debris monitors within 96 hours of an incident.  
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Attachment A:  Required Forms 
 

This attachment provides the requested signed forms associated with the ITN.  We provide the forms for 

both TBGC and our subcontractors Louis Berger and Soundside. 
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CERTIFICATE HOLDER

© 1988-2010 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

ACORD 25 (2010/05)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

CANCELLATION

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LOCJECT
PRO-

POLICY

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

OCCURCLAIMS-MADE

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

GENERAL LIABILITY

PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $
DAMAGE TO RENTED

EACH OCCURRENCE $

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

$RETENTIONDED

CLAIMS-MADE

OCCUR

$

AGGREGATE $

EACH OCCURRENCE $UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/YYYY) LIMITS

WC STATU-
TORY LIMITS

OTH-
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

$

$

$

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

(Mandatory in NH)
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

ALL OWNED SCHEDULED

HIRED AUTOS
NON-OWNED

AUTOS AUTOS

AUTOS

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

PROPERTY DAMAGE $

$

$

$

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
ADDL

WVD
SUBR

N / A

$

$

(Ea accident)

(Per accident)

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to

the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the

certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

INSURED

PHONE
(A/C, No, Ext):

PRODUCER

ADDRESS:
E-MAIL

FAX
(A/C, No):

CONTACT
NAME:

NAIC #

INSURER A :

INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

Garon King
Highlight

Garon King
Highlight

Garon King
Highlight

Garon King
Cross-Out
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Attachment B:  Resumes of Designated/Key 
Personnel 
 
This attachment presents select resumes of designated key staff.  Key staff are defined as professionals 

on our team with designated managerial or senior technical positions on our team that will serve as the 

primary service providers under any awarded contract.   
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DANIEL A. CRAIG, MBA 
President 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Daniel A. Craig is the President of Tidal Basin 

Government Consulting, LLC, a national consulting 

firm specializing in supporting governments with 

their pre- and post-disaster recovery programs. 

Tidal Basin works with state and local 

governments, and not-for-profits, helping them 

meet their recovery needs by providing 

experienced disaster recovery staff and proven 

grant management processes.  

 

Daniel served as Director of the Recovery Division 

for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, 

part of the United States Department of Homeland 

Security. He was appointed by President Bush in 

2003 and was responsible for overseeing the 

Federal government's recovery efforts on all 

Presidential declared events including the Space 

Shuttle Columbia crash, the wildfires of 2003, and 

the hurricanes of 2004 and 2005. 

 

Before being the Director of the Recovery Division 

at FEMA, he was the Regional Director for the New 

England area (Region I), where he was responsible 

for all FEMA mitigation, preparedness, response 

and recovery, and training activities in the six New 

England state region. Mr. Craig was also Executive 

Director of the Eastern Regional Office at the 

United States Chamber of Commerce and a 

Legislative Representative and Grassroots 

Specialist for the National Rural Electric 

Cooperative Association. There he handled issues 

of federal emergencies, transportation, technology, 

privacy and energy. 

 

Dan served on the Board of Directors of Beck 

Disaster Recovery and formerly served on the 

Board of Directors for the Charter Oak Chapter of 

the Red Cross (Hartford, CT), and the Boston Federal Executive Board. He was formerly the 

Governor’s representative to the American Red Cross’ Board of Governors and on the Board of 

Advisors for Boston University’s emergency management certificate program. 

 

 

EDUCATION 

Bachelor of Arts in Political Science, 1993 
Purdue University West Lafayette, Indiana 
 
Masters of Business Administration, 2008 
West Lafayette, Indiana 
 
Masters of Business Administration, 2009 
Central European University, Budapest, 
Hungary 
 

ACHEIVEMENTS AND AWARDS 
Beck Disaster Recovery, Inc. Board of 
Directors, Board Member  
Orlando, Florida November 2006 – April 2009 
 
American Red Cross, National Board of 
Governors, Governor Representative 
Washington, District of Columbia  
February 2004 – October 2005 
 
American Red Cross, Charter Oak Chapter 
Board of Directors, Board Member 
Farmington, Connecticut October 2002 – 
February 2004 

Greater Boston Federal Executive Board, 
Board of Directors, Board Member October 
2001 – October 2003 
Homeland Security Committee, Chairman 
November 2002 – October 2003 
 
Recipient of the Chairman’s Award for 
Leadership May 2003 
 
Boston University Board of Advisors, 
Emergency Management Program 
Boston, Massachusetts May 2004 – June 2006 
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Earlier in his career, Mr. Craig worked as a campaign advisor, political fundraiser and research 

analyst for Congressional candidates including Rep. Steve Buyer of Indiana, Rep. Vito Fossella 

of New York and Governor Bob Riley of Alabama.  

 

WORK HISTORY: 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting, LLC President and Co-founder Founder and President of consulting firm 

which specializes in government consulting for local and state governments related disaster recovery, focusing on 

FEMA recovery programs. Manage the firms various projects, ensuring client’s programs meet expectations, budget 

and overall goals.  Expert in government affairs related to the U.S. Congress and Federal agencies. Oversee the 

firm’s administrative and financial functions. 

Disaster Recovery Contractors Association, Chairman of the Board Founded trade association which represents 

private sector companies in the emergency management industry before the media, U.S. Congress, Executive 

Branch agencies, and the Administration.  Association works with FEMA to ensure private sector participation in 

disaster relief as a measure to control costs and improve quality. 

United States Department of Homeland Security Federal Emergency Management Agency Director, Recovery 

Division Appointed by President George W. Bush as Director of Recovery for the Department of Homeland Security 

on October 25, 2003.  Responsible for the management of a division with peak staff of nearly 7200 in 15 permanent 

and 30 temporary locations.  Lines of business which directly reported include: customer service and processing 

centers, home inspection services, temporary housing, public property repair/restoration, individual assistance grant 

program and quality assurance & evaluation. In 2004, division obligated more than $5.4 billion to individual victims 

and public sector for damages from more than 120 Presidential declared disasters, emergencies and fires, while 

processing more than 2.5 million applications from victims through its National Disaster Processing Centers.  

Oversaw Federal government recovery efforts from the destruction caused by the major hurricanes of 2004.  

Director, Department of Homeland Security FEMA Region I, Boston, Massachusetts Appointed by President 

George W. Bush in September 2001 and sworn-in as Regional Director for the New England Area, October 8, 2001.  

Responsible for all FEMA recovery, mitigation, preparedness, response and training activities in the six state New 

England Region.  Managed 85 full-time staff and 350 disaster reserve staff while overseeing the re-organization of 

FEMA response, recovery and PTE staff. Established new employee assessment, development and recruiting 

programs after NLRB oversight of an AFGE no vote for unionizing regional employees.  Developed a regional 

strategic plan to accomplish national priorities and goals, including new regional initiatives to the private sector and 

key stakeholders. Ordered and oversaw full scale regional COOP of staff due multi-month event with regional office.  

United States Chamber of Commerce Executive Director, Eastern Regional Office Stamford, Connecticut 

Managed the Stamford based regional office for the world’s largest business federation, which represents more than 

3 million businesses of all sizes.  Responsible for legislative, political, chamber-member, corporate-member, and 

media initiatives of U.S. Chamber in New England, New York, New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland, and West Virginia.  

Re-established the U.S. Chamber’s relationships with Corporate Members, Chambers of Commerce Members and 

Trade Association Members after the Eastern Regional Office had been closed for four years.  Established a regional 

grassroots network and a regional government affairs committee to accomplish the organization’s political and 

legislative goals. 

National Rural Electric Cooperative Association Legislative Representative Arlington, Virginia Responsible for 

lobbying Capitol Hill and the Administration on issues key to the Washington-based electric cooperative trade 

association.  Directly handled the issues of Electric Restructuring, Transportation, Emerging Technologies, Federal 

Emergency Funding, and Privacy.  Provided issue briefings on legislation to Internal Staff, National Directors, and 

Member Organizations. 



Tidal Basin Government Consulting Proposal to Support UCF/SUS 
July, 2013 Disaster Recovery Services 
 

* Proprietary Information * For Proposal Evaluation Purposes Only * Not for Distribution * 
B-5 

 

Grassroots Specialist Arlington, Virginia Educated and trained key contacts and advocates on how to develop a 

grassroots advocacy network in their electric cooperatives.  Recruited key contacts for a nationwide grassroots 

system.  Developed a training course to teach cooperative directors, employees and activists how to become a 

“citizen lobbyist”.  Participated in weekly PAC meetings to help determine political and financial strategy.  Developed 

and coordinated NRECA sponsored training schools for candidates for public office.  Promoted to Legislative 

Representative in January 2000. 
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JAMES J. SCHUMANN, J.D. 
Vice President 

Role on this Project:  Compliance 

Specialist 

 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

James began working in emergency management 

in late 2002 in FEMA’s Office of Legislative Affairs.  

James became the Director of Legislative Affairs 

with FEMA’s transition into the Department of 

Homeland Security.  As the Director of Legislative 

Affairs, James was responsible for all of FEMA’s 

interactions with the U.S. Congress and he 

oversaw a staff of eighty at headquarters, in 

regional offices and in the field during disasters.  

James worked closely with each FEMA program 

office in order to craft messages regarding their 

activities and budgets for dissemination to the 

Congress in hearings and congressional staff 

briefings.  James was responsible for FEMA’s 

interaction with nine Congressional committees 

with jurisdiction over FEMA and he served as the 

lead with the Appropriations Committees for FEMA’s annual budget.  James helped negotiate 

the details of the $8 billion supplemental appropriation for the 2004 hurricanes and the $60 

billion supplemental appropriation for hurricane Katrina.  In disasters, James coordinated 

headquarters and field operations to ensure FEMA’s Congressional committees, Members of 

Congress and their staffs understood how FEMA’s programs operated and the degree and 

scope of assistance their constituents and communities were receiving.  James left his position 

at FEMA in December 2005.  Since leaving FEMA, James has worked with state agencies, local 

governments, not-for-profits and private businesses in disaster recovery operations and pre-

event preparedness activities.  Prior to working at FEMA, James worked for on Capitol Hill as a 

Senior Counsel to the Committee on Government Reform (1997-2002) and for Congressman 

Toby Roth as a Legislative Assistant (1995-1996).   

 

WORK HISTORY: 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting, LLC - Vice President - Guides diverse client base on 
programs, grants and reimbursements from the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) and the Department of Homeland Security (DHS). Assisted clients in receiving over $40 
million in FEMA Public Assistance and mitigation grants, including debris removal, emergency 
protective measures and permanent work. Advise clients on interpretation and application of 
FEMA laws, regulations and policies and past practices. Counsel clients on FEMA 
administrative requirements, specifically documentation, deadlines and procedures. Work with 
clients pre-disaster to facilitate FEMA disaster assistance and ensure preparedness, including 
procurement, recordkeeping and eligibility issues. Aid clients in framing reimbursement issues 
and advocate their positions to FEMA field, regional and headquarters staff and leadership. 
Oversee field staff, ensure accuracy of reporting and administrative requirements and engage 

FIRM:  TBGC 

 

EDUCATION 

Juris Doctor, Saint Louis University School 
of Law, St. Louis, Missouri, May 1994 

Midwest Regional Champion, Jessup 
International Moot Court Competition 

Graduate of International Law Program 

Bachelor of Arts, Marquette University, 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin May 1990 

 

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATIONS & 
AFFILIATIONS 

Security clearance – Top Secret, February 
2003 – December 2005 

Admitted to practice law in Illinois and the 
District of Columbia 
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Congressional staff, FEMA and Executive Branch staff on pending, relevant legislation, 
emergency management policies and disaster specific situations. 
 
Akerman Senterfitt - Of Counsel - Advised firm clients on homeland security and emergency 
management issues. Wrote FEMA Public Assistance appeals and assisted clients with debris 
management and monitoring issues. Provided guidance on FEMA policies and assisted local 
governments and not-for-profits on appeals and FEMA reimbursement procedures. 
 
Department of Homeland Security (DHS), Office of Legislative Affairs - Director, Office of 
Legislative Affairs, FEMA/DHS - Advised DHS Assistant Secretary for Legislative Affairs and 
FEMA Director on legislation and Congressional strategy. Led FEMA's appropriations process 
before Congress for annual multi-billion dollar budget and supplemental appropriations, 
including $8.5 billion following the four Florida hurricanes in 2004 and $60 billion for Hurricane 
Katrina. Directed communications with nine committees of jurisdiction on legislation and 
managed preparations for over forty hearings. Guided reauthorization of seven FEMA programs 
through Congress working with various FEMA program staffs. Supervised staff of eighty 
employees at headquarters, regional offices and disaster field offices and managed the work-
flow process between Legislative Affairs and all FEMA program offices. Oversaw hundreds of 
Congressional briefings and Congressional notifications for over $4 billion in grant awards to 
individuals and state and local governments. Coordinated Congressional strategy with other 
DHS Directorates, the Office of Management and Budget and the White House. Led integration 
of FEMA legislative staff into the DHS Office of Legislative Affairs and managed coordination of 
FEMA Legislative Affairs responsibilities and processes with DHS component legislative affairs 
offices. 
 
U.S. House of Representatives - Committee on Government Reform Senior Counsel 
Investigative - Attorney Supervised committee counsels and professional staff on 
investigations and oversight responsibilities. Investigated political contributions, financial crimes, 
and foreign involvement in political campaigns. Prepared briefing materials for Members of 
Congress and staff for hearings. Wrote sections of the committee’s campaign finance and U.S. 
Department of Justice oversight reports. Conducted depositions and interviews of witnesses 
and drafted investigative and oversight plans and interrogatories. 
 
U.S. House of Representatives, Congressman Toby Roth - Legislative Assistant - 
Developed policies and analyzed legislation relating to foreign affairs, trade, tourism and the 
civil service. Prepared briefing materials for the Congressman on legislation and meetings with 
interest groups and constituents. Conducted briefings as the Staff Director for the 303 Member 
Travel and Tourism Caucus. 
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Chuck McLendon 

Senior Project Manager 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY: 

Mr. McLendon has been providing solid waste, disaster 

recovery, grant management, and utility / public works 

consulting services to local governments in Florida for more 

than 22 years.  He has managed recovery efforts for many of 

the state’s largest disaster events including Hurricane 

Charley, Frances, and Jeanne (2004), Hurricane Ivan 

(2004), Hurricane Dennis (2005), Hurricane Wilma (2005), 

and the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill that impacted the 

Florida Panhandle.  Mr. McLendon is highly regarded for his 

ability to quickly problem solve and provide local 

governments with turn-key field environmental and 

infrastructure services in times of critical need.  

 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 

Santa Rosa County, Florida - Hurricane Dennis, 2005 

Following the landfall of Hurricane Dennis near Navarre (FL) in 2005, Mr. McLendon served as 

Principal in Charge for Beck Disaster Recovery in providing debris monitoring services to Santa 

Rosa County, Florida.  Mr. McLendon ensured that the company met it contractual obligations in 

terms of supplying field monitors, accurately recording and compiling project field data, and 

other aspects of the project.  

 

Santa Rosa County, Florida - Solid Waste Franchising Assessment, 2003 

Mr. McLendon led a study of Santa Rosa County’s options to organize solid waste collection 

services in the County.  At the time, the County had an open system whereby any licensed 

hauler could provide collection services in the County.  For many neighborhoods, this meant 3 

to 4 companies offering services and running trucks down streets.  State statute required the 

County to follow specific guidelines in order to implement franchised solid waste collection in the 

County.  Mr. McLendon prepared an analysis of the pros and cons of system modifications as 

well as the legal steps the County would have to go through to organize collection.   

 

Santa Rosa County, FL - Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill, 2010 

Mr. McLendon provided miscellaneous field and consulting services to Santa Rosa County 

during the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill.  He assisted the County Engineer in developing an RFP 

document to procure a containment boom contractor.  In addition, Mr. McLendon maintained a 

field environmental team on standby to survey Navarre beach for oil and provide other field 

services as requested by the County. 

South Broward Drainage District -  FEMA Appeal, 2007 

Mr. McLendon led an effort to assist the South Broward Drainage District with a $1.8 million 

dollar FEMA deobligation associated with erosion surrounding several holding ponds 

maintained by the South Broward Drainage District.  The erosion occurred following high wave 

 
Education 

Bachelor of Science 

Florida State University 

1991 

  

Professional Affiliations 

Past affiliations with DRCA and 

SWANA. 
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action during Hurricane Wilma.  After numerous meetings with District engineers and FEMA, 

FEMA ultimately reimbursed the District for their full cost of repairs. 

 

 

State of Vermont -  Disaster Grant Management, 2010 

Following the landfall of Hurricane Irene in 2010, the State of Vermont experienced catastrophic 

flooding.  Issues arose surrounding the eligibility of debris removal surrounding streams and 

various other waterways in the State.  Mr. McLendon was consulted on the formulation of a 

response to FEMA regarding the eligibility of these debris removal activities. 

 

Numerous Clients -  Disaster Grant Management, 2000 and continuing 

Over the last 13 years that Mr. McLendon has been actively engaged in the disaster recovery 

field, he has routinely been involved in the disaster grant management process.  Tasks that he 

routinely performed include preparing preliminary damage assessments, assembling data for 

project worksheet formulation, preparing bid documents in compliance with FEMA protocols, 

and drafting and managing FEMA appeals processes.   In addition to the clients listed above, 

Mr. McLendon was actively involved in the grant management process for Escambia County 

(FL), Galveston (TX), Dare County (NC), Jefferson Parish (LA), Hollywood (FL), New Orleans 

(LA), and literally dozens of other cities and counties across the United States. 
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LOIS ANN COPELAND 
 
EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Lois Ann Copeland is a Public Assistance Policy 
Specialist with TBGC with a primary focus and 
expertise in Public Assistance Grants 
Management, as well as Accounting and Audit 
Support.  Her specific skillset enables her to 
develop programmatic and financial reporting tools 
to efficiently and effectively track, maintain, and 
manage project data.   

Before accepting a position with TBGC, Lois 
assisted the City of New Orleans’ Chief 
Administrative Office staff in managing and 
administering FEMA Public Assistance Program 
funding under Hurricanes Katrina, Gustav, and 
Isaac.  She worked closely with CNO staff, as well 
as State and Federal liaisons, to retrospectively 
review, validate, and recommend scope and cost 
alignment adjustments that ultimately resulted in 
maximized funding to the City for its Katrina and 
Gustav disaster recovery projects. 

Prior to her work at CNO, she was deployed as a FEMA Public Assistance Coordinator in both 
Louisiana and Texas, where she assisted applicants with project formulation,  eligibility 
determinations, and recommendations based on FEMA Public Assistance policy, federal and 
state regulations, and disaster specific guidance. 

WORK HISTORY: 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting, Dillard University, New Orleans, LA-Public 
Assistance Policy Specialist 

 Develops and implements strategies and procedures necessary to successfully aid client in 
closing out Hurricane Katrina project worksheets by analyzing potential risk factors and 
forensically compiling  project worksheet data related to scope of work, insurance allocations, 
procurement documentation, and cost information 

 Develops and submits Improved and Alternate Project requests as appropriate 

 Develops methodologies and analyses packages for Direct Administrative Costs—past, 
present, and future expenditures 

 
Jacobs Engineering Group/CSRS Joint Venture:  (New Orleans Grants Management 
Group), New Orleans, LA-Accounting and Audit Support to the City of New Orleans 

 Developed programmatic and financial reporting tools to aid the client in tracking and 
maintaining Public Assistance Program project data  

 Assisted Capital Projects Team with scope and cost alignment adjustment and analyses for 
major completed Public Assistance Program projects 

 Assisted City of New Orleans’ Chief Administrative Office with addressing internal and 
external inquiries associated with program related financial and compliance audits 

EDUCATION 

Nicholls State University, Thibodaux, LA 
May 1988 Bachelors of Science in 
Accounting 

ADDITIONAL TRAINING AND 
CERTIFICATIONS 

FEMA Public Assistance Operations, 
Project Worksheet Development, and 
Hazard Mitigation Workshops  

Web Based Training Development and 
Technical Writing Certification, LA Tech 
University, Ruston, LA 

Candidate, Certified Public Accountant 
Exam (CPA), November 2013 
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 Assisted CNO internal Close-Out Team with developing close-out strategies and resolving 
close-out obstacles related to procurement, missing documentation, and scope and cost 
related issues 

 Acted in the capacity of Staff Accountant for Joint Venture 
 
URS Corporation, NISTAC Deployments:  Louisiana (Hurricanes Katrina, Rita, and Gustav) 
and Texas (Tropical Storm Dolly, Hurricanes Gustav and Ike)-FEMA Public Assistance 
Coordinator 

 Assisted applicants and State Liaisons with identifying disaster assistance needs, completing 
Project Worksheets, and answering program questions 

 Scheduled preliminary meetings with applicants and State Liaisons 
 

 

 Identified permanent and emergency work, special consideration issues, and  program 
requirements 

 Reviewed, updated, and maintained case management files 

 Set goals and objectives for assigned Project Specialists 

 Monitored disaster recovery team progress; addressed conflict issues; delegated 
assignments  

 Anticipated future consequences of decisions or actions; successfully administered internal 
and external creative problem solving techniques 

 Maintained consistent working relationships with applicants, State Liaisons, Project 
Specialists, and internal management personnel throughout deployment 

 Developed reporting tools and correspondence for monitoring staffing and project worksheet 
production 

 
Camp, Dresser, Mckee (CDM/Smith)/Waggoner Engineering Joint Venture (Louisiana 
Solutions, LLC), New Orleans, LA-Financial Lead 

 Provided financial project management assistance to State of Louisiana related to 
administering Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding to the City of New 
Orleans and Jefferson and Plaquemines Parishes 

 Assisted State and grant recipients in the effective and expeditious implementation of the 
CDBG program, including monitoring project protocols, performing financial due diligence and 
underwriting reviews, and project closeout 

 Assisted in the development of accounting and resource management databases for CDBG 
task order fund tracking 
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ANNE E. COMPSON, JD 

PROJECT MANAGER 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Ms. Compson is skilled in areas of recovery project 

and program development and management; 

environmental, safety, and security compliance 

management; emergency planning and response; 

and technical documentation development; as well 

as DHS, DOT, NRC, EPA, OSHA, and state and 

local compliance program design and 

development, and related project management. 

Ms. Compson has extensive experience providing 

compliance support for government entities and 

industry. 

Ms. Compson has provided grant administration, 

project management, recovery program 

management, NEPA compliance consulting, and 

other services to multiple local and state 

governmental entities throughout the Gulf Coast in 

the wake of Hurricanes Katrina, Rita, Gustav, and 

Ike, including the City of New Orleans, the New 

Orleans Regional Transit Authority, the Texas 

General Land Office, the Texas Department of 

Rural Affairs, and the City of Biloxi, Mississippi.  

Performance tools she has developed for her 

clients have been identified as Best Practices.  Her 

project management has been commended by 

FEMA personnel as aiding in the recovery process. 

 

WORK HISTORY: 

New Orleans FEMA Public Assistance Program Project 

Control—Program Manager - Manage team of approximately 

eight professional Disaster Recovery Specialist. Coordinate 

with Chief Administrative Office and Office of Recovery 

Management to develop overall Public Assistance Strategy 

and formulate effective plan to implement strategy. Develop 

project scopes of work and cost estimates in accordance with 

State and Federal requirements for FEMA Project Worksheet 

development. Track Public Assistance Grant Program and 

provide regular status reports to appropriate Departments. 

Submit Reimbursement Requests to include all necessary 

documentation in accordance with State and Federal requirements. Draft Appeals, Time Extension Requests, 

Improved Project Requests, and Alternate Project Request. Develop Public Assistance issues resolution strategies 

 

EDUCATION 

Juris Doctor 1990 with emphasis in 
environmental law, Washington and Lee 
University School of Law, Lexington, 
Virginia 

Bachelor of Arts 1987, Major in English 
Language and Literature, University of 
Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia 

 

PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATIONS & 
AFFILIATIONS 

Louisiana State Hazardous Waste 
Management Contractor’s Qualification, 
May 1999 

Tennessee Bar Association, Fall 1993 
(Inactive) 

Virginia Bar Association, Fall 1990 
(Inactive) 

U.S. Bankruptcy Court, November 1990 

ADDITIONAL TRAINING 

Project Management Tools and 
Techniques 

FEMA IS-700 National Incident 
Management System (NIMS), An 
Introduction 

FEMA IS-800 National Response Plan 
(NRP), An Introduction 

FEMA IS-631 Public Assistance Operations 
I (self-study) 

FEMA IS-814 ESF 14 – Long-Term  
Community Recovery (self-study) 

FEMA IS-860 Introduction to the National 
Infrastructure Protection Plan 

FEMA IS-860.a  National Infrastructure 
Protection Plan (NIPP) 
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and present to City, State and FEMA officials. Coordinate and Perform Facility Scope Alignment with FEMA, State, 

and City officials.  Alignments identify additional damages missed during initial assessment. 

City of New Orleans, Department of Public Works – Principal Compliance Specialist/Project Manager  

Providing post-Hurricane Katrina FEMA Public Assistance Program consulting and support for review of FEMA policy 

and disaster-specific memoranda for disasters involving flooding and inundation of roads and related infrastructure 

issued over the last 15 years.  The Director of Public Works for the City of New Orleans maintains that FEMA has 

under-identified disaster related damage to streets, sidewalks and related infrastructure because of unreasonably 

narrow eligibility determinations.  FEMA also refused to consider “non-visible” damage to pavement sub-base and 

drainage facilities.  Negotiations are ongoing and action includes development of version request to add additional 

damages and damage that has become visible since the disaster and appeal of FEMA determinations.   

City of Biloxi Infrastructure Recovery Program Management Contract, Biloxi, Mississippi  - Deputy Program 

Manager for design and execution of a long-term infrastructure recovery program to complete repair and 

replacement of municipal water distribution, wastewater collection and stormwater drainage infrastructure caused by 

Hurricane Katrina.  Total project value at the initiation of the program was $380 million and expected to increase to at 

least $450 million. Duties included development of an internal document and information management protocols to 

track labor and material costs back to individual projects, expense submittals, task assignment and performance by 

team members, offsets or reductions in submitted Project Worksheets, payments received, etc.  Duties also included 

facilitating and leading bi-weekly project meetings attended by City of Biloxi personnel and team members, 

representatives from the Mississippi Emergency Management  Agency, FEMA representatives, and City of Biloxi 

representatives; researching and preparing appeals of unfavorable determinations; assisting with damage 

assessments and cost estimates for prompt development of Project Worksheets; assisting with procurement in 

compliance with applicable Federal requirements; and liaison with FEMA and State Public Assistance personnel to 

advocate and troubleshoot on behalf of the City of Biloxi. 

New Orleans Non-Federal Aid Road Hurricane Damage Assessment Project, New Orleans, Louisiana - 

Project Manager for staff augmentation/inspection/data management/consulting project to perform damage 

identification , assessment and cost estimation for flood, debris removal, and demolition related damage to local 

roads resulting from Hurricane Katrina and subsequent flood control system failures.  Project involved conducting 

windshield surveys and subsequent detailed visual assessments to identify and characterize disaster-related damage 

eligible for disaster recovery grant funding under the FEMA Public Assistance Program.  Over 13,000 street 

segments were inspected in a six week time period, meeting the FEMA deadline for damage identification and 

reporting.  Additional preliminary engineering analysis was also conducted that resulted in the development of 51 

Public Assistance Grants equaling $46 million in eligible repair items. 

Texas General Land Office (TGLO), Austin, Texas – Project Manager  Supporting the agency in transitioning from 

disaster response to recovery following Hurricanes Ike and Dolly.  Services provided include development of a 

document management system for response and recovery-related projects; advising the agency on issues of work 

eligibility, including determination of legal responsibility, demonstration of necessity and reasonable cost, and 

identification of disaster-related damage; supporting inter-agency coordination necessary due to complex 

jurisdictional boundaries of state and local governments over coastal infrastructure; and providing advice and consult 

on other FEMA Public Assistance Program-related issues. 

New Orleans Regional Transit Authority (RTA), New Orleans, Louisiana - Grant Administrator/Project 

Manager for the New Orleans Regional Transit Authority (RTA) for design and implementation of an agency program 

for obtaining Public Assistance from FEMA for damage and losses incurred from Hurricane Katrina.  Program 

supported the development and submittal of over $140,000,000 in Project Worksheets.  Duties included development 

of an internal data management system to track Project Worksheet status, expense submittals, task assignment and 
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performance by team members, offsets or reductions in submitted Project Worksheets, payments received, etc.  

Duties also included facilitating and leading weekly project meetings attended by RTA personnel and team members, 

representatives from the Governor’s Office of Homeland Security and Emergency Preparedness (GOHSEP), 

representatives from FEMA, and representatives from the Federal Transit Authority; researching and preparing 

appeals of unfavorable determinations; assisting with obtaining damage assessments and cost estimates to facilitate 

prompt development of Project Worksheets; assisting with execution of procurement  in compliance with applicable 

Federal requirements; gathering and submitting documentation of incurred costs through the Louisiana Public 

Assistance website; and liaison with FEMA and State Public Assistance personnel to advocate and troubleshoot on 

behalf of the RTA. 
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Mark Robinson Holland 
Role on this Project:  FEMA PA and Debris 

Specialist 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Mark Holland is a Senior Public Assistance 
Specialist with Tidal Basin Government Consulting, 
LLC, a leading firm of integrated pre- and post-
disaster consulting services.  Tidal Basin 
specializes in helping national governments, state 
and local governments, private not-for-profits and 
private businesses deal with the effects of 
emergencies and disasters by ensuring the safety 
of its residents and the long-term recovery and 
viability of the infrastructure and the local economy.   
 
Mark began working with FEMA Public Assistance 
in late 2005 after joining the disaster response to Hurricane Katrina in Louisiana, as a Project 
Officer/Architect III assigned to the Justice Group.  Mark’s responsibilities included police, fire, 
EMS, court, jail, prison and coroners’ offices destroyed in the event.  Mark was promoted to 
group lead for Justice, and transitioned into the liaison between FEMA and the City of New 
Orleans.  Mark wrote or oversaw approximately $134,000,000 in project worksheets for Katrina. 
 
Mark joined Tidal Basin in January 2010.  Since leaving FEMA, Mark has worked with state 
agencies, local governments, not-for-profits and private businesses in disaster recovery 
operations and pre-event preparedness activities.  Mark is a Senior Appeals Specialist for Tidal 
Basin, preparing decisions on FEMA First Round Appeals.   
 
Mark has a successful architectural practice in Massachusetts and is licensed in the State of 
Connecticut.  Mark has a degree from Wentworth Institute in Boston, attended the Boston 
Architectural Center.   
 

WORK HISTORY: 

 
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS – FEMA Public Assistance Consultants to Clark County, 
Indiana – March ’12 Tornados.  Provided direction for County personnel on documentation collection and 
preparation of PWs; filed County’s RPA and advised on PA-related issues at public community and Commission 
meetings. 
  
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS – FEMA Public Assistance Consultants to Mount Sinai Medical 
Center, Miami Beach, Florida – Hurricane Katrina.  Responsible for technical rewrite of $5M PW to properly 
accommodate Codes and Standards issues.  Worked with Hospital personnel to gather and present required data, to 
enable FEMA to provide maximum eligible funding.    
 
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS – FEMA Public Assistance Consultants to the Town of Olive, 
New York – Hurricane Irene/TS Lee.  Responsible for the complete preparation of the FEMA Project Worksheets 
(PWs) for the event.  Worked with Town personnel to gather required data, establish systems for future disasters and 
work with FEMA to assure maximum eligible funding.  

 

EDUCATION 

AA, Architectural Engineering, Wentworth 
Institute, 1972 

Boston Architectural Center 

 

ADDITIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Licensed Architect 

Mitigation Specialist 
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TIDAL BASIN–GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS/Atkins Global – State Public Assistance Coordinator, Alabama 
Emergency Management Agency – April 2011 Tornados.  Responsible for assurance of State’s interests, worked 
directly with applicants and FEMA personnel to determine damages, develop scopes of repair work and establish 
recovery grant amounts.  Worked with City of Tuscaloosa, twenty-one Alabama Statewide Agencies and as PAC to 
northern AL counties. 
 
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS - Sr. Appeals Cadre Specialist, Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) – Nationwide First Appeals Contract.  Based in FEMA Region VI (Denton TX), 
received, reviewed, decided and wrote decisions on First Appeals of FEMA actions in response to appeals from 
applicants.   
 
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS – Project Manager – State of Texas Office of Rural Community 
Affairs (ORCA).  Responsible for the in-depth analysis and review of over 1500 grant applications prepared by 
FEMA for Hurricane Ike for compliance with Stafford Act provisions and to assure maximum Federal reimbursement.  
Project included identification of means of financing shortfalls thru CDBG (HUD) funding and similar sources.  Six 
analysts were supervised for this portion of the project.  Wrote a community users’ guide for better implementation of 
grant.  
 
TIDAL BASIN-GOVERNMENT CONSULTANTS – Project Manager - State of Texas General Land Office (GLO) for 
Hurricane Ike grants analysis and recovery of missed-opportunity claims for prior Hurricanes Claudette and Rita.  
 
NISTAC - FEMA Justice Group New Orleans – Hurricane Katrina Response and Recovery – 37-month 
deployment, initially as Project Officer/Architect III stationed at Baton Rouge TRO.  Promoted to Justice Group Lead 
Project Officer/Lead Architect stationed in New Orleans LA.  Responsible for all Hurricane Katrina and Rita-damaged 
police, sheriffs’ and fire stations, courthouses, state and local jails and prisons, EMS facilities and coroners’ offices 
statewide.  Included assessment of damage to buildings, all forms of infrastructure, contents, vehicles, value of 
emergency work performed.  Determined eligibility and preparation of Scopes of Work and their fundable value under 
the Stafford Act.  Became FEMA liaison with City of New Orleans Office of the Deputy Mayor and the Capital Projects 
Administration, with the police (NOPD) and fire (NOFD) superintendents, and the Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriff.   
Wrote over $134,000,000 in recovery grants.   
 
NISTAC - FEMA Justice Group New Orleans – Promoted to Justice Group Lead.  Led 27-person staff of project 
officers, architects, engineers, and estimators.  Continued as direct liaison with City of New Orleans Deputy Mayor 
and the police (NOPD) and fire (NOFD) superintendents, and the Orleans Parish Criminal Sheriff.  
 
NISTAC – FEMA NOLA (New Orleans Louisiana) Group – Sr. Project Specialist.  Direct, in-depth review of 
capital recovery projects proposed by the City to determine compliance with Stafford Act and to recommend 
necessary funding adjustments.  Wrote position papers for senior staff on issues concerning the proper application of 
44CFR to the Katrina recovery.  
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SARAH E. KOPEC 

Senior Consultant 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

 

Sarah Kopec is an analyst with over eight years of 

experience in disaster recovery, grant management, 

policy and process design, compliance management and 

assurance, and technical documentation development.  

Ms. Kopec currently supports the Dillard University Public 

Assistance Closeout.  She facilitates FEMA’s objectives 

for Dillard University’s Hurricane Katrina closeout as 

stated in the Final Recovery Meeting by reconciling 

insurance and other funding sources, identifying and 

obligating additional disaster-related work, and ensuring 

closeout is conducted in accordance with Federal and 

State policies and procedures.  

 

Ms. Kopec has provided grant administration, recovery 

program management, project management, and related 

services to multiple Federal, State, and local 

governments throughout the country.  Services include 

recovery from over ten presidentially declared disasters 

as well as preparation for potential events. 

 

WORK HISTORY: 

Dillard University, New Orleans, LA, FEMA Public 
Assistance Close Out (subcontractor to Vanir) – PA 
Close Out Specialist 
 
Tidal Basin is supporting Dillard University’s efforts for 
Public Assistance closeout of all project worksheets 
written under the declared disaster of Hurricane Katrina.  
Ms. Kopec has aided in the strategic planning for 
program closeout in order to meet the goals set forth in 
the Final Recovery Meeting.  She is evaluating 
individual project readiness for closeout by FEMA, 
reconciling insurance and other funding sources, 
identifying and obligating additional disaster-related 
work, and ensuring closeout is conducted in accordance 
with Federal and State policies and procedures.  
 

FEMA, Public Assistance Second Appeals, 
Specialist 
 
Ms. Kopec reviewed documentation provided by Public Assistance (PA) subapplicants to FEMA 
in support of their second appeal to the PA Program.  Under guidance, Ms. Kopec examined 

 

EDUCATION 

Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, 
LA, 2008 Master of Public Administration, 
Emphasis in Public Policy 

Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, 
LA, 2003 Bachelor of Arts and Sciences, 
Major in Political Science 

ADDITIONAL TRAINING AND 
CERTIFICATIONS 

Homeland Security Exercise & Evaluation 
Program (HSEEP) Certification 
FEMA Elevation Certificate training 
FEMA Flood Maps training 
FEMA IS-21.11 Civil Rights and FEMA 
Disaster Assistance 
FEMA IS-100.F Introduction to Incident 
Command System 
FEMA IS-120.a An Introduction to 
Exercises 
FEMA IS-130 Exercise Evaluation and 
Improvement Planning  
FEMA IS-139 Exercise Design  
FEMA IS-200.b ICS for Single Resources 
and Initial Action Incidents 
FEMA IS-403 Introduction to Individual 
Assistance 
FEMA IS-546.12 Continuity of Operations 
Awareness Course  
FEMA IS-630 Introduction to the Public 
Assistance Process 
FEMA IS-631 Public Assistance Operations  
FEMA IS-632 Introduction to Debris 
Operations 
FEMA IS-700 National Incident 
Management System  
FEMA IS-800 National Response Plan 
FEMA IS-814 ESF 14 – Long-Term 
Community Recovery 
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documentation for compliance with FEMA PA regulations and policies, and made 
recommendations to FEMA regarding the approval or denial of the subapplicant’s appeal.     
 
Louisiana Recovery Authority, Associate 
 
As an employee of the Louisiana Recovery Authority, Ms. Kopec developed guidelines for the 
State, in compliance with PA guidelines, for debris removal.  Ms. Kopec also developed 
compliance monitoring parameters to ensure the applicant and subapplicants were in 
compliance with PA guidelines.  She coordinated PA and Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) projects, performed analytical evaluations of programs such as the Business Recovery 
Grant and Loan Program to test efficiency and effectiveness and to implement improvements in 
policy and process, and researched interoperability and first responders’ inability to 
communicate during emergencies and presented key findings and recommendations to 
Louisiana Recovery Authority senior management, researched Hurricane Katrina’s effect on the 
economy of the New Orleans Central Business District in order to improve response and 
structure revolving loan program, and researched the effects of Hurricane Katrina waterway 
debris on first responders and local economies in order to manage and prioritize response.  Ms. 
Kopec also managed the Economic & Workforce Development Committee , the Environmental 
Task Force, and the Infrastructure and Transportation Task Force in order to construct policy 
and formulate process. 
 
FEMA, Community Disaster Loan Program, Financial Analyst 
Working with Federal, State, and Local officials, Ms. Kopec prepared both application and 
cancellation analysis of and Community Disaster Loans (CDL) for multiple jurisdictions in Iowa, 
Kansas, Pennsylvania, and Texas.  Additionally, Ms. Kopec provided CDL support at FEMA 
Headquarters. 
 
FEMA, Joint Housing Solutions Group, Housing Analyst 
Ms. Kopec managed FEMA’s Joint Housing Solutions Group alternative housing units at the 
National Emergency Training Center.  She collected and analyzed unit and livability data of 
existing units, and she participated in field assessments of potential alternative housing units. 
 
Mississippi Alternative Housing Pilot Program, Donations Program Manager and Eco 
Cottage Program Manager 
Ms. Kopec first assessed the management of donation streams of the $275.4 million MS AHPP 
grant, restructured the donation process for efficiency and compliance with the grant, federal, 
state, and local regulations, and developed tools to facilitate and record progress.  She also 
assessed the management of $5.89 million Mississippi Alternative Housing Pilot Program (MS 
AHPP) Eco Cottage grant, developed streamlined processes and tools to ensure sub-grantees 
successfully completed disaster housing structures within the constraints of the grant, federal, 
state, and local regulations, and crafted performance metrics that measure the implementation 
and accomplishments of the program. 
 
Ms. Kopec was then chosen to manage both of these programs, and facilitated strategic 
planning, process improvement, and long-term planning workshops with internal, public, and 
nonprofit stakeholders in order to educate, develop  partnerships, promote community buy-in, 
and to advance the mission of the MS AHPP  
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MICHAEL J. ROBERTS, LEM 
 
EXPERIENCE SUMMARY: 

Michael J. Roberts is a planner with TBGC with a 
primary focus and expertise in disaster 
preparedness, management, and recovery. He has 
consulted local and state governments on 
emergency planning, exercise design, as well as 
outreach and education campaigns.  

Previously, Mr. Roberts served as an Emergency 
Management Specialist and Director of the 
Training and Exercise Division for the City-Parish 
of East Baton Rouge in Louisiana. In doing so, he 
demonstrated his expertise in emergency 
preparedness, mitigation, and recovery while 
managing the training curriculum for public safety 
officials throughout the City-Parish and adjoining 
parishes.  

Prior to his experience with East Baton Rouge 
Homeland Security, Mr. Roberts served as a team 
member on a drought impact study at Louisiana 
State University for the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). His primary 
work in drought research, analysis, and application 
was intended as a basis for the inaugural drought 
emergency plan for the State of Louisiana.  

WORK HISTORY: 

Tidal Basin Government Consulting, Various Clients, 
Preparedness Program Manager 

 Work with a team of reviewers to analyze 
progress with Continuity of Operations plans for 
government agencies throughout Virginia 

 Conduct quality assurance/quality control for 
submitted continuity plan assessments 

 Handle various duties for the New Jersey Turnpike Exit 14 critical infrastructure project 
including supervision of daily tasks with various deadlines by coordinating with employees in 
the field and conducting quality control 

 
The Winmill Group, Various Clients, Senior Associate –  

 Designed and conducted the emergency planning and exercise series for Kansas City, 
Missouri in preparation for the 2012 Major League Baseball All-Star Game 

 Develop tools, templates, and other resources for use by stakeholders to assist with the 
implementation of emergency preparedness activities 

 Authored the inaugural Terrorism Incident Plan for the State of Louisiana in May 2011 

EDUCATION 

Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, 
LA, August 2010 Master of Science in 
Geography   Major:  Climatology / Minor:  
Disaster Science and Management 

Louisiana State University, Shreveport, 
LA, May 2004 Bachelors of Science in 
Business Administration 

AWARDS AND ACHEIVEMENTS 

Awarded the National Citizen Corps 
“Preparing the Public” Award in 2010 

ADDITIONAL TRAINING AND 
CERTIFICATIONS 

Certified Emergency Manager (CEM) 
Certification – Application pending 

Louisiana Emergency Manager (LEM) 
Certification 

Homeland Security Exercise & Evaluation 
Program (HSEEP) Certification 

FEMA Emergency Management Institute - 
National Incident Management Training 
(NIMS) IS-100, IS-200, ICS-300, ICS-400, IS-
700, IS-800 

FEMA Emergency Management Institute - 
Professional Development Series  IS-139, 
IS-230, IS-235, IS-240, IS-241, IS-242, IS-
244 
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 Lead the development of outreach and implementation strategies for public preparedness and 
education campaigns 

 Consult senior state and local officials on the development of strategic policies for 
governments on all levels regarding terrorism and all-hazards to be utilized for state and local 
emergency operations plans and procedures 

 Employ knowledge of emergency preparedness and management as well as homeland 
security policies, legislation, and directives to accomplish specific tasks related to community 
preparedness, training, and exercises 

 Use extensive knowledge of Homeland Security Exercise and Evaluation Program (HSEEP) 
and National Exercise Program (NEP) for development of multi-year exercise programs for all 
levels of government 

 
East Baton Rouge Mayor’s Office of Homeland Security and Emergency Preparedness (MOHSEP), Baton 
Rouge, LA, Emergency Management Specialist – 

 Overall Project Manager for the FEMA - National Award Winning “Red Stick Ready” Program 
for emergency preparedness education to private businesses and citizens 

 Developed and implemented the innovative "Red Stick Ready Business" program, 
encouraging private sector entities to reach measured emergency preparedness goals 

 Conducted public outreach and education activities promoting emergency preparedness - 
Trained more than 3,000 local children for Junior Community Emergency Response Team 
(Jr. CERT) in 2010 

 Implemented preparedness programs and developed educational materials for different 
stakeholder groups 

 Coordinated and conducted dozens of emergency preparedness training sessions for area 
citizens 

 Developed new partnerships and sustained existing partnerships both internal and external to 
East Baton Rouge Parish to advance the mission of community preparedness and develop 
partner engagement at all levels of government 

 Director of MOHSEP Training and Exercise Division - coordinated curriculum, needs 
assessments, training courses, and exercise planning meetings 

 Project Manager for biennial River Bend Nuclear Station FEMA-graded exercise 

 Conducted multiple exercise planning meetings which included numerous local and state 
public safety senior officials 

 Analyzed and identified gaps, redundancies, and shortfalls in planning and training areas 
during mock emergency scenarios 

 Led emergency planning, response implementation, after-action assessments, risk and threat 
assessment, and shelter-in-place planning 

 Assisted in writing strategy, goals and objectives in accordance with the Urban Area Security 
Initiative (UASI) grants 

 Consultant to public safety and private sector agencies in the development of Continuity of 
Operations Planning 
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TERESA CARTER 
Technical Director 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Ms. Carter has acquired over 26 years of emergency 

response and recovery experience through increasingly 

responsible positions with state, local, and federal 

agencies, and within the private sector.  She is highly 

skilled in interpreting federal, state and local legal laws 

and regulations, as they apply to all phases of the FEMA 

Public Assistance (PA) program, hazard mitigation 

grants, and other sources of federal funding; and has a 

distinguished record of training emergency management 

personnel in all aspects of debris monitoring/ 

management, FEMA Public Assistance policies and 

procedures, and demolition operations.  

 

Outreach to local communities, including training citizen 

volunteers and consulting with community leaders, has 

been a prominent feature of Ms. Carter’s past recovery 

strategies.  This ability to generate community support for 

her projects has contributed greatly to her success, as 

has her comprehensive knowledge of federal policy, and 

her ability to efficiently manage the financial and budgeting aspects of her projects. 

 

WORK HISTORY: 

Hurricane Sandy Response & Recovery – New Jersey Office of Emergency Management. Ms. Carter is assisting 

numerous New Jersey communities on the Jersey Shore to recover from severe flooding and other damage resulting 

from Hurricane Sandy. As part of the response effort, she is overseeing several large-scale debris monitoring projects, 

including right-of-way debris removal from roads and highways, and private property demolition removal (PPDR) for 

local communities. This involves monitoring multiple companies simultaneously, comprehensive record management, 

and a massive effort on the part of Ms. Carter to coordinate between state and local officials, FEMA, numerous private 

stakeholders, and the aforementioned debris removal contractors.  Simultaneously, she is coordinating with Berger’s 

recovery team and supervising administration of the FEMA Public Assistance program for multiple New Jersey 

municipalities. 

Hurricane Irene Response & Recovery - Virginia Departments of Transportation and Emergency Management 

(Technical Director).  Throughout the Hurricane Irene recovery process, Ms. Carter provided recovery management 

support and technical expertise to state and local officials; managed multiple debris monitoring operations; provided 

guidance on Project Worksheet development for FEMA, and Damage-Site Reviews for the Federal Highway 

administration (FHWA); and managed grant administration in such a way as to maximize the State’s eligible recovery 

funding.  She also prepared closeout-ready files for all approved PW’s, and Damage-Site Reviews. 

COOP/ COG Review – Virginia Dep’t of Emergency Management (Technical Director/ QA/QC).  Performing an 

independent review of 117 Continuity of Operations (COOP) Plans for the Commonwealth of Virginia, in order for 

VDEM to gain insight into its COOP program.  The review identified strengths, challenges, opportunities for 

improvements, and improvement implementation strategies; and the results of the review are being reported to each 

 

REGISTRATIONS & CERTIFICATIONS 

State Public Assistance Management (Emergency 
Management Institute, 2001) 

 

Debris Operations (Emergency Management 
Institute, 2000) 

 

Public Assistance Operations II (Emergency 
Management Institute, 2000) 

 

Public Assistance Operations I (Emergency 
Management Institute, 1999) 

 

Debris Management (Emergency Management 
Institute, 1997) 

 

ICS-100,200,700 & 800 
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agency and the Governors’ office. Initially, the Berger Team* worked with VDEM to develop an Assessment Tool/score-

card matrix (using the current VDEM and Federal COOP templates as a base).  It then performed routine modifications 

to ensure the review would meet the Commonwealth’s specific needs. This tool was reviewed, revised and approved 

by VDEM’s Director for COOP and the Planning Director, and each COOP Plan was assessed against the current 

federal guidance. Finally, feedback on each plan was provided to the directors.   A final report capturing discussions, 

recommendations and best practices/resource will be submitted at the conclusion of activities. 

Hurricane Ike Response – Galveston Park Board (GPB), Galveston Historic Foundation, Mary Moody Northern 

Foundation, 20th Century Education Foundation, & the Rosenberg Library (Technical Director, 2008 – 

ongoing).  Working under Berger’s Technical Assistance Contract with FEMA, Ms. Carter supported the GPB with 

project development, damage assessments, and coordinating communication between the client agencies, FEMA, and 

other recovery team members, such as USACE and GLO.  She was also an integral part of each subsequent phase of 

the process, including management of the of the FEMA PA Program and Insurance Recovery; preparing NEPA 

compliance documents and hazard mitigation grant program (HMGP) proposals; developing first level appeals; PW 

amendments, and alternate/ improved plans.  Critical to these efforts was recovery/reconstruction of Galveston area 

parks and park property, including a U.S. Navy destroyer, several pavilions, buildings, piers, bulkheads and beaches. 

IEM, Inc., Manager, Recovery Division.  As the Recovery Division Manager, Ms. Carter supervised all recovery 

operations, including PA and mitigation programs, for all state and local contracts.  This included serving as:   

 Project Coordinator for the Virginia Department of Emergency Management Public Assistance program, and 
working directly with federal/ state coordinating officers and PA officers on planning, policy, eligibility, and 
overall disaster operations; and 

 Debris Operations Subject Matter Expert during IEM’s preparation of the Hurricane Katrina After Action Report 
(AAR) for FEMA; and 

 Project Manager for the Florida DOT, District 4, and overseeing the revision and update of the District’s 
Emergency Operations Manual (including FHWA-ER program requirements), and developing and delivering 
delivered training in debris management.  
 

James Lee Witt Associates, Contract Manager & Recovery Advisor to the State of Louisiana (Baton Rouge, 

LA, 2005–2006).  Following Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, Ms. Carter advised state officials on policy development and 

insurance issues, while also consulting with local applicants on project development and facilitating mutual aid 

agreements between state agencies and organizations. During this time she coordinated with FEMA, and managed a 

staff of approximately 40 consultants who were working with FEMA applicants on project eligibility and recovery. 

David Shapiro Disaster Assistance, Contract Manager.  Ms. Carter served as the Contract Manager for three school 

districts, two counties, and five cities on the east coast of Florida- all of which were dealing with the fallout from the 

2004 Florida Storm Season. She not only consulted with applicants regarding FEMA processes and project eligibility, 

she also developed response/ recovery and debris plans for multiple local communities. 

Dewberry, Inc., Senior Emergency Management Specialist.  As an expert in the FEMA PA program, Ms. Carter 

served as a Contract or Project Manager on numerous projects while she worked in Dewberry’s Emergency 

Management/Federal Programs Division.  Her experience with Dewberry included: Redeveloping and leading the 

FEMA Debris Operations and Debris Management courses (piloted in February 2001); leading FEMA Training Courses 

for (including State PA Course, State Management Course, and Public Assistance Operations I and II); developing/ 

delivering a day-long course in the FEMA Public Assistance Program and Debris Operations Course to the Eastern 

Band of the Cherokee Nation in September of 2000 (as well as to numerous other local and state governments on an 

annual basis), and being one of three debris advisors during the post-9/11 World Trade Center Debris Removal 

Operations in NYC, and the debris-sorting operation on Staten Island after the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 
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(monitored the removal of more than 1.4 million tons of debris).  

STEVEN GLENN 
Vice President, Emergency Management 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Mr. Glenn began his career as a volunteer firefighter, 

soon becoming a hazardous material specialist with the 

Winston-Salem/Forsyth County Office of Emergency 

Management, and ultimately making his way to the 

Louis Berger Group, where he is now Vice President 

for Emergency Management.   Mr. Glenn is now 

managing a nationwide emergency management 

practice and leading a team of highly respected subject 

matter experts, which has been recognized as an 

industry leader.  Much of this success can be credited 

to Mr. Glenn’s holistic emergency management 

philosophy, upon which he has established a National 

Emergency Management Information System (NEMIS) 

compliant structure that is streamlined for efficiency. 

 

In his 24 years of conducting large-scale response and 

recovery operations, and managing large-scale 

disaster planning projects, Mr. Glenn has worked at 

every level of government, in and with the private 

sector, and with public non-profit groups. At the federal 

level, he oversaw implementation of a $7.6 billion dollar 

FEMA Public Assistance (PA) Program, spanning eight 

states in FEMA’s Region IV, and acted as the Recovery 

Chief and Disaster Recovery Manager for Hurricane 

Katrina and the 2004 Florida Hurricanes.  At the state 

level, he managed $250 million in FEMA grant 

programs, and implemented the nation’s first quality assurance program for the FEMA Public 

Assistance Program.   

 

WORK HISTORY: 

 

The LOUIS BERGER GROUP, Inc., Vice President of Emergency Programs. Mr. Glenn is leading Berger’s New 

Jersey-based response to Hurricane Sandy.  Projects he is currently overseeing include: large-scale marine debris 

removal on the New Jersey coast (on behalf of the NJ Department of Environmental Protection (DEP)); a private 

property debris removal (PPDR) operation in Toms River; sand-sifting operations on multiple beaches; and right-of-

way debris removal operations throughout Ocean County.  In addition, he is managing the FEMA Public Assistance 

process in ten (10) individual municipalities, including Ocean County, Point Pleasant Beach, and others.  

Atkins North America, Inc., Vice President and Operations Manager. As former Vice President & Operations 

Manager, Mr. Glenn oversaw a multi-million dollar practice, designed to provide comprehensive emergency 

management services to federal, state, local, and private clients across the United States.  He was the senior manager 

 

EDUCATION 
BA, Criminology, University of North 

Carolina- Pembroke 

CERTIFICATIONS & TRAINING 

IS-100.b (ICS-100): Introduction to Incident Command 
System 

 

IS-600: Special Considerations for FEMA Public 
Assistance Projects 

 

IS-631: Public Assistance Ops I 

 

IS-632: Introduction to Debris Ops in FEMA's PA 
Program 

 

IS-700.a: National Incident Management System 
(NIMS): An Introduction 

 

IS-800.b: National Response  

Framework: An Introduction 

 

FEMA COTR Course 

 

FEMA PA Ops II 

 

FEMA Environmental Considerations 

 

State Coordinating Officers Course 
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in charge of sales, budget development, operations management, and growth; and also oversaw three practice groups 

delivering pre- and post-disaster planning, training, hazard mitigation, evacuation planning, risk analysis, and response 

and recovery activities nationwide.   Recent projects include: 

 Information Assurance Technology Analysis Center III (IA-TAC III).  This $375 million readiness contract 
covers FEMA's Bravo sector, including the northeastern states between Maine and Minnesota. Services 
include Individual Assistance (IA) to disaster victims, such as temporary housing, pre-disaster planning, storm 
shelters, logistics support, facility management, and reporting.  Management oversight in support of 
operational readiness and contract management. 
 

 Information Assurance Technology Analysis Center II (IA-TAC II). As Principal-in-Charge, directed the 
deployment of 100+ personnel in response to four presidentially-declared disasters and over saw site 
assessment/inspections, staging and support, group site design, general construction, and facility 
management and installation. Project Cost: $250M (contract capacity). 
 

 Technical Assistance Contractor for Public Assistance First Appeals, FEMA. Under this ID/IQ contract, 
Mr. Glenn worked with FEMA’s regional offices to review, analyze, and develop draft responses to appeals 
that had been filed with FEMA’s Regional Administrators under its Public Assistance program. Analysis 
included project eligibility, scope of work alignment, cost estimation review, and project timeline review. 
 

 Public Assistance (PA) Program Support for the Alabama Emergency Management Agency (AEMA): 
2011 Tornado Outbreak. As the Principal-in-Charge and Senior Policy Advisor Mr. Glenn coordinated PA 
activities and assignments, provided technical support on insurance issues, environmental issues and 
individual assistance mission support. Also provided financial advice for AEMA-required reporting and 
compiled daily field personnel reports. 
 

 Mississippi Alternative Housing Program Management Services for the Mississippi Emergency 
Management Agency.  This project involved working with the State of Mississippi (in partnership with FEMA, 
HUD, and other public and private entities) to develop, implement, and evaluate an alternate housing pilot 
program for selected residents in Mississippi coastal counties that were heavily impacted by Hurricane Katrina 
(Hancock, Harrison, and Jackson Counties). Under the direction of Mr. Glenn, Atkins worked with local 
governments, private not-for-profit agencies, and financial institutions to provide holistic long-term housing 
solutions for disaster survivors within the state. He served as principal-in-charge providing senior 
management oversight of the design/construction phase of the project as well as installation and deactivation 
of housing units. 
 

Federal Emergency Management Agency– Region IV, Infrastructure Branch Chief.  Oversaw implementation of 

the PA Program in eight states (ultimately totaling $7.6 billion in federal disaster funding); coordinated disaster response 

activities for a national response team; managed 12 full-time employees and 87 reservists; oversaw recovery project 

management /grant programs totaling $1 billion, and developed national response plans for large-scale events.  He 

also served as the Recovery Chief and Disaster Recovery Manager for Hurricane Katrina, as well the 2004 Florida 

Hurricanes.   

North Carolina Emergency Management Agency, Deputy Chief of Operations. In an innovative move, Mr. Glenn 

implemented the nation's first quality assurance (QA) program for disaster recovery programs while with the NCEMA.  

He also supervised project management activities for 400 applicants (totaling almost $750 million); served as State 

Coordinating Officer and the Governor's Authorized Representative; and developed State recovery plans.   
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CAROLINE CUNNINGHAM 
Senior Emergency Management Planner 
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Ms. Caroline Cunningham is an accomplished professional and 

an expert in hazard mitigation planning, with experience in all 

areas of disaster planning and recovery. Her broad 

understanding of government policy, disaster planning, risk 

assessment and disaster grant programs make her well suited 

for emergency management in general, and emergency 

planning in particular.   

 

Ms. Cunningham’s ability to communicate effectively makes her 

an invaluable asset to any project. Further, her natural 

leadership quality has afforded many opportunities to lead 

courses and provide programing instruction to local officials.  

For example, she is a FEMA-authorized Hazus instructor and 

has taught at the Emergency Management Institute in 

Emmitsburg, Maryland (Basic Hazus-MH E313, 2012). She has 

also conducted five G-318 workshops (Mitigation Planning 

Workshop for Preparing and Reviewing Local Plans), as 

requested by FEMA Region 1.  

 

While earning her master’s degree in City and Regional 

Planning, Ms. Cunningham’s paper, “Gentilly, New Orleans: 

Recovery After Katrina” was published by the Gentilly Civic 

Improvement Association.  In addition, her paper titled, “Faces 

of Suburbanization: Residential Location Choice at the Urban 

Fringe” was presented at the American Economics Association 

Conference in Chicago, Illinois.  (That paper was published by 

the Review of Agriculture Economics in January of 2007, in 

volume 29.3.) 

 

WORK HISTORY: 

 

LOUIS BERGER GROUP, Inc., Senior Planner (2013 

present). Ms. Cunningham joined Louis Berger in June 2013. 

Atkins North America, Inc., Emergency Management 

Planner (2009-2013). As the Emergency Management Planner for Atkins, Ms. Cunningham was selected to develop 

a new service line of business continuity planning, and foster private sector resiliency opportunities.  In further 

recognition of her comprehensive knowledge of emergency management services, she was chosen to serve as a 

liaison for pursuits in emergency management between Atkins North American and Atkins Global.  Recent projects 

include: 

 Hazard Mitigation Planning.  While working for Atkins, Ms. Cunningham contributed to nearly 20 hazard 
mitigation plans covering over one hundred jurisdictions and nine states. These plans were completed at the 

 

EDUCATION 
 

Master of City and Regional Planning, 2009, 
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 
 
Bachelor of Science in Environmental and 
Natural Resource Management, Magna 
Cum Laude, 2007, Clemson University 
 

PUBLICATIONS 

 

“Gentilly, New Orleans: Recovery After Katrina”  
 

Published by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill 
for the Gentilly Civic Improvement Association, 2008 

 

“Faces of Suburbanization: Residential Location Choice at 
the Urban Fringe” 
 

Published by the Review of Agriculture Economics in 2007;  

Presented at the American Economics Association 
Conference in Chicago, IL, in 2007 

CERTIFICATIONS  

 

Certified Floodplain Manager, Association of State 
Floodplain Managers, North Carolina (NC-12-0448) 

 

Associate Business Continuity Professional, Disaster 
Recovery Institute International 

 

Hazus-MH Practitioner, Federal Emergency Management 
Agency 
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local, regional, state, university and tribal levels. She is very adept in hazard mitigation planning regulations (as 
defined by the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000) and hazard mitigation grant management having contributed to all 
phases of plan development. This includes project management, meeting facilitation, data collection, public 
outreach, technical analysis, plan review, and written deliverables.  She continually meets and exceeds client 
expectations to produce on-time, FEMA-approved hazard mitigation plans. 

 

 State of Alabama Hazard Mitigation Plan Updates (2010 & 2013).  Ms Cunningham worked with the Alabama 
Emergency Agency (AEMA) and other state officials to complete the 2010 and 2013 updates of the State of 
Alabama Hazard Mitigation Plans. This involved updating the planning process, risk assessment, mitigation 
strategy, state and local capability assessments, and plan maintenance. Hazus-MH 2.1 was used for the latest 
update of the State plan hazard risk assessment. (2009 – 2013). 

 

 New Hanover County, North Carolina Hazard Mitigation Plan Update.  Ms. Cunningham worked with the 
client and team to complete a FEMA-approved hazard mitigation multi-jurisdictional plan. Ms. Cunningham was 
responsible for completing the public outreach survey, risk assessment, community profile, and mitigation 
strategy. She was also responsible for presenting the results to the County at in-person meeting and via the 
written plan (2009 – 2010). 

 

 Hazard Risk Assessment and Analysis. Ms. Cunningham specializes in hazard risk analysis. She has 
completed risk assessments for all levels of hazard mitigation plans, post-disaster recovery plans, and 
preparedness and response exercises. She utilizes Hazus-MH, ArcGIS, and other available tools to complete 
assessments to aid in determining cost estimation, structure loss estimation, resource provision, and areas of 
concern. She also assisted in the development of the State of Alabama Threat and Hazard Identification and Risk 
Assessment (THIRA) which was part of the initial group of THIRAs to be completed nationally. 

 

 UMASS Amherst Hazard Mitigation Plan.  Ms. Cunningham served as a sub-contractor to Jamie Caplan 
Consulting to complete the risk assessment and provide Hazus training for the University of Massachusetts 
Amherst Hazard Mitigation Plan. A list of the campus’s most critical buildings were identified via an all-hazards, 
customized Hazus-MH 2.1 and ArcGIS analysis. (2012-2013).  

 

 High Country Regional Hazard Mitigation Plan.  This hazard mitigation plan update involved combining the 
existing plans from the counties of Ashe, Burke, Wilkes, and Watauga (and their eleven participating jurisdictions) 
into a single plan. The planning area was located in Western North Carolina. Ms. Cunningham was responsible 
for completing the risk assessment using geospatial technology and available data. She also contributed to the 
mitigation strategy using her knowledge of mitigation techniques and grant programs. The plan was approved by 
FEMA and adopted by each of the participating jurisdictions (2011 – 2013). 
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KATHLEEN CURE, JD 
Disaster Response Coordinator  
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

Kathleen Cure is a civil attorney provides regulatory guidance and 

program support to Louis Berger’s Disaster Management unit.  She 

also serves as business unit lead in contracting and procurement.  Ms. 

Cure has worked with state and local officials navigating the FEMA 

reimbursement process for two years.  She has been identified as the 

firms lead in the coordination of complex appeals that may be required 

to support applicants in seeking federal fund.  Her training is in contract 

law, which makes her well suited to help manage large operations 

consisting of multiple companies and numerous projects. For instance, 

she served as the contract administrator for Louis Berger’s response 

and recovery to Super Storm Sandy in the State of new Jersey.  There, 

she handled all procurement requirements, negotiated subcontracting 

agreements and managed the issuance and tracking of many differing 

task orders. 

 

WORK HISTORY: 

 
 

Recovery & Response to Hurricane Sandy for the New Jersey 

Office of Emergency Management, Contract Management.  As 

Berger program staff continue to work with communities throughout 

the State of New Jersey that were impacted by Hurricane Sandy, Ms. 

Cure is handling the operation’s procurement requirements, 

negotiating subcontracting agreements, issuing task orders, and 

solidifying new client contracts.  She is also providing internal project 

support in the form regulatory compliance research and contract 

management.  

Recovery & Response to Hurricane Irene, for the Virginia Departments of Emergency Management (VDEM) and 

Transportation (VDOT).  In the aftermath of Hurricane Irene (August, 2011), Ms. Cure supported Berger’s recovery 

effort by providing debris monitoring services, data management, and guidance on compliance with the FEMA Public 

Assistance (PA) cost-recovery program.  She worked with state and local officials to ensure maximum financial 

recovery under the PA program, and also performed internal contract administration and project worksheet 

development. Throughout the project she served as the communications liaison with the client, and managed the 

closeout process for all projects associated with Berger task orders.    

United States Postal Service (USPS), Contract Administration. Berger has seven active contracts with the United 

States Postal Service, including the nationwide Emergency Planning, Response, and Recovery Services contract, and 

regional agreements with the Western, Eastern, and Northeastern Facility Service Offices.  With regard to these 

contracts, Ms. Cure performs a number of internal contract administration functions and procurement operations; 

among other things she is responsible for negotiating master service agreements with subcontractors, issuing task 

orders and assisting project managers maintain compliance with federal regulations and guidelines. 

 

 

EDUCATION 

 
J.D., cum laude, University of 
Richmond; The T.C. Williams School 
of Law 
 
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science, 
University of North Carolina, 
Asheville  
 

CERTIFICATIONS / LICENSES 

 
Licensed by the Virginia State Bar 
(2010) 
 
Debris Management Planning for 
State, Tribal & Local Offices (FEMA-
Emergency Management Institute)  
 
Public Assistance Eligibility & Initial 
Damage Assessments (FEMA-
Emergency Management Institute) 
 
American Bar Association, Business 
Law Division 
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VIRGINIA WESTERVELT, EIT 
Site/Civil Engineer  
 

EXPERIENCE SUMMARY:  

 

Ms. Westervelt is a civil and structural engineer with experience 

supporting the design and construction of facilities including: cost 

estimating (PC-COST), conceptual design, permitting, design plans, 

technical specification, and construction support. Ms. Westervelt’s 

experience at LBG covers a broad range of projects, including 

Disaster Response work for New Jersey, Embassy work for the U.S. 

Department of State (DOS), rehabilitation and restoration for the 

National Park Service (NPS), and new military facilities for the U.S. 

Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). She joined LBG after working for 

two years in the power industry as a structural engineer, where she 

gained field and construction experience. Ms. Westervelt also spent 

time working for a land development firm, building a basis of planning, 

design, and drafting experience. She is proficient in PCCost, 

AutoCAD, MicroStation, Revit, Hydroflow, SpecsIntact, FlowMaster, 

CulvertMaster, TR-55, and Microsoft Office.  

   

WORK HISTORY: 

Recovery & Response to Hurricane Sandy for the New Jersey 

Office of Emergency Management, Debris Specialist. In the 

aftermath of Superstorm Sandy, provided Data Management and 

Debris Monitoring support to Townships in Ocean County in 

compliance with the FEMA Public Assistance cost-recovery program.  Worked with Contractors as well as State and 

Local officials to ensure all data and project tracking comply with local, state and federal laws, while allowing for 

maximum financial recovery under the Public Assistance program. 

FEMA Public Assistance Personal Property Debris Removal (PPDR) and Demolition, Toms River Township, 

NJ. Project Manager.  In the aftermath of Superstorm Sandy, worked as advocate for Toms River Township to ensure 

compliance with FEMA Public Assistance cost-recovery program. Oversaw the tracking of all information required for 

FEMA compliance as part of the PPDR/Demolition programs. Coordinated with FEMA, as well as State and Local 

officials for approval of over 300 properties for participation in the program.  During the Construction phase, provided 

Construction Management services, ensuring field work complied with all local, State, and Federal laws.  Oversaw 

monitoring work provided by LBG to ensure proper tracking for maximum financial recovery under the Public Assistance 

program.  Provided services as Right-of-Entry Inspector, Field Supervisor, Field Monitor, and Data Manager. 

USACE Middle East District, Military Training Compound (MTC), Phase II, Baghdad, Iraq. Engineer. The project 

consists of designing a complex for the Iraqi Director General for Intelligence & Security (DGIS) Headquarters Campus. 

Facilities include offices, dining, medical clinic, and housing. Responsibilities include site utility layout for storm, sanitary 

and domestic water lines. 2014; Size: 230,000 SF; Cost: $50M 

New Jersey Turnpike Authority, Storage Building Additions. New Jersey. Civil Engineer.  The project included 

the site design and installation of new storage buildings at three NJTA Maintenance yards.  Performed site visits and 

coordinated with various disciplines to develop utility and site plans.  Drafted site plans and wrote project specifications 

to NJTA standards. 

 

EDUCATION 

 
BE, Vanderbilt University, Civil and 
Environmental Engineering 
 

National Engineering Honors       
Society (Tau Beta Pi) 
   
Civil Engineering Honors society 
(Chi Epsilon) 

CERTIFICATIONS / LICENSES 
 

Unified Hazard Mitigation Assistance 
(HMA) Project Implementation & 
Programmatic Closeout Course 
(Emergency Management Institute) 
 
American Society of Civil Engineers & 
the Society of Military Engineers 
 
Antiterrorism Level I Awareness 
Training  
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New York Red Bulls, Inc., New York Red Bulls Training Grounds, Township of Hanover, Morris County, New 

Jersey. Civil Engineer.  The project included development of a vacant site for a training facility, auxiliary buildings, 

two grass soccer fields, an artificial turf field and associated parking and sidewalks. Responsible for the review and 

response to construction submittals and shop drawing, as well as contractor requests for information.   

USACE Middle East District, Counternarcotics Planning Charrettes and Design/Build RFPs Multiple Locations, 

Central Asian Districts. Civil engineer. Helped prepare reports and DD1391s and provide home base support to the 

in-country teams. The project involved completing planning charrettes for several sites within Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, 

Tajikistan, and Turkmenistan. The planned developments included new border police outposts including officer’s 

barracks, dining and laundry facilities and associated site and utility improvements. The project involved site visits to 

assess existing facilities, determine needs and preparation and presentation of concept plans and reports. The project 

concept designs were done to meet local building codes and standards and a sustainable approach was adopted for 

all civil engineering aspects.  

USACE MED, UMMCA Planning Charrettes, Various Locations, Afghanistan. Civil Engineer. Project received a 

“VERY GOOD” ACASS rating and involved coordinating with a multidiscipline team sent into theater to five FBOs 

conducting site visits, completing planning charrettes, and preparing charrette reports for 33 Unspecified Minor Military 

Construction projects. Mobilized the team within two weeks from NTP and completed the charrettes in three weeks. 

Facilities and site improvements included streets and parking lot improvements, new barracks, new dining and 

community recreational facilities, runway widening, airport taxiway lighting, solar street lighting, new airport control 

towers, new camp perimeter AT/FP controls including walls and guard towers, new medical center, and utility 

improvements including water, sewage collection/treatment, electrical and telecommunications.  

USACE Baltimore District, Pentagon Sentry Design-Build RFP, Metro Entrance (MEF) and Corridor 8 Screening 

Facilities, Pentagon Reservation, Virginia. Engineer. The project involves providing permanent screening facilities 

at the Metro Entrance Facility and Corridor 8. This project will replace the existing temporary security screening facilities 

at the Metro Entrance Facility and Corridor 8 with permanent screening facilities and provide more secure entry points 

to the Pentagon by incorporating HSPD-12 requirements and biometric recognition systems, as well as separating the 

visitors entering the Pentagon from employees. The total gross square footage of all buildings of the facility combined 

shall be approximately 10,310 gross square feet. Responsibilities include supporting the project civil engineer and 

architect with the development of layouts and phasing plans, as well as the project manager with the compiling of the 

RFP. 

NPS, Statue of Liberty National Monument, Replace Sewer Grinders, Liberty Island, New York. Cost Estimator. 

Prepared Class C estimate for the project, involving the replacement of sewage grinder pumps on the island and all 

related work and parts/pipe replacement.  

USACE New York, Building 7 HVAC, Architectural, and Structural Upgrade for Picatinny Arsenal, New Jersey. 

Junior engineer/architect. Aided the design, specification, and management of the project in its final submissions. 

The project involved the redesign of the building’s existing Heating Ventilating and Air Conditioning Systems (HVAC) 

for the firing range areas to provide improved air flow for the exhaust of the weapons discharge as well as the installation 

of interior and exterior acoustic treatments to mitigate the sound transition of the firing. The design also included the 

construction of New Sally Ports and Firing Range Preparation Area, the installation of a new inertia block, and 

modifications to the building’s electrical system.  
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Attachment C:  Dunn & 
Bradstreet/Financial Reports 
 

Accessible D&B Reports are provided in this Attachment.  Per the Q&As issued by UCF, we have also 

provided financial statements for the prime (TBGC) and our primary teaming partner Louis Berger in lieu 

of D&B reports.  Also included is a note documenting the current status of our 2012 reporting.  Having 

initiated several acquisitions this year, TBGC has not yet finalized our 2012 financial data.  We document 

this via a letter from our Corporate Accountant.  Upon finalization of our 2012 independent audit, we 

will promptly provide this information if needed. 
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TIDAL BASIN GOVERNMENT CONSULTING, LLC

Last Updated 05-02-2013

Predictive Supplier Ratings

SSI: SER: Data Depth: FSS Percentile: Paydex: Overall

Performance:

Scorecard Risk:

1 2 B 10 67 95 - + Not Available

Company Overview

D-U-N-S Number: 82-863-6741

Primary Name: TIDAL BASIN GOVERNMENT

CONSULTING, LLC

Alternate Names: N/A

CAGE codes: Not Available

Address: 300 N Washington St # 500

Alexandria, Virginia 223142530

Country: USA

Phone: +1 (703) 683-8551

Web Site: Not Available

Congressional District: 8

Location: S

Supplier Information

Supply Base Member: No

Supplier IDs:

Tier 2 Suppliers:

Not Available

Supplier Stability Indicator (SSI)

Indicator: 1

Description:

Entities with an SSI of 1 have a failure rate of approximately 0.08% over

the next three months.

Commentary:

No significant negative factors reported.

Model Version: v2

Supplier Evaluation Risk Rating (SER)

Rating: 2

Description:

Entities with a SER of 2 have a probability of ceasing operations/becoming

inactive of 2.1% over the next twelve months.

Data Depth: B

Description:

B - Rich Firmographics, Extensive Commercial Trading Activity and Basic

Financial Attributes

Financial Ratings

D&B Viability Rating: 32BI

   Viability Score: 3

   Portfolio Comparison: 2

   Portfolio Segment: Established Trade Payments

   Data Depth: B

   Company Profile: I

Emerging Market Mediation Alert: Not Available

Financial Stress Score Percentile: 10

Financial Stress Score Class: 4

Paydex: 67

Commercial Credit Score Class:

(Percentile):

2 (75%)

D&B Rating: 1R3



Financial Characteristics

Employer ID Number (EIN): Not Available

Statement Date:

Annual Sales: $1,000,000

Net Income: Not Available

Net worth: $0

Cash: Not Available

Accounts Receivable: Not Available

Total Current Assets: Not Available

Inventory: Not Available

Total Assets: Not Available

Accounts Payable: Not Available

Total Liabilities: Not Available

Current Ratio: Not Available

Quick Ratio: Not Available

Total Employees: 12 (12 here)

Sales/Employee: $83,333 per person

Year Started: 2008

Management Control: 2008

Scorecard Risk Class

Class: Not Available

Detailed Performance Ratings

Reliability 96 - +

Cost 95 - +

Order Accuracy 96 - +

Delivery/Timeliness 95 - +

Quality 96 - +

Business Relations 97 - +

Personnel 95 - +

Customer Support 97 - +

Responsiveness 96 - +

Financial And Legal Risk Indicators

Disaster OFF

Criminal Proceedings OFF

Financial/Legal OFF

Operations

Other OFF

Liens/Claims OFF

Out of Business OFF

Industry Classification

SIC Codes:

8742 - Management consulting services

NAICS Codes:

541611 - Administrative Management and General Management Consulting

Services

UNSPSC Codes:

80101500 - Business and corporate management consultation services

Socio-Economic Indicators

Small Business

Small Business (D&B)

Government Indicators

Indicator Value Family Site

EPLS -- OFF OFF

EPA Formal

Actions (5yrs)

-- OFF OFF

Alleged

Current

Violations

--

EPA Penalties

(5yrs)

--

EPA Last

Penalty Date

--

EPA Amt. of

Last Penalty

--

OSHA -- OFF OFF

OFAC -- OFF OFF































 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NOTICE TO RECIPIENT 

This document, including any attachments hereto, may contain privileged 

and/or confidential information and is intended solely for the attention and 

use of the intended addressee(s). If you are not the intended addressee, 

you may neither use, copy, nor deliver to anyone this document or any of 

its attachments. In such case, you should immediately destroy this 

document and its attachments and kindly notify the sender by reply 

mail. Unless made by a person with actual authority conferred by The Louis 

Berger Group, Inc., (LBG) the information and statements herein do not 

constitute a binding commitment or warranty by LBG. LBG assumes no 

responsibility for any misperceptions, errors or misunderstandings. You are 

urged to verify any information that is confusing and report any 

errors/concerns to us in writing.  
 

All documents, including any attachments hereto, prepared by or furnished 

by LBG pursuant to this request is to be used in the context of the scope of 

services to be contracted.  This document, including any attachments 

hereto, is not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by the 

intended addressee(s). Reuse or release to third parties without the 

expressed written permission of LBG is prohibited. 

 

412 Mt. Kemble Avenue, PO Box 1946, Morristown, NJ 07962-1946 
Tel 973 407 1000 Fax 973 267 6468 
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Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors  
The Louis Berger Group, Inc.  
Morristown, New Jersey 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, changes in stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits.  
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 

 
New York, New York 
October 22, 2012 
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 41,226,286$     50,528,960$     

Accounts receivable, net - service contracts, including unbilled revenues

of $69,014,495 and $79,581,493 at June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and

net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $16,442,676 and $18,120,440 at

June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively 145,034,909     156,389,741     

Other receivables 2,300,721         892,182            

Deferred income taxes 15,546,739       12,644,941       

Prepaid income taxes 9,161,713         2,125,706         

Prepaid expenses 4,645,200         4,438,157         

Total current assets 217,915,568     227,019,687     

Property and Equipment, net 6,689,515         7,919,313         

Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Investees 116,767            116,767            

Restricted Cash -                        6,012,148         

Intangibles, net 5,103,608         -                        

Other Assets 4,340,840         4,001,655         

Total assets 234,166,298$   245,069,570$   

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable - trade 48,366,515$     51,584,848$     

Accounts payable - affiliates 6,252,544         6,357,419         

Accounts payable - other 1,565,529         1,681,670         

Accrued project costs 70,009,460       77,088,204       

Other accrued liabilities:

Salaries, wages and other compensation 12,506,469       13,402,741       

Taxes, other than income taxes 1,018,744         712,565            

Other (Note 9) 35,367,269       22,448,074       

Advance billings on service contracts 4,339,943         5,694,429         

Total current liabilities 179,426,473     178,969,950     

Long-Term Liabilities:

Deferred income taxes 8,051,653         5,522,149         

Deferred rent payable (Note 6) 6,235,709         5,978,404         

Other long-term liabilities (Note 9) 10,289,108       29,182,580       

Total liabilities 204,002,943     219,653,083     

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)

Stockholder's Equity:

Common stock, no par value, authorized - 200,000 shares, issued and

  outstanding - 100,000 shares 14,000              14,000              

Additional paid-in capital 28,411,318       22,500,000       

Retained earnings 7,535,177         4,519,040         

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,797,140)        (1,616,553)        

Total stockholder's equity 30,163,355       25,416,487       

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity 234,166,298$   245,069,570$   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011

Net Contract Revenues 608,482,599$   653,107,920$   

Costs and Expenses:

Direct costs 460,130,737     493,881,653     

Operating expenses 138,252,844     143,569,971     

598,383,581     637,451,624     

Operating income 10,099,018       15,656,296       

Other Income (Expenses):

Interest income 97,563              145,690            

Interest expense (811,590)           (966,815)           

Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains, net (2,791,819)        57,400              

Other, net 148,904            75,309              

(3,356,942)        (688,416)           

Income before income taxes 6,742,076         14,967,880       

Provision for Income Taxes 3,725,939         9,789,442         

Net income 3,016,137$       5,178,438$       

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder's Equity

Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011

Accumulated

Additional Other Total

Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Stockholder's Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Equity Income (Loss)

Balance, June 30, 2010 100,000    14,000$    22,500,000$    9,340,602$      (2,063,959)$      29,790,643$     

Net Income -               -                -                      5,178,438        -                        5,178,438         5,178,438$         

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -               -                -                      -                      578,348            578,348            578,348              

Dividend Paid -               -                -                      (10,000,000)    -                        (10,000,000)      -                          

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax of $0 -               -                -                      -                      (130,942)           (130,942)           (130,942)             

June 30, 2011 total comprehensive income 5,625,844$         

Balance, June 30, 2011 100,000    14,000      22,500,000      4,519,040        (1,616,553)        25,416,487       

Net Income -               -                -                      3,016,137        -                        3,016,137         3,016,137$         

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -               -                -                      -                      (3,153,746)        (3,153,746)        (3,153,746)          

EA PM/CM, Inc. Purchase -               -                5,911,318        -                      -                        5,911,318         -                          

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax of $0 -               -                -                      -                      (1,026,841)        (1,026,841)        (1,026,841)          

June 30, 2012 total comprehensive loss (1,164,450)$        

Balance, June 30, 2012 100,000    14,000$    28,411,318$    7,535,177$      (5,797,140)$      30,163,355$     

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Common Stock
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income 3,016,137$       5,178,438$       

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

(used in) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,094,881         2,698,140         

Deferred income taxes (2,953,468)        (4,840,273)        

Deferred rent 257,305            453,131            

Provisions for losses on accounts receivable (1,677,764)        (606,580)           

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables 10,684,426       19,055,976       

Prepaid expenses (207,043)           (1,700,463)        

Prepaid income taxes (7,036,007)        (4,555,354)        

Other assets (339,185)           (1,527,681)        

Due to/from affiliates, net (104,875)           15,731,454       

Accounts payable (4,085,756)        4,325,324         

Accrued project costs (7,078,744)        (9,786,398)        

Advance billings on service contracts (1,354,486)        (2,613,753)        

Accrued and other long-term liabilities (5,986,693)        (18,977,023)      

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (13,771,272)      2,834,938         

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 6,012,148         (6,012,148)        

Purchase of property and equipment (1,543,550)        (1,964,006)        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 4,468,598         (7,976,154)        

Cash Flows From Financing Activity - dividend paid -                        (10,000,000)      

Cash used in financing activity -                        (10,000,000)      

Foreign Currency Translation Effect on Cash -                        578,348            

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9,302,674)        (14,562,868)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Beginning 50,528,960       65,091,828       

Ending 41,226,286$     50,528,960$     

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest 812,190$          966,815$          

Income taxes   11,711,194$     6,242,000$       

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activity:
Contribution of EA shares (see Note 2) 5,911,318$       -$                      

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of Consolidation: The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") is a multi-disciplinary 
international consulting firm engaged in infrastructure engineering, environmental science, and economic 
development and planning services. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Berger Group Holdings, 
Inc. ("Holdings" or "BGH"). The Company operates throughout the United States, Latin America, Africa, the 
Middle East, Europe and Asia. The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of 
The Louis Berger Group, Inc. (“LBG”), Louis Berger Group Domestic, Inc. (“LBGD”), Louis Berger & Assoc., 
P.C. and its foreign subsidiary, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd.  
 
The foreign subsidiary has been formed pursuant to local laws, which require the establishment of a local 
entity to perform services under service contracts in those countries/jurisdictions and which operate using the 
local currencies as their functional currency.  
 
The Company's fiscal year-end is June 30. Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Use of Estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying 
notes. The more significant estimates include accounting for long-term contract revenues and expenses 
(including income and loss recognition and adjustments for estimated indirect rate changes), income taxes, 
pension estimates and depreciation. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 
Revenue and Cost Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue when a contract has been executed, the 
contract price is fixed and determinable, delivery of services or products has occurred, and collectibility of the 
contract price is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Revenue is earned under cost 
reimbursable, time and materials, fixed-price and milestone contracts. 
 
For cost reimbursable contracts, the Company is reimbursed for allowable costs, and paid a fee, which may 
be fixed or performance-based. Revenues on cost reimbursable contracts are recognized as costs are 
incurred plus an estimate of applicable fees earned. The Company considers fixed fees under cost 
reimbursable contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the 
contract. For certain cost reimbursable contracts that include performance-based fee incentives, the 
Company recognizes the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the customer at the time such 
fee can be reasonably estimated. Other performance-based fees are recognized upon customer approval.  
 
Revenue on time and materials contracts is recognized based on direct labor hours expended at contract 
billing rates plus other billable direct costs. For fixed-price contracts that are based on unit pricing or level of 
effort, the Company recognizes revenue for the number of units delivered in any given fiscal period. For fixed-
price contracts in which the Company is paid a specific amount to provide a particular service for a stated 
period of time, revenue is recognized over the service period.  
 
For fixed-price contracts that provide for a specific deliverable with related customer acceptance provisions, 
revenues are recognized upon delivery and customer acceptance. However, a significant portion of the 
Company's fixed price-completion contracts involve significant design and development. For those contracts 
that are within scope of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 605-35, Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts, revenue is recognized on the 
percentage-of-completion method using costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
For milestone contracts, the Company recognizes revenue earned from the achievement of a substantive 
milestone in its entirety in the period in which the substantive milestone is achieved. Substantive milestone 
payments are recognized upon achievement of the milestone only if all of the following conditions are met: 
  

1) the milestone payment relates solely to past performance; 

2) the milestone payments are nonrefundable;  

3) achievement of the milestone involves a degree of risk and was not reasonably assured at the 
inception of the arrangement;  

4) substantive effort is involved in achieving the milestone;  

5) the amount of the milestone is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk associated with 
achievement of the milestone. 

 
If any of these conditions are not met, the milestone payments are deferred and recognized as revenue over 
the term of the arrangement as the Company completes its performance obligations.  
 
The Company's contracts with government agencies are subject to periodic funding by the respective 
contracting agency. Funding for a contract may be provided in full at inception of the contract or ratably 
throughout the contract as the services are provided. In evaluating the probability of funding for purposes of 
assessing collectibility of the contract price, the Company considers its previous experiences with its 
customers, communications with its customers regarding funding status, and the Company's knowledge of 
available funding for the contract or program. If funding is not assessed as probable, revenue recognition is 
deferred until realization is deemed probable.  
 
Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation, including the contemplated level of effort to 
accomplish the tasks under the contract, the cost of the effort, and an ongoing assessment of progress 
toward completing the contract. From time to time, as part of the normal management processes, facts 
develop that require revisions to estimated total costs or revenues expected. The cumulative impact of any 
revisions to estimates and the full impact of anticipated losses on any type of contract are recognized in the 
period in which they become known.  
 
The allowability of certain costs under government contracts is subject to audit by the government. Certain 
indirect costs are charged to contracts using provisional or estimated indirect rates, which are subject to later 
revision based on government audits of those costs. Management is of the opinion that provisions for costs 
subsequently disallowed, if any, have been properly provided for.  
 
Anticipated contract losses are recognized in full when determined to be probable and estimable. Contract 
costs and estimated earnings recognized in excess of amounts billed (i.e., unbilled) are classified as current 
assets and included in accounts receivable. Billings in excess of contract costs and estimated earnings are 
classified as current liabilities under advance billings on service contracts. Costs and expenses include only 
the Company's portion of the costs incurred on joint venture contracts. Additionally, certain contracts allow 
customers to withhold a portion of their payments to the service provider until contract completion. Retention 
balances included in accounts receivable as of June 30, 2012 and 2011 were $2,091,742 and $2,903,281, 
respectively. Retention balances included in trade accounts payable that the Company withholds from its own 
third-party service providers were $13,033,052 and $10,893,883 as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all cash accounts that are not subject to withdrawal 
restrictions or penalties and all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Accounts Receivable: The majority of the Company's accounts receivable, including unbilled amounts, are 
due from various agencies of the U.S. federal and state governments, foreign governments, and multinational 
banks. Unbilled amounts represent work-in-progress that has been earned but not yet billed. Accounts 
receivable are generally due or will be due in accordance with stated contract terms and shown at amounts 
due from customers less allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is established 
through a provision charged to expense. Accounts receivable are charged against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts when management believes that collectibility of the balance due is unlikely. The Company 
determines the allowance considering a number of factors, including the age of the receivable, the customer's 
current ability to pay, and the condition of the general economy and industry as a whole. The Company 
believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is sufficient to cover any potential losses. The Company 
writes off accounts receivable when they are deemed uncollectable. The Company does not charge interest 
on past due receivables.  
 
Changes in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows: 
 

2012 2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at beginning of year 18,120,440$  18,727,021$  

   Provisions for losses on accounts receivable (1,227,720)     (426,079)        

   Receivable write-offs (450,044)        (180,502)        

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at end of year 16,442,676$  18,120,440$  

 
Foreign Currency Translation: The Company conducts operations worldwide. The Company’s functional 
currency is the U.S. dollar. Transaction-based adjustments denominated in foreign currencies are included in 
operations. The Company also remeasures foreign denominated assets and liabilities at year-end exchange 
rates. Exchange losses and gains that result from remeasurement are recognized in operations for each 
respective period, and were ($2,791,819) and $57,400 for the twelve months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. Financial statement translation adjustments arising from differences in exchange rates from 
period to period are included in the determination of other comprehensive income, which is reflected as a 
component of stockholder’s equity.  
 
Income Taxes: The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax 
consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements or 
tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference 
between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the difference is expected to reverse. 
 
The Company provides deferred taxes for the estimated additional amounts, after applying available foreign 
tax credits, which may be due upon repatriation of undistributed earnings from foreign investees. 
 
Property and Equipment: Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization of 
property and equipment is provided principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets. Estimated useful lives range from three to seven years for all furniture, fixtures, equipment and 
leasehold improvements. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations. Renewal and 
betterments are capitalized and amortized over their useful life or the remaining life of the lease if shorter. 
Upon retirement or other disposition of fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are 
removed from the accounts and the resulting gains or losses are reflected in earnings. Depreciation and 
amortization expense for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was $2,773,348 and $2,698,140, 
respectively. Depreciation and amortization shown on the accompanying consolidated statement of cash 
flows includes depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and amortization of intangibles (see 
Intangible Assets below). 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The Company's property and equipment includes: 
 

2012 2011

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and leasehold improvements 18,183,392$    17,201,486$    

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (11,493,877)     (9,282,173)       

Property and equipment, net 6,689,515$      7,919,313$      

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: The Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in 
operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the estimated cash 
flows to be generated by such assets are less than their book value. No such impairment indicators exist as of 
June 30, 2012. 
 
Restricted Cash: In 2011, the Company pledged $6,000,000 in cash as collateral for four standby letters of 
credit issued by JPMorgan Chase & Co. Two letters of credit, for approximately $3,000,000 each, are in favor 
of operations in the Middle East. The remaining two letters of credit are both in favor of an agency in India. In 
2012, the cash collateral was released as a result of entering into a new revolving credit facility (see Note 5).  
 
Intangibles, Net: Intangible assets consist primarily of acquired contracts. These assets are recorded at cost 
net of accumulated amortization and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life 
of ten years. Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2012 totaled $321,533. These intangible 
assets are reviewed for potential impairment whenever circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. At June 30, 2012, management has determined that no impairment adjustment 
related to these intangibles was necessary. Amortization expense for fiscal years 2013 through 2021 is 
expected to be approximately $386,000 per year and approximately $64,000 in fiscal year 2022.   
 
Defined Benefit Plan: The FASB ASC Topic for Defined Benefit Plans requires recognition of the overfunded 
or underfunded status of defined benefit postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position, and recognition of changes in that funded status within stockholder’s equity, apart from 
expenses, in the year in which the changes occur. Measurement of the funded status of a plan as of the date 
of the statement of financial position is also required.  
 
Financial Instruments: The Company's financial instruments are cash, accounts receivable, investment 
securities included in the pension plan, short-term investments and accounts payable. The carrying amounts 
of cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of their short-term 
maturity and interest rates which approximate current rates. The fair value of investments in securities and 
bonds are valued as of the reporting date and the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance 
sheets for investments approximate their fair values. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). Inputs are broadly defined as assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under the Fair Value Measurements Topic are described below: 
 
 Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. The types of 
investments in Level 1 include securities traded on a national securities exchange or 
reported on the Nasdaq global market. These securities are stated at the last reported 
sales price on the day of valuation. The Company's Level 1 investments are their pension 
plan assets (see Note 4). 

 
 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly, and fair value that is determined through the use of models or 
other valuation methodologies. Investments in this category generally include less liquid 
and restricted equity securities, certificates of deposit and certain over-the-counter 
derivatives. A significant adjustment to a Level 2 input could result in the Level 2 
measurement becoming a Level 3 measurement. The Company has no Level 2 
investments. 

 
 Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability and that include situations where 

there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The inputs into the 
determination of fair value are based upon the best information in the circumstances and 
may require significant management judgment or estimation. Investments in this category 
generally include equity and debt positions in private companies. The Company has no 
Level 3 investments. 

 
Reclassifications: Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year 
classification. 
 
Subsequent Events: The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 22, 2012, the date on 
which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
Note 2. EA PM/CM, Inc. 
 
During 2012, The Louis  Berger Holdings, Inc. (“LBHi”), an entity with common ownership, exchanged 9,443 
shares of EA Engineering, Science and Technology, Inc. (“EA”) common stock with a book value of 
approximately $3,800,000 for 1,000 shares of EA PM/CM, Inc. (“PM/CM”) common stock with a fair value of 
approximately $5,900,000. EA shares exchanged represented approximately 20% of EA common stock held 
by LBHi and approximately 10% of all EA shares outstanding. PM/CM stock received in the exchange 
represents 100% of PM/CM shares issued and outstanding. The fair value of the EA shares exchanged was 
determined to be equal to the fair value PM/CM shares by an independent valuation specialist. LBHi 
contributed the EA shares to BGH, which in turn contributed them to LBG. LBG contributed the shares to 
Louis Berger Group Domestic, Inc. (“LBGd”), a wholly owned subsidiary of LBG. PM/CM will operate under 
the name Louis Berger Water Services. As a result of the exchange, LBHi recorded a gain of approximately 
$2,000,000 for the excess of the fair value over the carrying value of the shares exchanged. LBG recorded 
intangible assets of approximately $3,860,000, associated primarily with acquired contracts, which are being 
amortized over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.  
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Note 3. Foreign Operations 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk in the ordinary course of business. Approximately 4% and 
5% of the Company's consolidated assets are located outside the United States at June 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. Approximately 71% and 77% of consolidated net revenues for fiscal years 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, are related to operations in foreign countries. The Company enters into foreign consulting 
contracts under which the Company will receive payments in both U.S. dollars and local currencies. 
Additionally, to improve operating efficiencies, the Company maintains local currencies to fund projects, which 
are expected to incur expenses in local currencies. The Company does not hedge the cash flows related to 
the revenues associated with contract amounts due in local currencies as it is the Company's intent to use the 
local currencies to fund local expenditures. 
 
Note 4. Pension Plans 
 
The Company has adopted the guidance under the FASB ASC Topic for Defined Benefit Plans, which 
requires an employer to recognize an asset or liability for the overfunded or underfunded status of its pension 
and other postretirement benefit plans. For a pension plan, the asset or liability is the difference between the 
fair value of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation. All unrecognized prior-service costs and 
credits and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
income ("OCI"), net of tax. Such amounts will be adjusted as they are subsequently recognized as 
components of net periodic benefit cost or income pursuant to the current recognition and amortization 
provisions. 
 
The Company had a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) for eligible personnel on U.S. 
payrolls. As of June 30, 1996, it discontinued further participation in the Plan and froze the benefits. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension plan benefit obligations and fair 
value of assets for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, and a statement of the funded status as of   
June 30, 2012 and 2011 for this Plan: 

2012 2011

Reconciliation of benefit obligations:

  Benefit obligation at July 1 7,949,720$     6,977,154$     

  Interest cost 348,587          330,739          

  Actuarial gain 1,430,297       1,384,138       

  Benefits paid (364,632)         (210,464)         

  Settlements -                      (531,847)         

Benefit obligation at June 30 9,363,972$     7,949,720$     

Reconciliation of Plan assets:

  Fair value of Plan assets at July 1 7,835,472$     6,574,465$     

  Actual return on Plan assets 451,340          1,103,318       

  Benefits paid (364,632)         (210,464)         

  Employer contribution 800,000          900,000          

  Settlements -                      (531,847)         

Fair value of Plan assets at June 30 8,722,180$     7,835,472$     

Reconciliation of funded status:

  Funded status (641,792)$       (114,248)$       

Pension balances included in other accrued

  liabilities on consolidated balance sheets (641,792)$       (114,248)$       

 
Net periodic pension cost for the Company's defined benefit pension plan for 2012 and 2011 included the 
following components: 

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 348,587$        330,739$        

Expected return on Plan assets (454,633)         (358,342)         

Amortization of net loss 406,749          275,708          

Settlement charges -                      232,513          

Net periodic pension cost included in the 

 consolidated statements of operations 300,703$        480,618$        

2012 2011

 
The assumptions used in determining pension expense included a weighted average discount rate of 4.84% 
and 5.39% for fiscal years 2012 and 2011, respectively, and expected return on Plan assets of 6.25% for both 
fiscal years 2012 and 2011. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
Estimated future benefit payments for each of the subsequent years to June 30, 2012 and in the aggregate 
for the five years thereafter are as follows: 
 

Year ending June 30, 

2013 509,000$        

2014 657,000          

2015 659,000          

2016 557,000          

2017 518,000          

2018 - 2022 2,892,000       

 
The Company accounts for investments held by the pension plan at fair value as described in Note 1. All of 
the Plan’s investments are valued based on quoted prices in active markets for identical securities and, 
accordingly, are categorized as Level 1. The fair values of the Plan assets held as of June 30, 2012 by asset 
class are as follows: 
 

Asset Class

Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical 

Assets          

(Level 1)

Significant 

Other 

Observable 

Inputs    

(Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs           

(Level 3)

Equity securities 2,180,545$    25% 2,180,545$      -$                 -$                      

U.S. Treasury securities 6,367,191      73% 6,367,191        -                   -                        

Cash 174,444         2% 174,444           -                   -                        

Total 8,722,180$    100% 8,722,180$      -$                 -$                      

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2012

Total               

 
The fair value of Plan assets held as of June 30, 2011 by asset class is presented in the table below: 
 

Asset Class

Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical Assets    

(Level 1)

Significant 

Other 

Observable 

Inputs            

(Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs         

(Level 3)

Equity securities 4,668,907$    60% 4,668,907$      -$                 -$                      

U.S. Treasury securities 2,937,028      37% 2,937,028        -                   -                        

Cash 229,537         3% 229,537           -                   -                        

Total 7,835,472$    100% 7,835,472$      -$                 -$                      

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2011

Total               
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The expected long-term rate of return for the Plan's total assets is based on the expected return of each of 
the above categories, weighted based on the target allocation for each class. Equity securities are expected 
to return 8% to 9% over the long term, while debt securities are expected to return between 4% and 6%.  
 
The investing policy and strategy, as established by the Company’s pension committee, is to provide for 
growth of capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing the Plan's assets in accordance with the target 
allocations. The assets of the Plan are invested principally in U.S. Treasury Notes, commercial paper and 
corporate stocks and bonds. The weighted-average asset allocation at June 30, 2012 and 2011 by asset 
category is as follows: 
 

Target 

Asset Category Allocation 2012 2011

Equity Securities 25% 25% 60%

Debt Securities 70% 73% 37%

Other 5% 2% 3%

100% 100% 100%
 

 
The Company has an employer match of employee contributions to its 401(k) defined contribution plan for 
eligible personnel on U.S. payrolls. The graded service match is based upon the participant's years of service. 
For the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, contributions charged against income amounted to $1,467,526 
and $1,552,370, respectively. 
 
Note 5. Lines of Credit and Notes Payable 
 
During 2012, the Company, its parent and an affiliate entered into and jointly guaranteed a $95,000,000 
revolving credit facility. The portion of the facility available to the Company totals $40,000,000 and may be 
used for working capital purposes and standby letters of credit. The Company’s borrowings under the facility 
bear interest at 150 basis points plus the one month LIBOR. The facility is secured by substantially all of the 
assets of the Company, its parent and affiliate, requires the maintenance of certain covenants and expires in 
June 2015. At June 30, 2012, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the facility and standby 
letters of credit totaling $20,874,099 were issued.  
 
The Company also issued a corporate guarantee to a local bank for the lines of credit opened by its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd., in the amount of INR 100,000,000 ($1,797,753) of 
which INR 60,000,000 ($1,078,652) is available for letters of credit and INR 40,000,000 ($719,101) for 
working capital needs as of June 30, 2012 and in the amount of INR 100,000,000 ($2,234,389) of which INR 
60,000,000 ($1,340,633) is available for letters of credit and INR 40,000,000 ($893,756) for working capital 
needs as of June 30, 2011. There were direct borrowings in the amount of INR 46,697,430 ($839,504) and 
letters of credit outstanding in the amount of INR 21,490,748 ($386,351) as of June 30, 2012 and in the 
amount of INR 15,254,276 ($340,840) and letters of credit outstanding in the amount of INR 31,998,248 
($714,965) as of June 30, 2011. 
 
The Company has a corporate guarantee in the amount of €10,000,000 ($12,665,500) on behalf of Holdings 
Berger France, an affiliate with common ownership in support of a €25,000,000 ($31,663,750) and a 
€25,000,000 ($36,272,058) line of credit with a foreign bank as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
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Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Total rental expense, principally for buildings, equipment and vehicles, amounted to $15,419,477 for fiscal 
year 2012 and $15,794,951 for fiscal year 2011 pursuant to leases extending through fiscal year 2026. The 
Company is recognizing deferred rent of $6,235,709 and $5,978,404 for fiscal years 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, in connection with recording rent on a straight-line basis. Included in deferred rent in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets are lease incentives from lessors for operating leases of 
$2,485,862 and $2,673,856 as of June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, which will be amortized on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the leases as a reduction of rent expense. The future minimum annual rental 
commitments for the next five years for all noncancelable leases with original maturities of one year or greater 
at June 30, 2012 are as follows: 
 
Year ending June 30,

2013 9,553,371$     

2014 8,641,118       

2015 7,769,807       

2016 7,246,673       

2017 7,116,154       

Thereafter 6,855,611       

47,182,734$   

 
Note 7. Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company has projects in common with various companies that are affiliated by common ownership. 
Included in revenues and expenses are $21,362,521 and $31,369,645, respectively, of related party 
transactions related to such projects as of June 30, 2012, and $21,980,134 and $28,406,052, respectively, as 
of June 30, 2011. As of June 30, 2012, the Company had affiliate balances of $6,252,544 included in 
accounts payable - affiliates, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. As of June 30, 2011, the 
Company had affiliate balances of $6,357,419 included in accounts payable - affiliates, in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet.  
 
Note 8. Income Taxes 
 
The Company files its U.S. federal tax return on a consolidated basis with Holdings, its Parent, and only 
records its share of income taxes, which is reflected in the Company’s tax provision. While the Company does 
not have a formal tax-sharing agreement with Holdings, the Company reimburses Holdings for its share of 
taxes. The Company files its state returns on either a consolidated, combined or separate basis and its 
foreign returns according to the requirements of each jurisdiction in which it operates.  
 
The effective income tax rates for 2012 and 2011 are 55.3% and 65.4%, respectively, calculated as income 
taxes divided by income before income taxes.  
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Note 8. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
The components of the income tax provision were as follows: 
 

2012 2011

Current:

  Federal 2,638,081$     4,969,728$     

  State 77,873            2,136,817       

  Foreign 2,945,898       7,514,805       

Total current 5,661,852       14,621,350     

Deferred:

  Federal (2,458,936)      (3,985,971)      

  State 523,023          (845,937)         

Total deferred (1,935,913)      (4,831,908)      

Total income tax provision 3,725,939$     9,789,442$     

 
A reconciliation of the expected statutory tax rate in the U.S. for 2012 and 2011 is as follows: 
 

2012 2011

Statutory rate 35.0            % 35.0            %

State rate, net of federal benefit 5.8              5.7              

Extraterritorial income benefit -                 -                 

Foreign tax credit (38.5)          (27.0)          

Foreign income rate differential 42.7            33.6            

Unremitted foreign earnings (2.5)            (2.8)            

Permanent items 22.3            20.1            

Uncertain tax provisions (9.5)            (5.7)            

Other -                 6.5              

Actual rate 55.3            % 65.4            %
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Note 8. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.  
 
Significant components of the Company's net deferred tax assets at June 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows: 
 

2012 2011

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Allowance for doubtful accounts 10,524,923$   6,257,163$     

Accrued expenses 588,161          1,135,520       

Reserves for projects 11,910,922     8,921,071       

Deferred rent 1,398,463       1,252,254       

Prepaid expenses (1,756,425)      -                      

Change in accounting method (4,256,505)      -                      

Unbilled receivables (2,849,921)      (4,921,067)      

Other (12,879)           -                      

15,546,739     12,644,941     

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (414,702)         (580,149)         

Intangibles (536,058)         -                      

Change in accounting method (6,165,627)      (4,498,290)      

Net operating loss 648,083          -                      

Fixed assets (1,226,797)      (564,702)         

Unpaid interest on uncertain tax provisions -                      39,836            

Valuation allowance (756,535)         -                      

Foreign tax credits 399,983          -                      

  Other -                      81,156            

(8,051,653)      (5,522,149)      

Net deferred tax assets 7,495,086$     7,122,792$     

 
As of July 1, 2009, the Company adopted an accounting standard relating to uncertain tax positions, and 
changed its policy related to the accounting for income tax contingencies. In connection with the adoption, the 
Company recognized an additional liability for uncertain tax positions of $795,964 including applicable interest 
and penalties. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company recorded a reduction in interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $664,000 within its income tax provision in the consolidated 
statement of operations. The balance of accrued interest and penalties at June 30, 2012 was $758,073. 
 
The Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal jurisdictions and various state jurisdictions. The periods 
subject to examination for the Company's federal tax returns are tax years June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2011. 
The periods subject to examination for the Company's state tax returns in significant jurisdictions are tax 
years June 30, 2007 through June 30, 2011. The Company does not expect that the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change over the next twelve months.  
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Note 9. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations  
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contracts to provide engineering and consulting 
services. Lawsuits and claims may be brought against the Company and its affiliates by their customers. 
Legal fees and related costs are expensed when incurred. 
 
The ultimate legal and financial liability of the Company with respect to its claims, lawsuits and proceedings 
cannot be estimated with certainty. As additional information concerning the estimates used by the Company 
becomes known, the Company reassesses its position with respect to accrued liabilities and other potential 
exposures, including tax matters. Management, after consultation with its counsel, does not believe that the 
ultimate resolution of such matters will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial position, operating results or cash flows. 
 
A large proportion of the Company's business is contracted with federal and state governments and 
conducted internationally.  Such work must be in compliance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations for both 
direct costs and allocations of indirect costs. The Company is subject to periodic audits of such costs, some of 
which are currently in process. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of such audits will not 
have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or 
cash flows. 
 
Due to the Company’s business with U.S. and foreign governments, municipal clients throughout the world, 
and international lending agencies, the Company's practices are periodically subject to review and occasional 
investigation. The Company may or may not be informed of the existence of a review or investigation. Such 
review or investigation, whether relating to government contracts or conducted for other reasons, could result 
in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities including repayments, fines, penalties or potential suspension from 
future contracting for the government agency in question. A review or investigation of this type often takes 
years to complete and may result in no adverse action.  
 
In fiscal year 2008, the Company was served with a U.S. District of New Jersey Grand Jury subpoena 
seeking the production of documents relating to certain of its international work performed for specified U.S. 
government agencies. In November 2010, the Company entered into a global settlement with the Office of the 
U.S. Attorney - New Jersey District on behalf of all involved government agencies. As part of the settlement, 
the Company acknowledged responsibility for the improper allocation of overhead internally performed by 
former employees of the Company. The improper allocation resulted in incorrect pricing to certain U.S. 
government agencies. Material components of the agreement include continued implementation of the 
Company’s improved cost accounting system and its enhanced internal controls program, and enforcement of 
the Company’s Compliance and Ethics Plan. The government agreed to close all outstanding audits through 
and including 2008 and the Company was found to be a responsible party for U.S. government contracting by 
its lead federal agency. In addition, the Company will employ a monitor for two years to review and report on 
the status of the agreement’s implementation. The Company agreed to pay the U.S. government 
$65,000,000. Of this amount, $30,897,351 was paid in fiscal year 2011 and $5,824,064 million has been paid 
in fiscal year 2012. The remaining $28,278,585 will be paid over the next two and one-half years. The impact 
of the settlement is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets in other accrued liabilities and 
long-term liabilities in the amount of $18,908,210 and $9,370,375, respectively, as of June 30, 2012 and 
$5,824,064 and $28,278,585, respectively, as of June 30, 2011. All costs of the settlement were already 
reflected in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations in prior years. 
 
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally 
prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to officials for the purpose of 
obtaining or retaining business. The Company’s policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. 
The Company operates in many parts of the world that experience government corruption to some degree 
and, in certain circumstances, compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and 
practices. Management believes the Company’s FCPA policy and training provide its employees with 
procedures, guidelines and information about FCPA obligations and compliance and that the Company has 
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Note 9. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations (Continued) 
 
procedures and controls in place designed to ensure internal and external compliance. However, such 
internal controls and procedures will not always protect the Company from reckless or criminal acts 
committed by its employees or agents. The above noted global settlement required the Company to 
undertake an investigation of its compliance with anti-bribery laws. It is now expected that this internal 
investigation will be completed by the end of fiscal year 2013. If the Company is found to be liable for FCPA 
violations (either due to its own acts or its inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), it could 
suffer from criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions, which could have a material effect on the business.  
As of June 30, 2012, LBG has recorded an accrual related to potential liabilities, which is included in other 
accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 
 
The Company’s largest client accounted for 43% in 2012 and 45% in 2011 of the Company's net revenues. 
This client is a major U.S. government agency, which sponsors large engineering, construction and 
development contracts in several foreign countries including certain countries with an unstable economic, 
political and security environment.  
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Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors  
The Louis Berger Group, Inc.   
Morristown, New Jersey 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.   
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 

 
New York, New York 
October 28, 2011 
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 30,783,230    $ 37,985,523    
Short-term investments 13,733,582    27,106,305    
Accounts receivable, net - service contracts, including unbilled revenues

of $79,581,493 and $96,105,651 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and
net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $18,120,440 and $18,727,021 at
June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively 156,389,741  173,874,448  

Accounts receivable - affiliates -                     12,622,254    
Other receivables 892,182         1,856,872      
Deferred income taxes 12,644,941    9,466,477      
Prepaid income taxes 2,125,706      -                     
Prepaid expenses 4,438,157      2,737,695      

Total current assets 221,007,539  265,649,574  

Property and Equipment, net 7,919,313      8,652,952      
Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Investees 116,767         116,767         

Restricted Cash 6,012,148      -                     
Other Assets 10,013,803    2,473,975      

Total assets $ 245,069,570  $ 276,893,268  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable - trade $ 51,584,848    $ 46,428,724    
Accounts payable - affiliates 6,357,419      3,248,219      
Accounts payable - other 1,681,670      2,512,469      
Accrued project costs 77,088,204    86,874,601    
Other accrued liabilities:

Salaries, wages and other compensation 13,402,741    11,591,578    
Taxes, other than income taxes 712,565         390,687         
Other 22,448,074    23,976,400    

Advance billings on service contracts 5,694,429      8,308,181      
Current income taxes payable -                     2,429,647      

Total current liabilities 178,969,950  185,760,506  

Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 5,522,149      7,183,958      
Deferred rent payable 3,304,548      2,648,447      
Lease incentives for operating leases 2,673,856      2,876,826      
Other long-term liabilities 29,182,580    48,632,888    

Total liabilities 219,653,083  247,102,625  

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 6 and 8)

Stockholder's Equity:
Common stock, no par value, authorized - 200,000 shares, issued and
  outstanding - 100,000 shares 14,000           14,000           
Additional paid-in capital 22,500,000    22,500,000    
Retained earnings 4,519,040      9,340,602      
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,616,553)     (2,063,959)     

Total stockholder's equity 25,416,487    29,790,643    

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity $ 245,069,570  $ 276,893,268  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

Net Contract Revenues $ 653,107,920    $ 687,207,657    

Costs and Expenses:

Direct costs 493,881,653    531,484,469    

Operating expenses 143,569,971    145,159,528    

637,451,624    676,643,997    

Operating income 15,656,296      10,563,660      

Other Income (Expenses):

Interest income 145,690           278,346           

Interest expense (966,815)         (412,403)         

Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), net 57,400             (67,193)           

Other, net 75,309             174,051           

(688,416)         (27,199)           

Income before income taxes 14,967,880      10,536,461      

Provision for Income Taxes 9,789,442        15,798,729      

Net income (loss) $ 5,178,438        $ (5,262,268)      

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder's Equity

Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

Accumulated

Additional Other Total

Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Stockholder's Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Equity (Loss) Income

Balance, June 30, 2009 100,000   14,000$     22,500,000$   15,398,834$      (2,728,524)$         35,184,310$         

Net Loss -               -                 -                      (5,262,268)        -                           (5,262,268)           (5,262,268)$          

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -               -                 -                      -                        98,712                  98,712                 98,712                  

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax of $0 -               -                 -                      -                        565,853                565,853               565,853                

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes -               -                 -                      (795,964)           -                           (795,964)              -                            

June 30, 2010 comprehensive loss (4,597,703)$          

Balance, June 30, 2010 100,000   14,000       22,500,000     9,340,602          (2,063,959)           29,790,643          

Net Income (Loss) -               -                 -                      5,178,438          -                           5,178,438            5,178,438$           

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -               -                 -                      -                        578,348                578,348               578,348                

Dividend Paid -               -                 -                      (10,000,000)      -                           (10,000,000)         -                            

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax of $0 -               -                 -                      -                        (130,942)              (130,942)              (130,942)               

June 30, 2011 comprehensive income 5,625,844$           

Balance, June 30, 2011 100,000   14,000$     22,500,000$   4,519,040$        (1,616,553)$         25,416,487$        

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Common Stock
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

2011 2010

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) 5,178,438$       (5,262,268)$      

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 2,698,140         2,577,250         

Deferred income taxes (4,840,273)        1,415,159         

Deferred rent 656,101            420,402            

Lease incentives (202,970)           (173,019)           

Provisions for losses on accounts receivable (606,580)           5,797,694         

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables 19,055,976       (6,214,522)        

Prepaid expenses (1,700,463)        229,090            

Other assets (7,539,829)        (1,027,492)        

Due to/from affiliates, net 15,731,454       (35,936,266)      

Accounts payable 4,325,324         (12,834,209)      

Accrued project costs (9,786,398)        32,543,747       

Advance billings on service contracts (2,613,753)        81,710              

Accrued and other long-term liabilities (18,977,023)      17,621,187       

Income taxes payable (4,555,354)        (2,077,596)        

Net cash used in operating activities (3,177,210)        (2,839,133)        

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Purchase of short-term investments (41,052,172)      (35,708,693)      

Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 54,424,895       29,984,051       

Increase in restricted cash (6,012,148)        -                        

Purchase of property and equipment (1,964,006)        (2,277,185)        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 5,396,569         (8,001,827)        

Cash Flows From Financing Activity - dividend paid (10,000,000)      -                        

Cash used in financing activity (10,000,000)      -                        

Foreign Currency Translation Effect on Cash 578,348            98,712              

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7,202,293)        (10,742,248)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Beginning 37,985,523       48,727,771       

Ending 30,783,230$     37,985,523$     

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest 966,815$          412,403$          

Income taxes   6,242,000$       11,653,000$     

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of Consolidation:  The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") is a multi-disciplinary 
international consulting firm engaged in infrastructure engineering, environmental science, and economic 
development and planning services.  The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Berger Group Holdings, 
Inc. ("Holdings" or "BGH").  The Company operates throughout the United States, Latin America, Africa, the 
Middle East, Europe and Asia.  The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of 
Louis Berger Group International, Inc. (“LBG”), Louis Berger Group Domestic, Inc. (“LBGD”), Louis Berger & 
Assoc., P.C. and its wholly owned foreign subsidiary, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd.  
 
The foreign subsidiaries have been formed pursuant to local laws, which require the establishment of a local 
entity to perform services under service contracts in those countries/jurisdictions and which operate using the 
local currencies as their functional currency.   
 
The Company's fiscal year-end is June 30.  Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue when a contract has been executed, the contract 
price is fixed and determinable, delivery of services or products has occurred, and collectibility of the contract 
price is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Revenue is earned under cost reimbursable, 
time and materials and fixed price contracts. 
 
Under cost reimbursable contracts, the Company is reimbursed for allowable costs, and paid a fee, which 
may be fixed or performance-based.  Revenues on cost reimbursable contracts are recognized as costs are 
incurred plus an estimate of applicable fees earned.  The Company considers fixed fees under cost 
reimbursable contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the 
contract.  For certain cost reimbursable contracts that include performance-based fee incentives, the 
Company recognizes the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the customer at the time such 
fee can be reasonably estimated.  Other performance-based fees are recognized upon customer approval.  
 
Revenue on time and materials contracts is recognized based on direct labor hours expended at contract 
billing rates and adding other billable direct costs.  For fixed-price contracts that are based on unit pricing or 
level of effort, the Company recognizes revenue for the number of units delivered in any given fiscal period.  
For fixed-price contracts in which the Company is paid a specific amount to provide a particular service for a 
stated period of time, revenue is recognized over the service period.  
 
For fixed-price contracts that provide for a specific deliverable with related customer acceptance provisions, 
revenues are recognized upon delivery and customer acceptance.  However, a significant portion of the 
Company's fixed price-completion contracts involve significant design and development.  For those contracts 
that are within scope of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 605-35, Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts, revenue is recognized on the 
percentage-of-completion method using costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs.  
 
The Company's contracts with government agencies are subject to periodic funding by the respective 
contracting agency.  Funding for a contract may be provided in full at inception of the contract or ratably 
throughout the contract as the services are provided. In evaluating the probability of funding for purposes of 
assessing collectibility of the contract price, the Company considers its previous experiences with its 
customers, communications with its customers regarding funding status, and the Company's knowledge of 
available funding for the contract or program.  If funding is not assessed as probable, revenue recognition is 
deferred until realization is deemed probable.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation, including the contemplated level of effort to 
accomplish the tasks under the contract, the cost of the effort, and an ongoing assessment of progress 
toward completing the contract. From time to time, as part of the normal management processes, facts 
develop that require revisions to estimated total costs or revenues expected.  The cumulative impact of any 
revisions to estimates and the full impact of anticipated losses on any type of contract are recognized in the 
period in which they become known.  
 
The allowability of certain costs under government contracts is subject to audit by the government.  Certain 
indirect costs are charged to contracts using provisional or estimated indirect rates, which are subject to later 
revision based on government audits of those costs.  Management is of the opinion that provisions for costs 
subsequently disallowed, if any, have been properly provided for.  
 
Revenues relating to certain joint ventures over which the Company does not exercise control are not 
consolidated and, therefore, the Company only includes its portion of the revenues earned on joint venture 
contracts.  The total balance of revenues (unaudited) earned by joint venture partners not included in the 
Company’s revenues were $14,554,096 and $23,818,193 in 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Anticipated contract losses are recognized in full when determined to be probable and estimable.  Contract 
costs and estimated earnings recognized in excess of amounts billed (i.e., unbilled) are classified as current 
assets and included in accounts receivable.  Billings in excess of contract costs and estimated earnings are 
classified as current liabilities under advance billings on contracts until earned.  Costs and expenses include 
only the Company's portion of the costs incurred on joint venture contracts.  Additionally, certain contracts 
allow customers to withhold a portion of their payments to the service provider until contract completion.  
Retention balances included in accounts receivable as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $2,903,281 and 
$3,754,597, respectively.  Retention balances included in trade accounts payable that the Company withholds 
from its own third-party service providers were $10,893,883 and $9,915,196 as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. 
 
Accounts Receivable:  The majority of the Company's accounts receivable, including unbilled amounts, are 
due from various agencies of the U.S. federal and state governments, foreign governments, and multinational 
banks.  Unbilled amounts represent work-in-progress that has been earned but not yet billed.  Accounts 
receivable are generally due or will be due in accordance with stated contract terms and shown at amounts 
due from customers less allowance for doubtful accounts.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is established 
through a provision charged to expense.  Accounts receivable are charged against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts when management believes that collectability of the balance due is unlikely.  The Company 
determines the allowance considering a number of factors, including the age of the receivable, the customer's 
current ability to pay, and the condition of the general economy and industry as a whole.  The Company 
believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is sufficient to cover any potential losses.  The Company 
writes off accounts receivable when they are deemed uncollectable.  The Company does not charge interest 
on past due receivables. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Changes in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows: 
 

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at beginning of year $ 18,727,021  $ 12,929,326  

Provisions for (recoveries of) losses on accounts receivable (426,079)     5,933,700    

Receivable write-offs (180,502)     (136,005)     

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at end of year $ 18,120,440  $ 18,727,021  

2011 2010

 
 
Foreign Currency Translation: The Company conducts operations worldwide.  The Company's functional 
currency is the U.S. dollar.  Transaction-based adjustments denominated in foreign currencies are included in 
operations.  The Company also remeasures foreign denominated assets and liabilities at year-end exchange 
rates.  Exchange gains and losses that result from remeasurement are recognized in operations for each 
respective period, and were $57,400, and $(67,193) for the twelve months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  Financial statement translation adjustments arising from differences in exchange rates from 
period to period are included in the determination of other comprehensive income, which is reflected as a 
component of stockholder’s equity.  
 
Income Taxes:  The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax 
consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements or 
tax returns.  Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference 
between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the difference is expected to reverse. 
 
The Company provides deferred taxes for the estimated additional amounts, after applying available foreign 
tax credits, which may be due upon repatriation of undistributed earnings from foreign investees. 
 
The FASB issued new guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.  The Company adopted this 
guidance for the year ended June 30, 2010.  In connection with this guidance, the Company recognized an 
additional liability for uncertain tax positions including applicable interest and penalties.  The tax years ended 
June 30, 2010 is open and subject to audit by major jurisdictions. 
 
Cash Equivalents:  The Company considers highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Restricted Cash:  In 2011, the Company pledged $6,000,000 in cash as collateral for four standby letters of 
credit issued by JPMorgan Chase & Co. Two letters of credit, for approximately $3,000,000 each, are in favor 
of operations in the Middle East.  The remaining two letters of credit are both in favor of an agency in India. 
 
Short-Term Investments:  Short-term investments include certificates of deposit held to maturity and money 
market deposit accounts, and are recorded at cost, which approximates market.   
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment is recorded at cost.  Depreciation and amortization of 
property and equipment is provided principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets.  Estimated useful lives range from three to six years for all furniture, fixtures and equipment.  Half- 
year depreciation is charged in the year of purchase and the last year of their estimated lives.  Expenditures 
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations.  Renewal and betterments are capitalized and 
amortized over their useful life or the remaining life of the lease if shorter.  Upon retirement or other 
disposition of fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and 
the resulting gains or losses are reflected in earnings.  Depreciation and amortization expense for the years 
ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $2,698,140 and $2,577,250 , respectively. 
 
The Company's property and equipment includes: 
 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment $ 17,201,486  $ 18,345,296  

Less accumulated depreciation (9,282,173)   (9,692,344)   

Property and equipment, net $ 7,919,313    $ 8,652,952    

2011 2010

 
 
Long-Lived Assets:  The Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when 
events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the estimated cash flows to be 
generated by such assets are less than their book value.  No such impairment indicators exist as of June 30, 
2011. 
 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  The more significant estimates include accounting for long-term contract revenues and expenses 
(including income and loss recognition and adjustments for estimated indirect rate changes), income taxes, 
pension estimates and depreciation.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan:  The Company has adopted the guidance under the FASB ASC Topic for Defined 
Benefit Plans.  This topic requires recognition of the overfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit 
postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the statement of financial position, and recognition of changes 
in that funded status within stockholder’s equity, apart from expenses, in the year in which the changes occur.  
Measurement of the funded status of a plan as of the date of the statement of financial position is also 
required.   
 
Financial Instruments: The Company's financial instruments are cash, accounts receivable, investment 
securities included in the pension plan, short-term investments and accounts payable. The carrying amounts 
of cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of their short-term 
maturity and interest rates which approximate current rates.  The fair value of investments in securities and 
bonds are valued as of the reporting date and the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance 
sheets for investments approximate their fair values. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments:  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).  Inputs are broadly defined as assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under the Fair Value Measurement Topic are described below: 
 

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.  The types of 
investments in Level 1 include securities traded on a national securities exchange or 
reported on the Nasdaq global market.  These securities are stated at the last reported 
sales price on the day of valuation.  The Company's Level 1 investments are their pension 
plan assets (see Note 4). 

 
Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly, and fair value that is determined through the use of models or 
other valuation methodologies.  Investments in this category generally include less liquid 
and restricted equity securities, certificates of deposit and certain over-the-counter 
derivatives.  A significant adjustment to a Level 2 input could result in the Level 2 
measurement becoming a Level 3 measurement.  The Company's Level 2 investments 
are certificates of deposit of approximately $1,900,000 . 

 
Level 3:  Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability and that include situations where 

there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability.  The inputs into the 
determination of fair value are based upon the best information in the circumstances and 
may require significant management judgment or estimation.  Investments in this category 
generally include equity and debt positions in private companies.  The Company has no 
Level 3 investments. 

 
Reclassifications:  Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year 
classification. 
 
Subsequent Events:  The Company has evaluated subsequent events through October 28, 2011, the date on 
which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
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Note 2. Income Taxes 
 
The Company files its U.S. federal tax return on a consolidated basis with Holdings, its parent, and only 
records its share of income taxes, which is reflected in the Company’s tax provision. While the Company does 
not have a formal tax-sharing agreement with Holdings, the Company reimburses Holdings for its share of 
taxes.  The Company files its state returns on either a consolidated, combined or separate basis and its 
foreign returns according to the requirements of each jurisdiction in which it operates. 
 
The effective income tax rates for 2011 and 2010 are 65.4% and 149.9%, respectively, calculated as income 
taxes divided by income before income taxes.   
 
The components of the income tax provision were as follows: 
 

Current:

  Federal $ 4,969,728    $ 11,833,816  

  State 2,136,817    960,044       

  Foreign 7,514,805    1,610,085    

Total current 14,621,350  14,403,945  

Deferred:

  Federal (3,985,971)  1,387,482    

  State (845,937)     7,302           

Total deferred (4,831,908)  1,394,784    

Total income tax provision $ 9,789,442    $ 15,798,729  

2011 2010
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Note 2. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
A reconciliation of the expected statutory tax rate in the U.S. for 2011 and 2010 is as follows: 
 

2011 2010

Statutory rate 35.0        % 35.0        %

State rate, net of federal benefit 5.7          6.6          

Extraterritorial income benefit -              (0.4)         

Foreign tax credit (27.0)       (13.3)       

Foreign income rate differential 33.6        13.3        

Unremitted foreign earnings (2.8)         3.6          

Permanent Items (a) 20.1        106.8      

Uncertain tax provisions (5.7)         1.2          

Other 6.5          (2.9)         

Actual rate 65.4        % 149.9      %

 
(a) 2010 consists primarily of nondeductible amounts related to the global settlement with the Office of the 

U.S. Attorney (see Note 8). 
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Note 2. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.   
 
Significant components of the Company's net deferred tax assets at June 30, 2011 and 2010 are as follows: 
 

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6,257,163    $ 6,906,905   

Accrued expenses 1,135,520    2,292,582   

Reserves for projects 8,921,071    11,665,300 

Deferred rent 1,252,254    966,004      

Federal effect of state taxes -                   (141,865)     

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries -                   (985,806)     

Change in accounting method -                   (2,837,748)  

Unbilled receivables (4,921,067)   (8,398,895)  

12,644,941  9,466,477   

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (580,149)      -                  

Accrued expenses -                   (10,015)       

Change in accounting method (4,498,290)   (5,675,495)  

Unrealized loss -                   (179,561)     

Fixed assets (564,702)      (968,092)     

Unpaid interest on uncertain tax provisions 39,836         229,940      

Other 81,156         (580,735)     

(5,522,149)   (7,183,958)  

Net deferred tax assets $ 7,122,792    $ 2,282,519   

2011 2010

 
 
As of July 1, 2009, the Company adopted an accounting standard relating to uncertain tax positions, and 
changed its policy related to the accounting for income tax contingencies. In connection with the adoption, the 
Company recognized an additional liability for uncertain tax positions of $795,964 including applicable interest 
and penalties. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company recorded a reduction in interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits of $93,571 within its income tax provision in the consolidated statement of 
operations.  The balance of accrued interest and penalties at June 30, 2011 was $900,409. 
 
The Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal jurisdictions and various state jurisdictions. The period 
subject to examination for the Company's federal tax returns is tax year June 30, 2010.  The periods subject 
to examination for the Company's state tax returns in significant jurisdictions are tax years June 30, 2006 
through June 30, 2010. The Company does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will 
significantly change over the next twelve months.   
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Note 3. Foreign Operations 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk in the ordinary course of business.  Approximately 5% and 
3% of the Company's consolidated assets are located outside the United States at June 30, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively.  Approximately 77% and 78% of consolidated net revenues for fiscal years 2011 and 2010, 
respectively, are related to operations in foreign countries.  The Company enters into foreign consulting 
contracts under which the Company will receive payments in both U.S. dollars and local currencies.  
Additionally, to improve operating efficiencies, the Company maintains local currencies to fund projects, which 
are expected to incur expenses in local currencies. Periodically, the Company borrows in local currencies in 
order to reduce exchange rate risk.  The Company does not hedge the cash flows related to the revenues 
associated with contract amounts due in local currencies as it is the Company's intent to use the local 
currencies to fund local expenditures. 
 
Note 4. Pension Plans 
 
The Company has adopted the guidance under the FASB ASC Topic for Defined Benefit Plans, which 
requires an employer to recognize an asset or liability for the overfunded or underfunded status of its pension 
and other postretirement benefit plans. For a pension plan, the asset or liability is the difference between the 
fair value of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation.  All unrecognized prior-service costs and 
credits and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
income ("OCI"), net of tax. Such amounts will be adjusted as they are subsequently recognized as 
components of net periodic benefit cost or income pursuant to the current recognition and amortization 
provisions. 
 
The Company had a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) for eligible personnel on U.S. 
payrolls.  As of June 30, 1996, it discontinued further participation in the Plan and froze the benefits. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension plan benefit obligations and fair 
value of assets for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, and a statement of the funded status as of   
June 30, 2011 and 2010 for this Plan: 
 

Reconciliation of benefit obligations:

  Benefit obligation at July 1 6,977,154$     7,643,250$     

  Interest cost 330,739          395,618          

  Actuarial gain (loss) 1,384,138       (20,398)           

  Benefits paid (210,464)         (186,209)         

  Settlements (531,847)         (855,107)         

Benefit obligation at June 30 7,949,720       6,977,154       

Reconciliation of Plan assets:

  Fair value of Plan assets at July 1 6,574,465       6,428,571       

  Actual return on Plan assets 1,103,318       187,210          

  Benefits paid (210,464)         (186,209)         

  Employer contribution 900,000          1,000,000       

  Settlements (531,847)         (855,107)         

Fair value of Plan assets at June 30 7,835,472       6,574,465       

Reconciliation of funded status:

  Funded status (114,248)$       (402,689)$       

Pension balances included in other accrued

  liabilities on consolidated balance sheets (114,248)$       (402,689)$       

2011 2010

 
Net periodic pension cost for the Company's defined benefit pension plan for 2011 and 2010 included the 
following components: 
 

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 330,739$        395,618$        

Expected return on Plan assets (358,342)         (370,400)         

Amortization of net loss 275,708          318,748          

Settlement charges 232,513          409,897          

Net periodic pension cost included in the 

 consolidated statements of operations 480,618$        753,863$        

2011 2010

 
The assumptions used in determining pension expense included a discount rate of 5.39% and 5.92% for fiscal 
years 2011 and 2010, respectively, and expected return on Plan assets of 6.25% for both fiscal years 2011 
and 2010. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The fair value of Plan assets held as of June 30, 2011 by asset class is presented in the table below: 
 

Asset Class

Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical 

Assets    

(Level 1)

Significant 

Observable 

Inputs            

(Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs         

(Level 3)

Equity securities 4,668,907$     60% 4,668,907$     -$                 -$                      

U.S. Treasury securities 2,937,028       37% 2,937,028       -                   -                        

Cash 229,537          3% 229,537          -                   -                        

Total 7,835,472$     100% 7,835,472$     -$                 -$                      

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2011

Total               

 
 
The fair value of Plan assets held as of June 30, 2010 by asset class is presented in the table below: 
 

Asset Class

Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical 

Assets     

(Level 1)

Significant 

Observable 

Inputs    

(Level 2)

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs           

(Level 3)

Equity securities 3,747,445$     57% 3,747,445$     -$                 -$                      

U.S. Treasury securities 2,629,786       40% 2,629,786       -                   -                        

Cash 197,234          3% 197,234          -                   -                        

Total 6,574,465$     100% 6,574,465$     -$                 -$                      

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010

Total               

 
 
The expected long-term rate of return for the Plan's total assets is based on the expected return of each of 
the above categories, weighted based on the target allocation for each class. Equity securities are expected 
to return 8% to 9% over the long term, while debt securities are expected to return between 4% and 6%. The 
Company expects that the Plan's asset manager will provide a modest (0.5% to 1% per annum) premium 
over the respective market benchmark indices. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The investing policy and strategy, as established by the Company’s pension committee, is to provide for 
growth of capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing the Plan's assets in accordance with the target 
allocations, which are as follows: 
 

Target

Equity securities 60%

Debt securities 35%

Other 5%  
 
The Company has an employer match of employee contributions to its 401(k) defined contribution plan for 
eligible personnel on U.S. payrolls.  The graded service match is based upon the participant's years of 
service.  For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, contributions charged against income amounted to 
$1,552,370  and $1,654,762, respectively. 
 
Note 5. Lines of Credit and Notes Payable 
 
The Company had $52,414,312 and $57,414,312 available for letters of credit from various institutions at 
June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, of which $22,000,000 and $27,000,000 can be used for working capital 
revolving lines of credit at June 30, 2011 and 2010 respectively.  At June 30, 2011 and 2010, it had 
outstanding $37,823,153 and $35,899,135, respectively, of letters of credit under these facilities and had no 
direct borrowings. 
 
The Company has a corporate guarantee in the amount of €10,000,000 ($14,508,823) on behalf of Louis 
Berger France S.A.S. (“HBF”), an entity affiliated through common ownership, in support of a €25,000,000  
($36,272,058) and €25,000,000  ($30,532,715) line of credit with a foreign bank as of June 30, 2011 and 
2010, respectively.  There were no borrowings as of June 30, 2011 and 2010.  HBF had issued €15,813,913 
($22,944,127) and €20,892,000 ($25,515,579) of letters of credit under this facility as of June 30, 2011 and 
2010, respectively.  
 
The Company also issued a corporate guarantee to a local bank for the lines of credit opened by its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd., in the amount of INR100,000,000 ($2,234,389), of 
which INR60,000,000 ($1,340,633) is available for letters of credit and INR40,000,000 ($893,756) for working 
capital needs as of June 30, 2011 and in the amount of INR50,000,000 ($1,072,378) of which INR30,000,000 
($643,427) is available for letters of credit and INR20,000,000 ($428,951) for working capital needs as of 
June 30, 2010.  There were direct borrowings in the amount of INR15,254,276 ($340,840) and letters of credit 
outstanding in the amount of INR31,998,248 ($714,965) as of June 30, 2011. There were no borrowings as of 
June 30, 2010. 
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Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Total rental expense, principally for buildings, equipment and vehicles, amounted to $8,156,793 for fiscal year 
2011 and $8,337,459 for fiscal year 2010 pursuant to leases extending through fiscal year 2026.  The 
Company is recognizing deferred rent of $3,304,548 and $2,648,447 for fiscal years 2011 and 2010, 
respectively, in connection with recording rent on a straight-line basis. Lease incentives from lessors for 
operating leases of $2,673,856 and $2,876,826 as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, will be amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases as a reduction of rent expense.  The future minimum 
annual rental commitments for the next five years for all noncancelable leases with original maturities of one 
year or greater at June 30, 2011 are as follows: 
 

Year ending June 30, 2011

2012 9,469,501$     

2013 8,784,106       

2014 8,651,278       

2015 7,890,636       

2016 7,048,574       

Thereafter 6,904,496       

48,748,591$   

 
Note 7. Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company has projects in common with various companies that are affiliated by common ownership.  
Included in revenues and expenses are $5,158,389 and $28,406,052, respectively, of related party 
transactions related to such projects for the year ended June 30, 2011, and $5,205,866 and $40,651,466, 
respectively, for the year ended June 30, 2010.  As of June 30, 2011, the Company had affiliate balances of 
$6,357,419 included in accounts payable - affiliates, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  As of 
June 30, 2010, the Company had affiliate balances of $3,248,219,  $12,622,254, and $12,500,000 included in 
accounts payable – affiliates, accounts receivable – affiliates and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in 
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.  Long-term liabilities are non-interest bearing with no 
scheduled repayment terms.  Additionally, the Company paid $4,724,068 to BGH for management fees offset 
by services provided to BGH of $2,197,066. 
 
Note 8. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations  
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contracts to provide engineering and consulting 
services. Legal fees are expensed as incurred. Lawsuits and claims may be brought against the Company 
and its affiliates by their customers.   
 
The ultimate legal and financial liability of the Company with respect to its claims, lawsuits and proceedings 
cannot be estimated with certainty.  As additional information concerning the estimates used by the Company 
becomes known, the Company reassesses its position with respect to accrued liabilities and other potential 
exposures, including tax matters.  Management, after consultation with its counsel, does not believe that the 
ultimate resolution of such matters will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial position, operating results or cash flows. 
 
A large proportion of the Company's business is contracted with federal and state governments and 
conducted internationally.   Such work must be in compliance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations for both 
direct costs and allocations of indirect costs.  The Company is subject to periodic audits of such costs, some 
of which are currently in process.  In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of such audits will not  
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Note 8. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations (Continued) 
 
have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or 
cash flows. 
 
Due to the Company’s business with U.S. and foreign governments, municipal clients throughout the world, 
and international lending agencies, the Company's practices are periodically subject to review and occasional 
investigation.  The Company may or may not be informed of the existence of the review or investigation.  
Such review or investigation, whether relating to government contracts or conducted for other reasons, could 
result in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities including repayments, fines, penalties or potential 
suspension from future contracting for the government agency in question.  A review or investigation of this 
type often takes years to complete and may result in no adverse action.   
 
In fiscal year 2008, the Company was served with a U.S. District of New Jersey Grand Jury subpoena 
seeking the production of documents relating to certain of its international work performed for specified U.S. 
government agencies. In November, 2010 the Company entered into a global settlement with the Office of the 
U.S. Attorney - New Jersey District on behalf of all involved government agencies.  As part of the settlement, 
the Company acknowledged responsibility for the improper allocation of overhead internally performed by 
former employees of the Company.  The improper allocation resulted in incorrect pricing to certain U.S. 
government agencies.  Material components of the agreement include continued implementation of the 
Company’s improved cost accounting system and its enhanced internal controls program, and enforcement of 
the Company’s Compliance and Ethics Plan.  The government agreed to close all outstanding audits through 
and including 2008 and the Company was found to be a responsible party for U.S. government contracting by 
its lead federal agency.  In addition, the Company will employ a monitor for two years to review and report on 
the status of the agreement’s implementation.  The Company agreed to pay the U.S. government 
$65,000,000, of which $30,897,351 was paid during fiscal year 2011.  The remaining $34,102,649 will be paid 
over the next three years.  The impact of the settlement is reflected in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets in other accrued liabilities and long-term liabilities in the amount of $5,824,064 and 
$28,278,585, respectively, as of June 30, 2011 and $30,897,351 and $34,102,649, respectively, as of June 
30, 2010.  The costs of the settlement are also reflected in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations with the recognition of $9,840,000 in direct costs and $20,000,000 in operating expenses in fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2010, and in the amount of $35,160,000 in direct costs in prior years for a total of 
$65,000,000.   
 
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally 
prohibit U.S.-based companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to officials for the 
purpose of obtaining or retaining business.  The Company’s policies mandate compliance with these anti-
bribery laws.  The Company operates in many parts of the world that experience government corruption to 
some degree, and, in certain circumstances, compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs 
and practices.  The Company’s FCPA policy and training provide its employees with procedures, guidelines 
and information about FCPA obligations and compliance.  The Company has procedures and controls in 
place designed to ensure internal and external compliance.  However, such internal controls and procedures 
will not always protect the Company from reckless or criminal acts committed by its employees or agents.  
The above noted global settlement required the Company to undertake an investigation of its compliance with 
anti-bribery laws.  It is expected that this internal investigation will be completed by the end of fiscal year 
2012.  If the Company is found to be liable for FCPA violations (either due to its own acts or its inadvertence, 
or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), it could suffer from criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions, 
which could have a material effect on the business. 
 
The Company’s largest client accounted for 45% of the Company's net revenues for both fiscal years.  This 
client is a major U.S. government agency, which sponsors large engineering, construction and development 
contracts in several foreign countries including certain countries with an unstable economic, political and 
security environment.  
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1185 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY 10036 
O 212.372.1000    F 212.372.1001 
www.mcgladrey.com 

Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors  
The Louis Berger Group, Inc.   
Morristown, New Jersey 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in stockholder’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.   
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 

 
 
New York, New York 
November 2, 2010 
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2010 and 2009
(dollar and share amounts in thousands)

2010 2009

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 37,986$      48,728$     

Short-term investments 27,106        21,382       

Accounts receivable, net - service contracts, including unbilled revenues
of $96,106 and $79,059 at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively,

and net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $18,727 and $12,929 at 

June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively 173,874      174,970     

Accounts receivable - affiliates 12,622        -                 

Other receivables 1,857          344            

Deferred income taxes 9,466          3,863         

Prepaid expenses 2,738          2,967         

Total current assets 265,649      252,254     

Property and Equipment, net 8,653          8,954         

Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Investees 117             117            

Other Assets 2,474          1,446         

Total assets 276,893$    262,771$   

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY 

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable:

Trade 46,429$      57,708$     

Affiliates 3,248          26,562       

Other 2,512          4,068         

Accrued project costs 120,977      88,434       

Other accrued liabilities:

Salaries, wages and other compensation 11,592        15,301       

Taxes, other than income taxes 391             447            

Other 23,976        4,338         

Advance billings on contracts 8,308          8,227         

Income taxes payable 2,430          4,508         

Total current liabilities 219,863      209,593     

Long-Term Liabilities:

Deferred income taxes 7,184          165            

Deferred rent payable 2,648          2,228         

Lease incentives for operating leases 2,877          3,050         

Other long-term liabilities 14,530        12,551       

Total liabilities 247,102      227,587     

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 6 and 8)

Stockholder's Equity:

Common stock, no par value, authorized - 200 shares, issued and

 outstanding - 100 shares 14               14              

Additional paid-in capital 22,500        22,500       

Retained earnings 9,341          15,399       

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,064)         (2,729)        

Total stockholder's equity 29,791        35,184       

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity 276,893$    262,771$   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
(dollar amounts in thousands)

2010 2009

Net Contract Revenues 687,208$   694,307$   

Costs and Expenses:

Direct costs 531,484     556,234     

Operating expenses 145,160     113,181     

676,644     669,415     

Operating income 10,564       24,892       

Other Income (Expenses):

Interest income 278            208            

Interest expense (412)           (87)             

Foreign currency transaction losses, net (67)             (1,157)        

Other, net 174            (184)           

(27)             (1,220)        

Income before income taxes 10,537       23,672       

Provision for Income Taxes 15,799       8,510         

Net (loss) income (5,262)$      15,162$     

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder's Equity
Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
(dollar and share amounts in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Stockholder's Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)

Balance, June 30, 2008 100         25$         4,990$      117,741$   588$                   123,344$        

Net Income -              -              -                15,162       -                          15,162            15,162$              

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -              -              -                -                 (40)                      (40)                  (40)                      

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax

 of $412 -              -              -                -                 (705)                    (705)                (705)                    

Effect of Recapitalization and Other -              (11)          17,510      (117,504)    (2,572)                 (102,577)         -                          

June 30, 2009 total comprehensive income -              -              -                -                 -                          -                      14,417$              

Balance, June 30, 2009 100         14           22,500      15,399       (2,729)                 35,184            

Net Loss -              -              -                (5,262)        -                          (5,262)             (5,262)$               

Foreign Currency Translation, net of tax of $0 -              -              -                -                 99                       99                   99                       

Net Change in Pension Asset/Liability, net of tax of $0 -              -              -                -                 566                     566                 566                     

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes -              -              -                (796)           -                          (796)                -                          

June 30, 2010 total comprehensive loss (4,597)$               

Balance, June 30, 2010 100         14$         22,500$    9,341$       (2,064)$               29,791$          

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Common Stock
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The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
(dollar amounts in thousands)

2010 2009

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net (loss) income (5,262)$      15,162$     

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 

 (used in) provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 2,577         2,330         

Deferred income taxes 1,415         (5,092)        

Deferred rent 420            462            

Lease incentives (173)           (140)           

Provisions for losses on accounts receivable 5,798         3,302         

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables (6,215)        (34,368)      

Prepaid expenses 229            (176)           

Other assets (1,027)        (341)           

Due to/from affiliates, net (35,936)      5,168         

Accounts payable (12,834)      19,607       

Accrued project costs 32,544       31,532       

Advance billings on contracts 82              (1,201)        

Accrued and other long-term liabilities 17,621       3,326         

Income taxes payable (2,078)        3,190         

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (2,839)        42,761       

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Purchase of short-term investments (35,709)      (65,980)      

Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 29,984       49,022       

Purchase of property and equipment (2,277)        (1,767)        

Net cash used in investing activities (8,002)        (18,725)      

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Cash distribution - recapitalization -                 (18,391)      

Repayment of debt -                 (96)             

Cash used in financing activities -                 (18,487)      

Foreign Currency Translation Effect on Cash 99              (40)             

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (10,742)      5,509         

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Beginning 48,728       43,219       

Ending 37,986$     48,728$     

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for:
Interest 412$          87$            

Income taxes 11,653$     10,791$     

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing/Financing Transactions:

Net assets distributed and liabilities assumed in recapitalization -$               102,577$   

Less cash included in distributed assets -                 (18,391)      

Noncash net assets distributed and liabilities assumed in recapitalization -$               84,186$     

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of Consolidation:  The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") is a multi-disciplinary 
international consulting firm engaged in infrastructure engineering, environmental science, and economic 
development and planning services.  The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Berger Group Holdings, 
Inc. ("Holdings" or "BGH").  The Company operates throughout the United States, Latin America, Africa, the 
Middle East, Europe and Asia.  The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of 
Louis Berger Group International, Inc. (“LBG”),  Louis Berger Group Domestic, Inc. (“LBGD”), Louis Berger & 
Assoc., P.C. and its wholly owned foreign subsidiaries, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd. and Louis 
Berger, Inc. Nigeria. 
 
The foreign subsidiaries have been formed pursuant to local laws, which require the establishment of a local 
entity to perform services under service contracts in those countries/jurisdictions and which operate using the 
local currencies as their functional currency.   
 
In July 2008, the corporate structure of the Company was reorganized through a recapitalization transaction, 
which realigned the ownership of certain previously consolidated subsidiaries.   In connection therewith, the 
Company transferred the right, title and interest in all its shares owned in Holding Berger France S.A.S. 
(“HBF”) and of Louis Berger Holdings, Inc. (“LBH”) to BGH.  These entities are affiliated by common 
ownership.  The carrying amounts of the net assets transferred of approximately $117,000, which includes 
approximately $45,000 in previously consolidated affiliate balances recognized by the Company, have been 
charged to retained earnings in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in stockholder’s equity 
as of June 30, 2009.    
 
The Company's fiscal year-end is June 30.  Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Revenue Recognition: The Company recognizes revenue when a contract has been executed, the contract 
price is fixed and determinable, delivery of services or products has occurred, and collectibility of the contract 
price is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Revenue is earned under cost reimbursable, 
time and materials and fixed price contracts. 
 
Under cost reimbursable contracts, the Company is reimbursed for allowable costs, and paid a fee, which 
may be fixed or performance-based.  Revenues on cost reimbursable contracts are recognized as costs are 
incurred plus an estimate of applicable fees earned.  The Company considers fixed fees under cost 
reimbursable contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the 
contract.  For certain cost reimbursable contracts that include performance-based fee incentives, the 
Company recognizes the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the customer at the time such 
fee can be reasonably estimated, based on factors such as the Company's prior experience and 
communications with the customer regarding performance.  Other performance-based fees are recognized 
upon customer approval.  
 
Revenue on time and materials contracts is recognized based on direct labor hours expended at contract 
billing rates and adding other billable direct costs.  For fixed-price contracts that are based on unit pricing or 
level of effort, the Company recognizes revenue for the number of units delivered in any given fiscal period.  
For fixed-price contracts in which the Company is paid a specific amount to provide a particular service for a 
stated period of time, revenue is recognized over the service period.  
 
For fixed-price contracts that provide for a specific deliverable with related customer acceptance provisions, 
revenues are recognized upon delivery and customer acceptance.  However, a significant portion of the 
Company's fixed price-completion contracts involve significant design and development.  For those contracts 
that are within scope of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 605-35, Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts, revenue is recognized on the 
percentage-of-completion method using costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The Company's contracts with government agencies are subject to periodic funding by the respective 
contracting agency.  Funding for a contract may be provided in full at inception of the contract or ratably 
throughout the contract as the services are provided. In evaluating the probability of funding for purposes of 
assessing collectibility of the contract price, the Company considers its previous experiences with its 
customers, communications with its customers regarding funding status, and the Company's knowledge of 
available funding for the contract or program.  If funding is not assessed as probable, revenue recognition is 
deferred until realization is deemed probable.  
 
Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation, including the contemplated level of effort to 
accomplish the tasks under the contract, the cost of the effort, and an ongoing assessment of progress 
toward completing the contract. From time to time, as part of the normal management processes, facts 
develop that require revisions to estimated total costs or revenues expected.  The cumulative impact of any 
revisions to estimates and the full impact of anticipated losses on any type of contract are recognized in the 
period in which they become known.  
 
The allowability of certain costs under government contracts is subject to audit by the government.  Certain 
indirect costs are charged to contracts using provisional or estimated indirect rates, which are subject to later 
revision based on government audits of those costs.  Management is of the opinion that provisions for costs 
subsequently disallowed, if any, have been properly provided for.  
 
Revenues relating to certain joint ventures over which the Company does not exercise control are not 
consolidated and, therefore, the Company only includes its portion of the revenues earned on joint venture 
contracts.  The total balance of revenues (unaudited) earned by joint venture partners not included in the 
Company’s revenues were approximately $23,800 and $30,300 in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
Anticipated contract losses are recognized in full when determined to be probable and estimable.  Contract 
costs and estimated earnings recognized in excess of amounts billed (i.e., unbilled) are classified as current 
assets and included in accounts receivable.  Billings in excess of contract costs and estimated earnings are 
classified as current liabilities under advance billings on contracts until earned.  Costs and expenses include 
only the Company's portion of the costs incurred on joint venture contracts.  Additionally, certain contracts 
allow customers to withhold a portion of their payments to the service provider until contract completion.  
Retention balances included in accounts receivable as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 were $3,800 and $4,100, 
respectively.  Retention balances included in trade accounts payable that the Company withholds from its 
own third-party service providers were $9,900 and $9,300 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
Accounts Receivable:  The majority of the Company's accounts receivable, including unbilled amounts, are 
due from various agencies of the U.S. federal and state governments, foreign governments, and multilateral 
banks.  Unbilled amounts represent work-in-progress that has been earned but not yet billed.  Accounts 
receivable are generally due or will be due in accordance with stated contract terms and shown at amounts 
due from customers less allowance for doubtful accounts.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is established 
through a provision charged to expense.  Accounts receivable are charged against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts when management believes that collectability of the balance due is unlikely.  The Company 
determines the allowance considering a number of factors, including the age of the receivable, the customer's 
current ability to pay, and the condition of the general economy and industry as a whole.  The Company 
believes that the allowance for doubtful accounts is sufficient to cover any potential losses.  The Company 
writes off accounts receivable when they are deemed uncollectable.  The Company does not charge interest 
on past due receivables.   
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Changes in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows: 
 

2010 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at beginning of year 12,929$   12,832$   

Effect of recapitalization -               (3,205)      

Provisions for losses on accounts receivable 5,934       3,192       

Receivable (write-offs) recovery (136)         110          

Allowance for doubtful accounts balance at end of year 18,727$   12,929$   

 
Translation of Foreign Currencies: The consolidated financial statements of the Company's foreign 
subsidiaries are translated as follows: 
 

a. All asset and liability accounts are translated using year-end exchange rates and equity accounts are 
translated using historic exchange rates.  The resulting translation adjustments, net of related income 
tax effect, are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within 
stockholder’s equity. 

 
b. All income and expense accounts and cash flows are translated using average monthly exchange 

rates in effect during the period and included in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
All gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in operations as they occur.  
The Company does not conduct any hedging activities in this regard. 
 
Income Taxes:  The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax 
consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements or 
tax returns.  Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference 
between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the difference is expected to reverse. 
 
The Company provides deferred taxes for the estimated additional amounts, after applying available foreign 
tax credits, which may be due upon repatriation of undistributed earnings from foreign investees. 
 
The FASB issued new guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes.  The Company adopted this 
guidance for the year ended June 30, 2010.  In connection with this guidance, the Company recognized an 
additional liability for uncertain tax positions including applicable interest and penalties.  The tax years 2006, 
2007, 2008 and 2009 are open and subject to audit by major jurisdictions. 
 
Cash Equivalents:  The Company considers highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
 
Short-Term Investments:  Short-term investments include certificates of deposit held to maturity and money 
market deposit accounts, and are recorded at cost, which approximates market.   
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment is recorded at cost.  Depreciation and amortization of 
property and equipment is provided principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets.  Estimated useful lives range from three to six years for all furniture, fixtures and equipment.  Half- 
year depreciation is charged in the year of purchase and the last year of their estimated lives.  Expenditures 
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations.  Renewal and betterments are capitalized and 
amortized over their useful life or the remaining life of the lease if shorter.  Upon retirement or other 
disposition of fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and 
the resulting gains or losses are reflected in earnings.  Depreciation and amortization expense for the years 
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $2,600 and $2,300, respectively. 
 
The Company's property and equipment includes: 
 

2010 2009

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 18,346$     18,148$     

Less accumulated depreciation 9,692         9,194         

Property and equipment, net 8,653$       8,954$       

 
Long-Lived Assets:  The Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when 
events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the estimated cash flows to be 
generated by such assets are less than their book value.  No such impairment indicators exist currently. 
 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  The more significant estimates include accounting for long-term contract revenues and expenses 
(including income and loss recognition and adjustments for estimated indirect rate changes), income taxes, 
pension estimates and depreciation.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan:  In 2007, the Company adopted the guidance under the FASB ASC Topic for Defined 
Benefit Plans.  This topic requires recognition of the overfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit 
postretirement plans as an asset or liability in the statement of financial position, and recognition of changes 
in that funded status within stockholder’s equity, apart from expenses, in the year in which the changes occur.  
Measurement of the funded status of a plan as of the date of the statement of financial position is also 
required.   
 
Financial Instruments: The Company's financial instruments are cash, accounts receivable, investment 
securities included in the pension plan, short-term investments and accounts payable. The carrying amounts 
of cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of their short-term 
maturity and interest rates which approximate current rates.  The fair value of investments in securities and 
bonds are valued as of the reporting date and the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance 
sheets for investments approximate their fair values. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments:  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair 
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).  Inputs are broadly defined as assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under the Fair Value Measurement Topic are described below: 
 

Level 1

 

:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.  The types of 
investments in Level 1 include securities traded on a national securities exchange or 
reported on the Nasdaq national market.  These securities are stated at the last reported 
sales price on the day of valuation.  The Company's Level 1 investments are their pension 
plan assets (see Note 4). 

Level 2

 

:  Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly, and fair value that is determined through the use of models or 
other valuation methodologies.  Investments in this category generally include less liquid 
and restricted equity securities, certificates of deposit and certain over-the-counter 
derivatives.  A significant adjustment to a Level 2 input could result in the Level 2 
measurement becoming a Level 3 measurement.  The Company's Level 2 investments 
are certificates of deposit of approximately $1,900. 

Level 3

 

:  Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability and that include situations where 
there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability.  The inputs into the 
determination of fair value are based upon the best information in the circumstances and 
may require significant management judgment or estimation.  Investments in this category 
generally include equity and debt positions in private companies.  The Company has no 
Level 3 investments. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements: In June 2009, the FASB issued ASC 105, Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles, which established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the "Codification") as 
the single source of authoritative generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") recognized by the FASB 
to be applied to nongovernmental entities.  The Codification supersedes all of the existing non-Securities and 
Exchange Commission accounting and reporting standards upon its effective date and, subsequently, the 
FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task 
Force Abstracts.  This guidance also replaces the prior guidance regarding the GAAP hierarchy.  The 
Codification is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 
15, 2009.  The adoption of ASC 105 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, but resulted in the update of all references to accounting guidance to reference to the new 
Codification. 
 
During the year, the Company adopted ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements.  ASC 820 defines fair value, 
provides guidance on how to measure the assets and liabilities using fair value and expands disclosures 
about fair value measurements.  The adoption of ASC 820 did not have a material effect on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements, but resulted in additional disclosures to the financial statements. 
 
In May 2009, the FASB issued guidance to establish general standards of accounting for and disclosures of 
events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to 
be issued.  It requires disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and 
the basis for that date, that is, whether that date represents the date the financial statements were issued or 
were available to be issued.  This disclosure should alert all users of financial statements that an entity has 
not evaluated subsequent events after that date in the set of financial statements being presented.  This 
guidance was adopted by the Company during the year and did not have any material impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued new guidance on the topic of Business Combinations.  The guidance 
established principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial 
statements the identifiable assets and goodwill acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling 
interest in the acquiree.  It also changed the accounting for business combinations by requiring certain 
acquisition-related costs to be expensed, and established disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of 
the nature and financial effects of the business combination. This guidance was effective for any business 
combinations that occurred after January 1, 2009.   
 
Reclassifications:  Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year 
classification. 
 
Subsequent Events:  The Company has evaluated the financial statements for subsequent events through 
November 2, 2010, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
Note 2. Income Taxes 
 
The Company files its U.S. tax return on a consolidated basis with Holdings, its parent, and only records its 
share of income taxes, which is reflected in the Company’s tax provision. While the Company does not have a 
formal tax-sharing agreement with Holdings, the Company reimburses Holdings for its share of taxes.  The 
Company files its state returns on either a consolidated, combined or separate basis and its foreign returns 
according to the requirements of each jurisdiction in which it operates. 
 
The effective income tax rate for 2010 and 2009 was 149.9% and 36.8%, respectively, calculated as income 
taxes divided by income before income taxes and before noncontrolling interests.   
 
The components of the income tax provision were as follows: 
 

2010 2009

Current:

Federal 11,834$   11,673$   

State 960          1,121       

Foreign 1,610       1,190       

Total current 14,404     13,984     

Deferred:

Federal 1,388       (4,831)      

State 7              (643)         

Total deferred 1,395       (5,474)      

Total income tax provision 15,799$   8,510$     
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Note 2. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
A reconciliation of the expected statutory tax rate in the U.S. for 2010 and 2009 is as follows: 
 

2010 2009

Statutory rate 35.0         % 35.0         %

State rate, net of federal benefit 6.6           1.2           

Extraterritorial income benefit (0.4)          (0.3)         

Foreign tax credit (13.3)        -              

Foreign income rate differential 13.3         (0.6)         

Unremitted foreign earnings 3.6           4.4           

Permanent items (a) 106.8       -              

Uncertain tax positions 1.2           -              

Other (2.9)          (2.9)         

Actual rate 149.9       % 36.8         %

 
(a) Consists primarily of nondeductible amounts related to the global settlement with the Office of the U.S. 

Attorney (see Note 8). 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.   
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Note 2. Income Taxes (Continued) 
 
Significant components of the Company's net deferred tax liability at June 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 
 

2010 2009

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Allowance for doubtful accounts 6,907$     4,759$     

Accrued expenses 2,293       3,293       

Reserves for projects 11,665     1,882       

Deferred rent 966          802          

Federal effect of state taxes - P&L (142)         (144)         

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (986)         (1,322)      

Section 481(a) adjustment (2,838)      -               

Unbilled receivables (8,399)      (5,407)      

9,466       3,863       

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries -               899          

Accrued expenses (10)           812          

Section 481(a) adjustment (5,675)      -               

Unrealized loss (180)         (180)         

Fixed assets (968)         (1,255)      

Unpaid interest on uncertain tax positions 230          -               

Other (581)         (441)         

(7,184)      (165)         

Net deferred tax assets 2,282$     3,698$     

 
As of July 1, 2009, the Company adopted an accounting standard relating to uncertain tax positions, and 
changed its policy related to the accounting for income tax contingencies. In connection with the adoption, the 
Company recognized an additional liability for uncertain tax positions of approximately $796 including 
applicable interest and penalties. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company recorded interest and penalties related to unrecognized 
tax benefits of approximately $130 within its income tax provision in the consolidated statement of operations. 
The related accrued interest and penalties at June 30, 2010 was approximately $450. 
 
The Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal jurisdictions and various state jurisdictions. The periods 
subject to examination for the Company's federal tax returns are tax years June 30, 2006 through June 30, 
2009. The periods subject to examination for the Company's state tax returns in significant jurisdictions are 
tax years June 30, 2006 through June 30, 2009. The Company does not expect that the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change over the next twelve months.  The Company is currently 
under audit by the Internal Revenue Service for fiscal years ending June 30, 2006 through 2009.  On  
October 25, 2010, the Company received a verbal offer to the respective audits.  At this time, the Company 
cannot determine what the ultimate disposition or settlement might be.    
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Note 3. Foreign Operations 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk in the ordinary course of business.  Approximately 3% and 
2% of the Company's consolidated assets are located outside the United States at June 30, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  Approximately 78% and 64% of consolidated net revenues for fiscal years 2010 and 2009, 
respectively, are related to operations in foreign countries.  The Company enters into foreign consulting 
contracts under which the Company will receive payments in both U.S. dollars and local currencies.  
Additionally, to improve operating efficiencies, the Company maintains local currencies to fund projects, which 
are expected to incur expenses in local currencies. Periodically, the Company borrows in local currencies in 
order to reduce exchange rate risk.  The Company does not hedge the cash flows related to the revenues 
associated with contract amounts due in local currencies as it is the Company's intent to use the local 
currencies to fund local expenditures. 
 
Note 4. Pension Plans 
 
Effective June 30, 2007, the Company adopted the guidance under the FASB ASC Topic for Defined Benefit 
Plans, which requires an employer to recognize an asset or liability for the overfunded or underfunded status 
of its pension and other postretirement benefit plans. For a pension plan, the asset or liability is the difference 
between the fair value of the plan assets and the projected benefit obligation.  All unrecognized prior-service 
costs and credits and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are recognized in accumulated other 
comprehensive income ("OCI"), net of tax. Such amounts will be adjusted as they are subsequently 
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost or income pursuant to the current recognition and 
amortization provisions. 
 
The Company had a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) for eligible personnel on U.S. 
payrolls.  As of June 30, 1996, it discontinued further participation in the Plan and froze the benefits. 
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Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension plan benefit obligations and fair 
value of assets for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, and a statement of the funded status as of   
June 30, 2010 and 2009 for this Plan: 
 

2010 2009

Reconciliation of benefit obligations:

Benefit obligation at July 1 7,643$     7,271$     

Interest cost 396          432          

Actuarial loss (21)           221          

Benefits paid (186)         (281)         

Settlements (855)         -               

Benefit obligation at June 30 6,977       7,643       

Reconciliation of plan assets:

Fair value of Plan assets at July 1 6,428       6,725       

Actual return on Plan assets 187          (816)         

Benefits paid (186)         (281)         

Employer contribution 1,000       800          

Settlements (855)         -               

Fair value of Plan assets at June 30 6,574       6,428       

Reconciliation of funded status:

Funded status (403)$       (1,215)$    

Pension balances included in other accrued

 liabilities on consolidated balance sheets (403)$       (1,215)$    

 
Net periodic pension cost for the Company's defined benefit pension plan for 2010 and 2009 included the 
following components: 
 

2010 2009

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 395$         432$        

Expected return on Plan assets (370)          (372)         

Amortization of net loss 319           293          

Settlement charges 410           -               

Net periodic pension cost included in the

 consolidated statements of income 754$         353$        

 
The assumptions used in determining pension expense included a discount rate of 5.92% and 6.65% for fiscal 
years 2010 and 2009, respectively, and expected return on plan assets of 6.25% for both fiscal years 2010 
and 2009. 
 



The Louis Berger Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(dollar amounts in thousands) 
 

 16 

Note 4. Pension Plans (Continued) 
 
The assets of the Plan are invested principally in U.S. Treasury Notes, commercial paper and corporate 
stocks and bonds. The weighted-average asset allocation at June 30, 2010 and 2009 by asset category is as 
follows: 
 

Target

Asset Category Allocation 2010 2009

Equity Securities 45% 57% 48%

Debt Securities 50% 40% 49%

Other 5% 3% 3%

100% 100% 100%

Percentage of Plan Assets

at June 30,

 
The expected long-term rate of return for the Plan's total assets is based on the expected return of each of 
the above categories, weighted based on the target allocation for each class. Equity securities are expected 
to return 8% to 9% over the long term, while debt securities are expected to return between 4% and 6%. The 
Company expects that the Plan's asset manager will provide a modest (0.5% to 1% per annum) premium 
over the respective market benchmark indices. 
 
The investing policy and strategy, as established by the Company’s pension committee, is to provide for 
growth of capital with a moderate level of volatility by investing the Plan's assets in accordance with the target 
allocations. 
 
The Company has an employer match of employee contributions to its 401(k) defined contribution plan for 
eligible personnel on U.S. payrolls.  The graded service match is based upon the participant's years of 
service.  For the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, contributions charged against income amounted to 
$1,700 and $1,600, respectively. 
 
Note 5. Lines of Credit and Notes Payable 
 
The Company had approximately $57,500 and $49,500 available for letters of credit from various institutions 
at June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, of which $27,000 can be used for working capital revolving lines of 
credit in both years. At June 30, 2010 and 2009, it had outstanding approximately $35,900 and $21,200, 
respectively, of letters of credit under these facilities and had no direct borrowings. 
 
The Company has a corporate guarantee in the amount of €10,000 ($12,300) on behalf of HBF in support of a 
€25,000 ($30,900) and €27,000 ($37,900) line of credit with a foreign bank as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  There were no borrowings as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.  HBF had issued approximately 
€20,900 ($25,800) and €13,700 ($19,200) of letters of credit under this facility as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  
 
The Company also issued a corporate guarantee to a local bank for the lines of credit opened by its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Louis Berger Consulting Private Ltd., in the amount of INR50,000, of which INR30,000 is 
available for letters of credit and INR20,000 for working capital needs as of June 30, 2010 and in the amount 
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Note 5. Lines of Credit and Notes Payable (Continued) 
 
of INR50,000, of which INR40,000 (not to exceed the equivalent of US$800) is available for letters of credit 
and INR10,000 (not to exceed the equivalent of US$220) for working capital needs as of June 30, 2009.  
There were no borrowings as of June 30, 2010 and 2009. 
 
Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Total rental expense, principally for buildings, equipment and vehicles, amounted to approximately                      
$8,300 for fiscal year 2010 and $8,400 for fiscal year 2009 pursuant to leases extending through fiscal year 
2026.  The Company is recognizing deferred rent of $2,600 and $2,200 for fiscal years 2010 and 2009, 
respectively, in connection with recording rent on a straight-line basis. Lease incentives from lessors for 
operating leases of $2,900 and $3,000 as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, will be amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the terms of the leases as a reduction of rent expense.  The future minimum annual 
rental commitments for the next five years for all noncancelable leases with original maturities of one year or 
greater at June 30, 2010 are as follows: 
 

Year ending June 30,

2011 7,216$      

2012 6,817        

2013 6,960        

2014 6,843        

2015 6,431        

Thereafter 5,869        

40,136$    

 
Note 7. Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company has projects in common with various companies that are affiliated by common ownership.  
Included in revenues and expenses are approximately $5,200 and $40,000, respectively, of related party 
transactions related to such projects as of June 30, 2010, and $2,000 and $23,000, respectively, as of  
June 30, 2009.  As of June 30, 2010, the Company had affiliate balances of $12,600 and $12,500 included in 
accounts receivable - affiliates and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet.  Included in these amounts are liabilities due to BGH in connection with the recapitalization 
transaction.  As of June 30, 2009, the Company had affiliate balances of $26,600 and $12,500 included in 
accounts payable – affiliates and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet.  Long-term liabilities are non-interest bearing with no scheduled repayment terms. 
 
Note 8. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations  
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contracts to provide engineering and consulting 
services.  Lawsuits and claims may be brought against the Company and its affiliates by their customers.   
 
The ultimate legal and financial liability of the Company with respect to its claims, lawsuits and proceedings 
cannot be estimated with certainty.  As additional information concerning the estimates used by the Company 
becomes known, the Company reassesses its position with respect to accrued liabilities and other potential 
exposures, including tax matters.  Management, after consultation with its counsel, does not believe that the 
ultimate resolution of such matters will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial position, operating results or cash flows. 
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Note 8. Litigation, Uncertainties and Concentrations (Continued)  
 
A large proportion of the Company's business is contracted with federal and state governments and 
conducted internationally.   Such work must be in compliance with Federal Acquisitions Regulations for both 
direct costs and allocations of indirect costs.  The Company is subject to periodic audits of such costs, some 
of which are currently in process.  In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of such audits will not 
have a material adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or 
cash flows. 
 
Due to the Company’s business with U.S. and foreign governments, municipal clients throughout the world, 
and international lending agencies, the Company's practices are periodically subject to review and occasional 
investigation.  Such review or investigation, whether relating to government contracts or conducted for other 
reasons, could result in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities including repayments, fines, penalties or 
potential suspension from future contracting for the government agency in question.  A review or investigation 
of this type often takes years to complete and may result in no adverse action.  In fiscal year 2008, the 
Company was served with a U.S. District of New Jersey Grand Jury subpoena seeking the production 
of documents relating to certain of its international work focusing upon 2002-2007 for specified U.S. 
government agencies. The Company has verbally agreed to enter into a global settlement with the Office of 
the U.S. Attorney - New Jersey District on behalf of all involved government agencies.  Material components 
of the agreement will include continued implementation of the Company’s improved cost accounting system 
and its enhanced internal controls program, and enforcement of the Company’s Compliance and Ethics Plan.  
The government agreed to close all outstanding audits through and including 2008 and declare the Company 
a responsible party for U.S. government contracting purposes.  In addition, the Company will employ a 
monitor for up to two years to review and report on the agreement’s implementation.  The Company will also 
pay the U.S. government $65,000.  Actual settlement is expected in fiscal year 2011. The impact of the 
settlement is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets with the recognition of liabilities of 
$45,000 in accrued project costs and $20,000 in other accrued liabilities as of June 30, 2010, and in the 
amount of $35,200 in accrued project costs as of June 30, 2009.  The costs of the settlement are also 
reflected in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations with the recognition of $9,900 in direct 
costs and $20,000 in operating expenses in fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, in the amount of $11,300 in 
direct costs in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, and in the amount of $23,800 in direct costs in prior years 
for a total of $65,000.   
 
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally 
prohibit U.S.-based companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials 
for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business.  The Company’s policies mandate compliance with these 
anti-bribery laws.  The Company operates in many parts of the world that experience government corruption 
to some degree, and, in certain circumstances, compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local 
customs and practices.  The Company’s FCPA policy and training provide its employees with procedures, 
guidelines and information about FCPA obligations and compliance.  The Company has procedures and 
controls in place designed to ensure internal and external compliance.  However, such internal controls and 
procedures will not always protect the Company from reckless or criminal acts committed by its employees or 
agents.  If the Company is found to be liable for FCPA violations (either due to its own acts or its 
inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), it could suffer from criminal or civil penalties or 
other sanctions, which could have a material effect on the business. 
 
The Company’s largest client accounted for 45% of the Company's net revenues for both fiscal years 2010 
and 2009.  This client is a major U.S. government agency, which sponsors large engineering, construction 
and development contracts in several foreign countries including certain countries with an unstable economic, 
political and security environment.  





NOT FOR PROFIT CORPORA TION
APPLICATION BY FOREIGN NOT FOR PROFIT CORPORATION TO FILE

AMENDMENT TO APPLI,CATION FOR CONDUCTING AFFAIRS IN FLORIDA
(Pursuant to s. 617.1504,F.S.)

SECTION I ~(J') g
(1-3 MUST BE COMPLETED) r;~

):7~ -r\
:t:rT'I g-n.Louis 

Berger International, Inc. ~,~ --r==

rT'IO -0 0
-New Jersey 3. 04/01/1982 ..,,"""'1 ~
Incorporated under laws of Date authorized to conduct affairs ~~rid ..

-~ .t:'"
='r"!iSECTION II ~ .,I:-

(4-7 COMPLETE ONLY THE APPLICABLE CHANGES)

2.

4. If the amendment changes the name of the corporation, when was the change effected under the laws of its
jurisdiction of incorporation? July 23. 1999

The Lo~is Berger Group, Inc.

if not contained in new name of the corpor~tion. "Company" or "Co." may not be used as a corporate suffix by a nonprofit

corporation.

5

6. If the amendment changes the period of duration, indicate new period of duration and the date the change was
effected.

NjA

7. If the amendment changes the jurisdiction of incorporation, indicate new jurisdiction and the date the change
was

effected.

N/A

8. If the purpose which the corporation intends to pursue in Florida has changed indicate new purpose

N/A

The corporation lsaUthQrized to pursue such purpose in the jurisdiction of its incorporation.

Df!cember 29,1999
Date

President
Title



FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE
Katherine Harris

Secretary of State
February 15, 2000

BERNICE CALPO-MELEE
THE LOUSI BERGER GROUP, INC.
P. O. BOX 270
EAST ORANGE, NJ 07019

~f) ~II) Ir~~c.:...

-

7t::

II
FEB 18

--,

m~

Re: Document Number 852424 c
The Amendment to the Application of a Foreign Corporation for lOUIS BERGER
INTERNATIONAL, INC. which changed its name to THE lOUIS BERGER GROUP,
INC., a New Jersey corporation authorized to transact business in Florida, was filed on
February 14, 2000.

The certification you requested is enclosed.

Should you have any questions regarding this matter, please telephone (850) 487-
6050, the Amendment Filing Section.

Thelma Lewis
Corporate Specialist Supervisor
Division of Corporations Letter Number: 400AOOOO7759

~~Cc

Division of Corporations -P.O. BOX 6327 -Tallahassee, Florida 32314



CERTIFI CA TE OF AMENDMENT TO THE

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF ~A. DiElfJllte;rJo.
, ~'ll3I&1- itI~

LOUIS BERGER INTERNATIONAL. INC..' .

TO: The Secretary of State
State of New Jersey

Pursuant to the provision of Section 14-A:9-2(4) and Section 14A:9-4(3), Corporations,
General, of the New Jersey Statutes, the undersigned corporation executes the following
Certificate of Amendment to its Restated Certificate of Incorporation:

1 The name of the Corporation is LOUIS BERGER INTERNATIONAL, INC.

2. The following amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation was approved
by the directors and thereafter duly adopted by the shareholders of the corporation on the 151 day
July, 1999.

RESOLVED, that Article I of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation be amended to
read as follows:

"ARTICLE I: The name of the Corporation is The Louis Berger Group, Inc."

3. The number of shares outstanding at the time of the adoption of the amendment was
100,000. The total number of shares entitled to vote thereon was 100,000.

The number of shares voting or any against such amendment is as follows:

4.

Number of Shares Voting
For Amendment

Number of Shares Voting
Against Amendment

100,000 -0-

5. The effective date of this Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation
shall be upon its acceptance and filing by the Secretary of State.

Dated this 1st day of July, 1999.

LOUIS BERGER INTERNATIONAL, INC.
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March 26, 2014 
 
Via E-Mail:  Brian.Sargent@ucf.edu 
 
Brian Sargent 
Purchasing Department 
University of Central Florida 
Interim Assistant Director 
 
RE: Response to Deliver Best and Final Offer Pertaining to ITN 1228LCSA – Provide SUS Disaster 

Recovery Services 
 
Dear Mr. Sargent: 
 
This memorandum is in response to your request for Tidal Basin’s best and final offer associated with 
our proposal dated July 10, 2013, entitled Tidal Basin Government Consulting - SUS Disaster 
Recovery Services Proposal (ITN 1228LCSA).  For clarity, we have summarized our best offer by 
showing the original base offer and how the offer was revised to make the best and final offer.  The 
write up below reflects changes associated with Section F (pages 51 and 52) of our original proposal.  
All other information in the proposal remains the same. 
 
Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Regular Labor Hours for Disaster Management 
Consulting Services 
Exhibit 1 presents the pricing table for the Disaster Management Consultant Services (Table B of 
Appendix V of the ITN). We have provided rates for the four identified labor categories from the 
RFP Appendix. In addition, we have offered additional options rates for SUS consideration to 
provide flexibility and to be able to address potential specific needs associated with recovery and 
related emergency management programs. We have revised the regular hourly rates according to 
both adjustments established through the latest annual internal audit, reflecting modest changes to 
our labor loads (i.e., general and administrative and overhead expenses) and the changes that have 
occurred associated with current labor market trends associated with the individual labor categories.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:Brian.Sargent@ucf.edu
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Exhibit 1: Price Sheet For Consultant Services 
EMPLOYEE CLASSIFCATON Original Regular Hourly Rate Revised Regular Hourly Rate 

Principal $220.00 $215.00 
Project Supervisor $160.00 $156.00 
Project Coordinator $105.00 105.00 
Administrative Support/Data Entry $70.00 $65.00 

Proposed Optional Labor Category and Rates 
Senior Damage Assessment Estimator $125.00 $120.00 
Damage Assessment Estimator $115.00 $112.00 
Senior Grant Management Specialist $120.00 $116.00 
Grant Management Specialist $110.00 $105.00 
Senior Engineer/Planner/Analyst $140.00 $140.00 
Engineer/Planner/Analyst $120.00 $120.00 

* - Regular hourly rates are inclusive of G&A, overhead, fringe and fee. No additional costs associated with Labor will be invoiced 
to SUS under any awarded contract. 

 
Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Overtime Labor Hours for Disaster Management 
Consulting Services 
Exempt employees will be paid straight time for all hours worked, based on terms and conditions of 
contract and State law.  Non-exempt employees will be paid time-and-a-half per Federal and/or 
State law and contract terms (Principals are exempt from this policy).  Exhibit 2 presents the labor 
category rates for overtime pay related to defined and optional labor categories. 

 
Exhibit 2: Overtime Labor Category and Rates 

EMPLOYEE CLASSIFCATON Original Overtime Hourly Rate Revised Overtime Hourly Rate 
Principal $220.00 $215.00 
Project Supervisor $255.00 $234.00 
Project Coordinator $142.50 $142.50 
Administrative Support/Data Entry $105.00 $97.50 

 
Senior Damage Assessment 

 
$187.50 $180.00 

Damage Assessment Estimator $172.50 $168.00 
Senior Grant Management Specialist $180.00 $174.00 
Grant Management Specialist $165.00 $157.50 
Senior Engineer/Planner/Analyst $210.00 $210.00 
Engineer/Planner/Analyst $180.00 $180.00 
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Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Regular Labor Hours for Debris Monitoring Services 
Exhibit 3 presents the pricing table for Debris Monitoring Services (Table D of Appendix VIII of the 
ITN).  We provide rates for the identified labor categories from the Appendix. 
 

 

Exhibit 3: Debris Monitoring Contractor Personnel Rates 
 

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION Original Regular Hourly Rate Revised Regular Hourly Rate 
Project Manager $87.00 $87.00 
Field Supervisor $47.00 $47.00 
Field Monitor $36.00 $36.00 
TSDR Site Monitor $36.00 $36.00 
Debris Site Security $55.00 $52.00 
Data Entry $36.00 $36.00 
* - A $2.50 charge per labor hour would apply for the use of the Automated Debris Management System (ADMS) if and 
when requested by client. 

 
Applicable Labor Categories and Rates for Overtime Labor Hours for Debris Monitoring 
Services 
Exempt employees will be paid straight time for all hours worked, based on terms and conditions of 
contract and State law.  Non-exempt employees will be paid time-and-a-half per Federal and/or State 
law and contract terms [Principals (including Project Managers for this SOW area) are exempt from 
this policy]. Exhibit 4 presents the labor category rates for overtime pay related to defined and 
optional labor categories. 
 
 

Exhibit 4: Debris Monitoring Contractor Personnel Overtime Rates 
 

PERSONNEL CLASSIFICATION Original Hourly Rate Revised Hourly Rate 
Project Manager** $87.00 $87.00 
Field Supervisor $70.50 $70.50 
Field Monitor $54.00 $54.00 
TSDR Site Monitor $54.00 $54.00 
Debris Site Security $82.50 $78.00 
Data Entry $54.00 $54.00 
* - A $2.50 charge per labor hour would apply for the use of the Automated Debris Management System (ADMS) if and 
when requested by client. 
**- PMs are exempt from overtime charging. All PM hours will be billed straight time. 

 
 
We thank you for the opportunity to submit a revised best and final offer.  TBGC is proud of the 
disaster recovery services it provides for numerous entities throughout the United States.  We look 
forward to supporting the Florida State University System. 
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Sincerely, 
 
 
Daniel A. Craig 
President 
 
Contact Information: 
Office telephone: (703) 683-8551 
Mobile telephone: (202) 812-9763 
Facsimile: (703) 683-8555 
Email address: dcraig@tidalbasin-gc.com 
 

mailto:dcraig@tidalbasin-gc.com
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